The University of Maine DigitalCommons@UMaine

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Fogler Library

Spring 5-2019

Ecological and Economic Implications of Increased Storm Frequency and Severity for Boreal Lakes

Kathryn Warner University of Maine, kathryn.warner@maine.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.library.umaine.edu/etd Part of the <u>Natural Resource Economics Commons</u>, <u>Terrestrial and Aquatic Ecology Commons</u>, and the <u>Water Resource Management Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Warner, Kathryn, "Ecological and Economic Implications of Increased Storm Frequency and Severity for Boreal Lakes" (2019). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 2954. https://digitalcommons.library.umaine.edu/etd/2954

This Open-Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by DigitalCommons@UMaine. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@UMaine. For more information, please contact um.library.technical.services@maine.edu.

ECOLOGICAL AND ECONOMIC IMPLICATIONS OF INCREASED STORM FREQUENCY AND SEVERITY FOR BOREAL LAKES

By

Kate A. Warner

B.A. Hobart and William Smith Colleges, 2006

M.S. University of Maine, 2013

A DISSERTATION

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

(in Ecology and Environmental Science)

The Graduate School

The University of Maine

May 2019

Advisory Committee:

Jasmine E. Saros, Professor of Paleoecology and Biological Sciences, Co-advisor Mario F. Teisl, Professor of Economics, Co-advisor Craig E. Williamson, Professor of Ecosystem Ecology, Miami University Aria Amirbahman, Professor of Civil and Environmental Engineering Kathleen P. Bell, Professor of Economics © Kate A. Warner

ECOLOGICAL AND ECONOMIC IMPLICATIONS OF INCREASED STORM FREQUENCY AND SEVERITY FOR BOREAL LAKES

By Kate A. Warner

Dissertation Advisors: Dr. Jasmine E. Saros and Dr. Mario F. Teisl

An Abstract of the Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy (in Ecology and Environmental Science) May 2019

In boreal regions, increased precipitation events have been linked to increased concentrations of dissolved organic carbon (DOC), however less is known about the extent and implications of these events on lakes. We assessed the effects of precipitation events on six drinking water lakes in Maine, USA to better understand how DOC concentration and quality change in response to precipitation events. Our results revealed three types of responses: (1) an initial spike in DOC concentrations and quality metrics; (2) a sustained increase in DOC concentrations and quality metrics and; (3) no change during all sampling periods. Lake residence time was a key driver of changes in DOC concentration and quality. For the same set of drinking water lakes, we investigated a link between changes in DOC to a household's willingness to pay (WTP). Our results revealed that percent change in DOC and SUVA₂₅₄ correspond to initial Secchi depth values. This relationship was used to determine that WTP from improvement in water quality was highest in lakes with shallower Secchi depths and lowest in lakes with deeper Secchi depths. WTP estimates were also correlated with maximum depth, residence time, and percent of wetland coverage. A set of six lakes in Acadia National Park, Maine were evaluated to assess differences in seasonal storm response. Our results revealed

differences in the response of DOC quality metrics to an early summer versus an autumn storm. The response of DOC quality metrics to storms was mediated by differing lake and watershed characteristics as well as seasonal changes in climate such as solar radiation and antecedent weather conditions in the early summer versus autumn. Investigation of the effects of ice-out timing on physical, biological, and biogeochemical lake characteristics in Arctic and boreal regions during an early and late ice-out regime revealed differences in mixing depths and strength and stability of stratification. Key drivers of observed responses included a combination of climate factors, including solar insolation, air temperature, precipitation, and, in the Arctic, permafrost thaw. This research provides important insights that will be useful for management of water resources as temperature and precipitation patterns continue to change.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my advisors, Jasmine Saros for her continual support and guidance throughout my dissertation work and providing me with countless opportunities over the past several years, and Mario Teisl, for allowing me to pursue a new area of study and providing me with the encouragement and guidance to do so. I would also like to thank my committee members, Craig Williamson, Aria Amirbahman, and Kathleen Bell for their support and importantly, there positivity as I worked through my graduate work. Their advice and comments have been very helpful and instrumental to the successful completion of this dissertation.

Thank you to those who contributed to the funding and support of this research. This work was largely supported by the following: the US National Science Foundation Adaptation to Abrupt Climate Change IGERT program [grant number DGE-1144423], the U.S. Geological Survey and the Senator George J. Mitchell Center at the University of Maine [G16AP00057], the Maine Agricultural and Forest Experiment Station Project [ME021409], and a Schoodic Institute Research Fellowship. Additional support was also provided by two grants from the US National Science Foundation (grants #1203434 and #1144423) and the Dan & Betty Churchill Fund. I would like to thank the University of Maine School of Economics for support and funding throughout my dissertation and also the School of Biology for providing me with a teaching assistantship.

I would like to extend my gratitude to those who made the data collection and sampling possible. I am extremely grateful to the following for their collaboration, support, and sample collection in this project: Ryan Lynch, York Water District; Nate Whalen, Portland Water District; Mike Olson, Mount Desert Water District; AJ Newall, Newport Water District; Dina Page, Bangor Water District; and Bob Lento, Mars Hill

iii

Utility District. I thank Bill Gawley from Acadia National Park for providing data and assisting with field logistics. Thank you to the faculty and staff of the Climate Change Institute for providing the support and opportunity to pursue this research.

I am indebted to a large number of people whom assisted with tireless field and lab work. I would like to thank Kelsey Boeff, Benjamin Burpee, Matthew Fowler, Rachel Fowler, Mike Handley, Amy Kireta, Heera Malik, Robert Northington, Nora Theodore, and Carl Tugend for their help. I would like to thank my fellow lab members for support, feedback, and humor, which made my time at the University of Maine enjoyable.

I would like to thank my family and friends for their unwavering support and encouragement throughout this degree. I would like give a special and heartfelt thank you to my parents who instilled confidence and provided constant encouragement. Lastly, I would like to thank my furry companion, Lowell, who kept me calm and got me outside.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF TABLES	X
LIST OF FIGURES	xii
Chapter	
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. VARIABLE RESPONSES OF DISSOLVED ORGANIC CARBON TO	
PRECIPITATION EVENTS IN BOREAL DRINKING WATER LAKES	6
2.1. Abstract	6
2.2. Introduction	7
2.3. Methods	10
2.3.1. Site description and lake selection	10
2.3.2. Collection of storm water samples	13
2.3.3. Analysis of DOC concentration and absorbance properties	16
2.3.4. Comparison of lake surface water and intake samples	18
2.3.5. Landscape/watershed data	20
2.3.6. Phytoplankton community composition	23
2.3.7. Data analysis	23
2.4. Results	25
2.4.1. Precipitation events at each study site	25
2.4.2. Response of DOC metrics across all lakes to storm event and	
period sampled	25
2.4.3. Relative response of DOC metrics within each lake to storm events	27
2.4.4. Effect of period and storm event within each lake	31

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	2.4.5. Climate forcing optical index	31
	2.4.6. Relationship between lake and landscape variables and DOC metrics	.34
	2.4.7. Phytoplankton community composition	.36
	2.5. Discussion	.38
	2.6. Conclusion	.45
3.	ECOLOGICAL AND ECONOMIC IMPLICATIONS OF PRECIPITATION	
	EVENTS ON MAINE'S DRINKING WATER RESOURCES: LINKING	
	CHANGES IN DISSOLVED ORGANIC CARBON TO WELFARE	
	IMPACTS FROM CHANGING WATER QUALITY	.46
	3.1. Abstract	.46
	3.2. Introduction	.47
	3.3. Methods	.50
	3.3.1. Site description and lake selection	.50
	3.3.2. Baseline sample collection	54
	3.3.3. Storm sample collection	54
	3.3.4. Watershed information	.55
	3.3.5. Estimating welfare impacts of changing water quality	.58
	3.3.6. Data analysis	.62
	3.4. Results	.64
	3.4.1. Baseline sample collection	64
	3.4.2. Storm sample collection	69
	3.4.3. Estimating welfare impacts of changing water quality	.75
	3.5. Discussion	.82
	3.6. Conclusion	.87

4.	DIFFERENCES IN THE EFFECTS OF STORMS ON DISSOLVED					
	ORGANIC CARBON (DOC) IN BOREAL LAKES DURING AN EARLY					
	SUMMER STORM AND AN AUTUMN STORM90					
	4.1. Abstract					
	4.2. Introduction					
	4.3. Methods					
	4.3.1. Study site and lake selection94					
	4.3.2. Storm events and sample collection					
	4.3.3. Analysis of DOC concentration and absorbance properties101					
	4.3.4. Land cover data102					
	4.3.5. Data analysis104					
	4.4. Results					
	4.4.1. Comparisons of mean responses across lakes and seasons104					
	4.4.2. Correlations between DOC metrics and lake characteristics107					
	4.4.3. Correlations between DOC metrics and land cover111					
	4.5. Discussion					
5.	HOW DOES CHANGING ICE-OUT AFFECT ARCTIC VERSUS BOREAL					
	LAKES? A COMPARISON USING TWO YEARS WITH ICE-OUT THAT					
	DIFFERED BY MORE THAN THREE WEEKS119					
	5.1. Abstract					
	5.2. Introduction					
	5.3. Methods					
	5.3.1. Study design					
	5.3.2. Site description126					

5.3.3. Climate variables129
5.3.4. Comparative lake sampling
5.3.4.1. Physical129
5.3.4.2. Chemical
5.3.4.3. Biological
5.3.5. Data analysis
5.4. Results
5.4.1. Arctic region132
5.4.1.1. Comparison of spring response across early and late
ice-out years135
5.4.1.2. Comparison of summer response across early and late
ice-out years139
5.4.2. Boreal region
5.4.2.1. Comparison of spring response across early and late
ice-out years142
5.4.2.2. Comparison of summer response across early and late
ice-out years144
5.5. Discussion147
CONCLUSION156
REFERENCES160
APPENDICES179
Appendix A. Maine drinking water precipitation, nutrient, and
chlorophyll information179

Appendix B. Acadia DOC percent change data from an early summer				
and autumn storm event				
Appendix C. Ice out dates for Arctic and boreal lakes				
BIOGRAPHY OF THE AUTHOR	189			

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Select morphometric and chemical characteristics of the 6 selected
Maine drinking water lakes13
Table 2.2. Dates of the five storms and the amount of rainfall at each of the 6 lakes15
Table 2.3. Comparison of samples taken from lake surface water and the intake on
the same or similar days19
Table 2.4. Lake and landscape variables for each of the 6 study lakes
Table 2.5. Results of linear mixed model to assess effects of period sampled and
storm across all lakes, with p-values indicated for each test26
Table 3.1. Characteristics of the 12 selected drinking water lakes across the state
of Maine53
Table 3.2. Lake and landscape variables for each of the 12 study lakes
Table 3.3. Select characteristics of the study lakes from baseline sample collection66
Table 3.4. Expected mean percent change in DOC and SUVA ₂₅₄ based on average
Secchi depth from a storm event with between 25.4 and 80 mm of
rainfall75
Table 3.5. Estimated losses from reductions in water quality for the current year
and for a 30-year timeframe77
Table 3.6. Correlation (r) values between key lake features and estimated losses
from reductions in water quality80
Table 3.7. Aggregate estimated losses from reductions in water quality for the
current year and for a 30-year timeframe
Table 4.1. Select characteristics of the 6 study lakes
Table 4.2. Dates of storms and sampling events for the 6 lakes

Table 4.3. Landscape characteristics for each of the 6 lakes 103
Table 4.4. Correlation (r) and p values for significant correlations between DOC
metrics and select lake characteristics110
Table 5.1. Dates of comparison for early ice-out versus late ice-out years in Arctic
and boreal ecosystems
Table 5.2. Select characteristics of the 4 study lakes
Table A.1. Total storm precipitation amounts are indicated in bold for each of the
6 study lakes180
Table A.2. Comparison of samples taken from lake surface water and the intake
on the same or similar days182
Table B.1. Initial pre-storm values and percent change for P1 and P2 samplings
Table C.1. Ice-out dates from 2010 to 2016 for the Arctic lakes and the boreal
lake

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1. Location of the 6 selected study lakes across the State of Maine12
Figure 2.2. Total daily precipitation in mm for Acadia National Park (Jordan Pond)
from September 1, 2015 to October 31, 2016
Figure 2.3. Relative response of DOC concentration to precipitation events
Figure 2.4. Relative response of SUVA ₂₅₄ , a^*_{320} , and a^*_{380} to precipitation events30
Figure 2.5. Climate forcing optical index (CF index) values from precipitation
events lakes
Figure 2.6. Relationships between DOC metrics and landscape variables35
Figure 2.7. Absolute biovolume between Pre and P2 for the September 30, 2015
storm
Figure 2.8. Conceptual diagram of the three DOC response patterns from
precipitation events, A.) Spike, B.) Sustained, and C.) No change
Figure 3.1. Map of the selected 12 lakes
Figure 3.2. Relationship between Secchi depth and water quality index60
Figure 3.3. Relationships between DOC or SUVA254 and lake or landscape
variables for the 12 initial study lakes
Figure 3.4. Relationships between mean percent change in DOC or SUVA ₂₅₄
(\pm standard error) and lake and landscape variables for the 6 in-depth
study lakes70
Figure 3.5. Relationships between storm precipitation amounts and A.) percent
change in DOC or B.) percent change in SUVA ₂₅₄ for the 6 in-depth
study lakes72

Figure 3.6. Relationship between mean Secchi depth and A.) percent change in
DOC or B.) percent change SUVA254 for the 6 in-depth study lakes74
Figure 3.7. Correlations between lake or watershed variables and estimated losses
from reductions in water quality79
Figure 4.1. Map of the study area in Acadia National Park, Maine, USA95
Figure 4.2. Total daily precipitation in mm and mean daily temperature in °C for
the water year99
Figure 4.3. Mean responses of DOC metrics during Early Summer versus Autumn
storms
Figure 4.4. Correlations between DOC metrics and select lake characteristics
Figure 4.5. Correlations between DOC metrics and land cover112
Figure 4.6. Conceptual figure of the dominant processes contributing to changes
in DOC quality metrics for the Early Summer and Autumn storms114
Figure 5.1. Conceptual diagram of a subset of the potential effects of ice-out on
lake ecosystems
Figure 5.2. Map depicting the location of the (A) Arctic and (B) boreal study sites128
Figure 5.3. Arctic (A) average monthly air temperature in °C and (B) total
monthly precipitation in mm for early and late ice-out years134
Figure 5.4. Comparison of lake metrics for early and late ice-out conditions
during the spring and summer in Arctic lakes
Figure 5.5. Comparison of diatom species in Arctic and boreal lakes
Figure 5.6. Boreal (A) average monthly air temperature in °C and (B) total
monthly precipitation in mm for early and late ice-out years

Figure 5.7. Comparison of lake metrics for early and late ice-out conditions
during the spring and summer in the boreal lake143
Figure 5.8. Seasonal comparison of (A) Discostella stelligera and (B) Lindavia
bodanica in the boreal lake146
Figure 5.9. Change in daily solar insolation from January through July for 60° N
(representative of the Arctic region) and 40° N (representative of the
boreal region)149
Figure A.1. Mean concentrations (± standard error) from the 5 storms for the
6 study lakes of A.) nitrate, B.) ammonium, C.) total nitrogen, and
D.) total phosphorus183
Figure A.2. Mean chlorophyll a concentrations (± standard error) from the 5
storms across the 6 study lakes184
Figure B.1. Percent change for each lake in response to the Early Summer storm
(a-f) and to the Autumn storm (g-l)187

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Abrupt climate change (ACC) is defined as rapid changes in Earth's climate or climate events that cause a shift from one environment to another. These shifts can be of variable magnitude, duration, and persistence (National Research Council 2002; Rashid et al. 2011) and include extreme precipitation events. Several definitions of extreme precipitation events persist throughout the literature (Pryor et al. 2009); therefore a uniform consensus to define these events does not exist. Commonly, extreme events are defined by the amount of precipitation within a twenty-four hour period (i.e. Fernandez et al. 2015) or as the top percentile of all rain events that have occurred (i.e. Madsen and Wilcox 2011).

It is widely acknowledged that extreme precipitation events are increasing in many regions across the globe (Griosman et al. 1999; Jentsch et al. 2007). Increased greenhouse gas emissions and warmer temperatures result in increased evaporation, which moistens the air and results in more atmospheric water vapor leading to more intense precipitation events (Karl and Knight 1998; Groisman 1999; Katz 1999; Karl and Trenberth 2003). Due to the location of the Northeastern United States relative to the flow of the jet stream, this portion of the country is susceptible to a greater increase in extreme precipitation than other areas of the country and some regions across the globe (Easterling et al. 2000).

The risks of extreme rain events vary by region, but commonly identified risks include flooding, damage to infrastructure and/or crops and livestock, disruption of transport, potential damage of forests, and water pollution (Madson and Wilcox 2011). Other damages, less commonly identified, include ecological threats to aquatic

ecosystems, which can have subsequent economic effects on water resources such as decreased aesthetic and property values, altered drinking water quality, reduced recreation and tourism, and may lead to negative health effects (Olmstead 2010; Williamson et al. 2017).

Extreme events are receiving extra attention as the frequency and severity of these events continues to increase (Jentsch et al. 2007) therefore, understanding aquatic ecosystem response to these events is important and relevant to current climate trends and concerns. Increased rainfall events may change the water chemistry of lakes, increase concentrations of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) (Klug et al. 2012), lead to nutrient loading, or increase the amount of particulates in the water (Weyhenmeyer et al. 2004). These changes in water chemistry and biology may influence the water clarity or transparency of the lake, including the amount of light available for photosynthesis (Jones et al. 2012), reduce the bioavailability of oxygen and nutrients for organisms in the lake, or alter mixing depth and lake stability (Read and Rose 2013). It is widely acknowledged that frequency and severity of extreme precipitation events has increased, particularly over the last decade (Jentsch et al. 2007), however little is known about the effects of these events on lake ecosystems, drinking water, or on the costs and benefits to communities reliant on these resources.

The primary goal of this research is to investigate how precipitation events affect DOC in aquatic ecosystems and identify potential losses to changes in water quality. DOC has been increasing in many areas of the northern hemisphere and while there are several hypotheses to explain this increase, the growing interest and concerns of extreme precipitation events merit further investigation since the effects of these events on lakes are not clear. These alternative drivers for increasing DOC include reduced sulfate

deposition (Monteith et al. 2007; SanClements et al. 2012), changes in temperature (Freeman et al. 2001; Park and Matzner 2003), and land use change (France et al. 2000). While recent research suggests DOC concentrations increase during wet years (Strock et al. 2016), less is known about the specific ecological effects on lakes. DOC is often regionally and seasonably variable (Sachse et al. 2014) and therefore may change in response to extreme precipitation events. Identifying the role of not only the DOC concentration but also the composition or quality of DOC may elucidate key insights into how the increased DOC may affect aquatic ecosystems. Research conducted for this project would complement the existing literature on changes in DOC and further expand the research by investigating specific ecological effects of extreme events and use an integrated approach to investigate the ecological effects of extreme events in addition to the economic effects.

My research focuses on boreal lakes in the northeastern United States, more specifically in the state of Maine, as this region serves as a good model system due to the increase in frequency and severity of precipitation events, particularly over the past decade. Boreal lakes are the most numerous on Earth (Schindler 1998) and boreal ecosystems are predicted to be one of the biomes most affected by climate change (Ruckstuhl et al. 2008). Additionally, DOC concentrations are expected to increase in boreal lakes by as much as 65% as a result of climate change effects on terrestrial ecosystems (Larson et al. 2011).

The state of Maine is located in the Northeastern U.S. and has approximately 6,000 lakes. Approximately 90% of Maine lakes are drainage lakes, with surface flow into and out of the lakes, while 10% are seepage lakes and are fed by groundwater. Of the 6,000 lakes in Maine, 45 lakes serve as drinking water resources, which provide over half

of the state's drinking water. Lakes are also valuable resources in Maine largely impacting recreation, tourism, and housing costs, all of which are essential to the Maine economy. Precipitation has increased by about six inches in Maine since 1895, especially over the past decade with an increase in extreme precipitation events (Fernandez et al. 2015). Additionally, it is predicted that rainfall will increase by 5-10% between now and 2050, falling in the form of heavy precipitation events (Fernandez et al. 2015). Therefore, increased understanding of how precipitation events impact lake water quality is essential to the state of Maine.

Chapters 2, 3, and 4 investigate the effects of changes in DOC from precipitation events and address ecological implications and economic impacts. The first overarching question is: How do individual storms influence immediate changes in DOC? To address this question, Chapter 2, "Variable responses of dissolved organic carbon to precipitation events in boreal drinking water lakes," focuses on evaluating how DOC concentration and quality differ before and after a precipitation event, and to what extent these changes are sustained over time. The second question is: How do these changes in DOC influence a household's willingness to pay for water quality improvement? Chapter 3, "Can changes in dissolved organic carbon from a rain event be used to estimate willingness to pay for improved water quality?" investigates potential costs to households due to changes in DOC for drinking water resources. The third question is: Does DOC response differ between storms that occur during different times of year? This is addressed in Chapter 4, "Differences in the effects of storms on dissolved organic carbon (DOC) in boreal lakes during an early summer storm and an autumn storm," which investigates changes in DOC during an early summer and an autumn storm. Understanding the

answers to these questions will contribute to literature investigating the effects of changing DOC on aquatic ecosystems.

An additional component of my research includes a collaborative project completed as a trainee in The University of Maine's NSF IGERT program, Adaptation to Abrupt Climate Change. This research explores how changes in the timing of ice out affect arctic verses boreal lake ecosystems. The primary goal of this chapter (Chapter 5) titled, "How Does Changing Ice-Out Affect Arctic versus Boreal Lakes? A Comparison Using Two Years with Ice-Out that Differed by More Than Three Weeks," is to identify how spring and summer lake conditions vary between early and late ice-out years in different regions. More specifically, the goal was to evaluate the effects of ice-out timing on physical, biological, and biogeochemical lake characteristics during an early and late ice-out regime. Widespread changes in the timing of ice-out and the duration of ice cover have been observed throughout the Northern Hemisphere (Kuusisto 1987; Schindler et al. 1990; Livingstone 2000; Magnuson et al. 2000; Futter 2003). These changes, paired with expected future ACC, can lead to important implications for lake ecosystems.

This dissertation explores the impact of ACC on aquatic ecosystems, with a primary focus on ecological implications of increased DOC from precipitation events, and secondarily, economic costs associated with changing DOC. As temperature and precipitation patterns continue to change, aquatic ecosystems will also change which could have large implications for water quality and the communities reliant on these resources. This thesis provides information to better evaluate lake characteristics to identify aquatic resources that may be more vulnerable to change, and conceptual frameworks to better visualize changes in DOC occurring as a result of precipitation events.

CHAPTER 2

VARIABLE RESPONSES OF DISSOLVED ORGANIC CARBON TO PRECIPITATION EVENTS IN BOREAL DRINKING WATER LAKES 2.1. Abstract

In boreal regions, increased concentrations of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) have been linked to extreme wet years; however, less is known about the extent to which precipitation events are altering DOC concentration and quality. We assessed the effects of rain events on a suite of six lakes in Maine, U.S.A., to better understand how events alter DOC quantity and quality. DOC concentrations and DOC quality (measured as DOC-specific absorption coefficients (Specific Ultraviolet Absorbance (SUVA254 (also a^{*}_{254}), a^{*}_{320} , and a^{*}_{380})) were quantified 24 hours before, and at three time points (24-48 hours, 5-7 days, and 3 weeks) after five different precipitation events. Our results revealed three types of responses across the lakes: (1) an initial spike in DOC concentrations of 30-133% and in the three quality metrics of 20-86% compared to prestorm levels, followed by return to pre-storm concentrations; (2) a sustained increase in DOC concentrations (by 4-23%) and an increase in the three DOC quality metrics (by 1-43%) through the second post-storm sampling, with concentrations falling by the third post-storm sampling compared to pre-storm levels; and (3) no change during all sampling periods. Lake residence time was a key driver of changes in DOC concentration and DOC quality, and the watershed area: lake area ratio was also an important variable in determining lake response to storm events. Our research provides evidence that precipitation events contribute to short-term abrupt changes in DOC quantity and quality that are largely driven by key landscape and lake characteristics. These changes in DOC

may have important implications for management of water utilities, including alteration or implementation of treatment strategies.

2.2. Introduction

The frequency and severity of extreme precipitation events are increasing across many regions (Groisman et al. 1999; Jentsch et al. 2007; Donat et al. 2013; Easterling et al. 2017). These events may exert a stronger effect on ecosystems than gradual climate change (Huber and Gulledge 2011), and the frequency and severity of these events is predicted to continue to increase (Jentsch et al. 2007). The location of the northeastern US relative to the flow of the jet stream makes this area more susceptible to increases in extreme precipitation than other areas of the US and some regions across the globe (Easterling et al. 2000). Indeed, since 1950, the region has experienced a 70% increase in extreme precipitation events (Madsen and Figdor 2007; Spierre et al. 2010; Madsen and Wilcox 2011; Melillo et al. 2014; Frei et al. 2015; Huang et al. 2017; Huang et al. 2018), the highest percent increase in the country.

In boreal regions, one of the key concerns with higher rainfall is an increase in the amount of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) that flows into lakes and streams. DOC is largely derived from terrestrial sources (McKnight et al. 2003; Prairie 2008; Burns et al. 2016), and enters aquatic ecosystems via surface, ground, and soil waters (Moore 2003; Roulet and Moore 2006). Modification in transport by run-off from the watershed to lakes and streams from changes in precipitation intensity, frequency, and duration may contribute to elevated levels of DOC (Delpla et al. 2009; Whitehead et al. 2009). DOC concentrations are expected to increase in boreal lakes by as much as 65% by the end of the century as a result of climate change effects on terrestrial ecosystems (Larson et al. 2011). This could have harmful effects on the chemical and biological quality of boreal

aquatic ecosystems and drinking water (Delpla et al. 2009; Roig et al. 2011). DOC plays a key role in determining water transparency, mixing depth, oxygen availability, and the bioavailability and processing of nutrients and toxic compounds in lakes (Williamson et al. 1999). Additionally, rising DOC concentrations in water supplies contribute to harmful by-products and increased levels of complexed heavy metals and adsorbed organic pollutants (Matilainen 2010). Clearly, the increased frequency and severity of precipitation events and subsequent increases in DOC are a key concern for drinking water quality in boreal lakes.

Landscape features in boreal regions also contribute to elevated DOC concentrations within lakes, and these features can further modulate the effects of precipitation events. For example, DOC concentration and quality are related to the watershed area:lake area ratio (WA:LA) (Schindler 1971; Xenopoulos et al. 2003) and are influenced by wetlands (Dillon and Malot 1997; Temnerud et al. 2014) and forested landscapes in the watershed (Nguyen et al. 2013; Chen et al. 2016). Higher precipitation increases the amount and rate of stream, groundwater, and subsurface inflows into lakes (Lee et al. 2007); thus, these landscape features may contribute to the flushing of large amounts of DOC from upper soil horizons of watersheds into lakes (Hinton et al. 1997). The lake residence time can also alter the influx and processing of DOC in the lake (Xenopoulos et al. 2003). Consideration of key landscape features surrounding lakes is important in assessing the impacts of rainfall and subsequent changes in DOC.

Recent studies suggest links between increased DOC concentrations in surface waters and higher precipitation at various time scales. An analysis of a 30-year database of surface water geochemistry and watershed-specific landscape data for 84 remote lakes throughout the Northeast suggests that during extreme wet years, lake DOC concentration

increases (Strock et al. 2016). In Lake Mälaren, Sweden, a higher color and increased DOC concentration have been associated with extreme precipitation events (Weyhenmeyer et al. 2004). In this lake, DOC increased by 26% when color increased from 20 to 35 mg Pt L⁻¹. Both of these studies demonstrate links between DOC concentration and precipitation at annual time scales. Over shorter time scales, Jennings et al. (2012) evaluated changes in seven lakes for 13 weather-related episodic events and found increases in DOC over a monthly time period in response to precipitation. Williamson et al. (2014) evaluated key DOC quality variables to identify lake response to climate and found that these variables all had significant responses to precipitation within 30 to 75 days, the majority of lakes showing the largest responses between 60 and 75 days. This work suggests that evaluating lake response to changes in certain DOC variables over a longer time period may be important in observing maximum change. In contrast, Raymond et al. (2016) used models to evaluate event-based delivery of DOC from major hydrologic events and suggested that individual events account for a large percentage of annual terrestrial DOC input to streams. This model suggests important changes in DOC likely occur over days, supporting the need for further monitoring of the effects of precipitation on DOC at short timescales. The immediate changes in DOC concentration and quality that occur within a day or a week after a precipitation event remain unclear.

To address the extent to which precipitation events affect boreal drinking water lakes requires a better understanding of the effects of individual storm events on drinking water sources. How do DOC concentration and quality differ before and after a precipitation event, and to what extent are any changes sustained over time? To improve understanding of the influence of precipitation events and subsequent changes in DOC on

boreal drinking water lakes, we selected six lakes in Maine, USA, to evaluate changes in the DOC concentration and quality metrics before and after five storm events. Samples at each lake were collected 24-48 hours before the storm, and 24-48 hours, 5-7 days, and 3-4 weeks after the storm event. Additionally, we evaluated changes in phytoplankton community structure for one storm event to investigate possible associated biological changes from a precipitation event.

2.3. Methods

2.3.1. Site description and lake selection

The state of Maine is located in the Northeastern U.S. and contains approximately 6,000 lakes. Bedrock across the state of Maine varies, with northern Maine's bedrock largely comprised of metamorphic rocks such as gneiss and schist, while southern, coastal, and western Maine contains large areas of granite, and central Maine is comprised of sedimentary rocks with large amounts of carbonate. Of the approximately 6,000 lakes, 45 are used as drinking water resources that provide roughly half of the State's drinking water (www.maine.gov/dhhs/mecdc/environmental-health/dwp/consumers/surfaceWater.shtml). Six of the 45 lakes in Maine that serve as drinking water resources were selected for this study (Figure 2.1). Lakes were selected based on morphometric and baseline chemical data collected during prior sampling seasons (Table 2.1). We chose lakes that varied in size and volume as well as WA:LA to account for potential landscape effects (e.g., the influence of wetlands on DOC concentrations and quality). Lake sizes, measured in area, ranged from 0.1 to 121.4 km², and lake volume ranged from 0.2 x10⁶ to 3,977 x10⁶ m³. DOC concentrations for the six selected lakes ranged from less than 2 mg L⁻¹ in Jordan Pond to almost 5 mg L⁻¹ in

Nokomis Pond (Table 2.1). The variation in lake features allowed us to investigate how storms affected different types of aquatic ecosystems.



Figure 2.1. Location of the 6 selected study lakes across the State of Maine.

Drinking Water Source	Watershed Area (km ²)	Lake Area (km ²)	Volume (x10 ⁶ m ³)	Max Depth (m)	Mean Secchi (m)	Mean DOC (mg L ⁻¹)	Mean Chl <i>a</i> (µg L ⁻¹)
Young Lake	1.5	0.1	0.2	2.5	2.5*	3.3	6.2
Floods Pond	11.2	2.6	32	45	9.0	3.5	2.8
Nokomis Pond	3.1	0.8	2.2	7	4.3	4.6	6.6
Chases Pond	10.0	0.5	1.7	11	6.8	2.7	4.9
Jordan Pond	4.0	0.8	17	45	12.5	1.7	1.3
Sebago Lake	457.7	121.0	3977	96	10.0	2.5	1.6

Table 2.1. Select morphometric and chemical characteristics of the 6 selected drinking water lakes.

*Secchi depth measurement ends at bottom of lake

2.3.2. Collection of storm water samples

On average, over the past several decades, the northeastern U.S. has experienced at least 7 events annually with at least 25 mm of rain falling over a 24-hour period (Spierre et al. 2010). By evaluating these events with 25 mm of rain over a 24-hour period, pertinent water quality information can be provided to drinking water utilities. Storm water samples were collected from the intake whenever a rain event was predicted between mid May and mid November. Five storms were evaluated in this study from Fall 2015 to Fall 2016 (Table 2.2). Precipitation data were collected from the closest weather station to each lake (Table 2.2). Every lake did not receive 25 mm of precipitation for all events. A plot representing the total rainfall from September 1, 2015 to October 31, 2016 collected from a weather station near one of the study lakes shows the size of the rain events compared to all precipitation events (including snow) throughout the duration of the study (Figure 2.2). Additional information on the amounts of rainfall before and during sampling periods can be found in Appendix A.

Samples were collected at each of the six study lakes 24 hours before (Pre), 24-48 hours after (P1), 5-7 days after (P2), and 3-4 weeks after the precipitation events (P3). For each of the six lakes, the corresponding water district collected samples from the intake inside the pump house or water treatment plant for each sampling period (Pre, P1, P2, and P3). Only raw (i.e., not treated) water samples were collected for analysis. One opaque 1-L pre-rinsed acid washed bottle for analysis of DOC, total phosphorus (TP), total nitrogen (TN), nitrate (NO₃⁻), and ammonium (NH₄⁺) and one brown 1-L pre-rinsed soap-washed bottle for analysis of chlorophyll a and phytoplankton community structure were filled during each of the Pre, P1, P2, and P3 sampling periods. Each 1-L bottle was rinsed three times with lake intake water, then filled, capped, and stored in a cool dark place until shipping. After collection of the Pre, P1, and P2 samples, bottles were shipped overnight to the University of Maine for analysis. P3 samples were shipped upon collection and were not collected for Storm 3 or for Storm 5. Upon receipt of samples, each was filtered as necessary and separated into bottles for analysis of water quality metrics. More detailed methods and results for nutrient and chlorophyll a analyses can be found in Appendix A.

		Storm 1	Storm 2	Storm 3	Storm 4	Storm 5
Drinking Water Source	Weather Station	Sept. 30, 2015	Oct. 28, 2015	Nov. 19, 2015	June 5, 2016	Oct. 21, 2016
Young Lake	Northern Maine Regional at Presque Isle Station	45.2	29.7	25.4	15.2	30.7
Floods Pond	Bangor International Airport Station	139.2	38.4	23.1	18.0	33.5
Nokomis Pond	Bangor International Airport Station	139.2	38.4	23.1	18.0	33.5
Chases Pond	Pease International Tradeport Station	71.6	45.0	27.2	31.2	80.5
Jordan Pond	Acadia National Park McFarland Hill Weather Station	84.1	62.5	23.1	25.9	30.2
Sebago Lake	Portland International Airport Station	149.9	40.1	37.3	61.7	108.5

Table 2.2. Dates of the five storms and the amount of rainfall at each of the 6 lakes. Rainfall amounts are in mm. Weather station indicates where rainfall data were collected from.



Figure 2.2. Total daily precipitation in mm for Acadia National Park (Jordan Pond) from September 1, 2015 to October 31, 2016. Number corresponds to storm event.

2.3.3. Analysis of DOC concentration and absorbance properties

All storm samples were analyzed for DOC concentration and quality immediately upon receipt. DOC samples were filtered through 25 mm Whatman GF/F filters prerinsed with deionized water. DOC concentrations were analyzed on a Shimadzu Total Organic Carbon Analyzer. DOC quality was assessed by measuring the absorbance properties within 200-800 nm wavelengths using a Varian Cary UV-VIS spectrophotometer. A Milli-Q deionized water blank was subtracted from the raw absorbance values to provide corrected absorbance values. Naperian dissolved absorption coefficients were calculated using the following equation (Helms et al. 2008; Kirk 2011):

$$a_d = \frac{2.303 \times D}{r}$$

where D is the decadal optical density value from the spectrophotometer and r (measured in meters) is the path length of the quartz cuvette. DOC-specific absorption coefficients

(Specific Ultraviolet Absorbance (SUVA₂₅₄ (also a^*_{254}), a^*_{320} , and a^*_{380}) and spectral slopes were calculated to evaluate DOC quality. SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , and a^*_{380} were calculated by dividing a_d by the DOC concentration (mg L⁻¹). Changes in SUVA₂₅₄ are used by many drinking water utilities to assess the aromaticity or reactivity of DOC in water, which contributes to determining the amount of chemicals used for treatment (Nguyen et al. 2013). Changes in a^*_{320} and a^*_{380} can give insights into the source and chemical properties of the DOC that aids in assessing drinking water and monitoring biogeochemical trends (Jaffe et al. 2008). Changes in DOC composition or quality are variable across lakes, providing an effective way to evaluate how different lakes may respond to precipitation events.

Relative Response (RR) of DOC concentrations, SUVA₂₅₄, a_{320}^* , and a_{380}^* was also calculated. P1, P2, and P3 samples were each normalized to the Pre sample: RR = (PostX / Pre) -1, where x is the Post1, Post2, or Post3. RR values less than zero indicate a decrease in that parameter, positive values indicate an increase, and zero indicates no change.

To calculate spectral slopes over the 275-295 nm range ($S_{275-295}$), linear regression was used to estimate the slope of the relationship between ln a_d and wavelength, expressed as a positive number. Following Williamson et al. (2014), DOC-related climate forcing optical indices (CF) were calculated using the ratio, a_{320}^* : $S_{275-295}^*$; larger numbers are indicative of wetter and cooler conditions. For each sampling period (Pre, P1, P2, P3), a_{320}^* and $S_{275-295}^*$ were each averaged across the five storms. CF gives insight into the relationship between precipitation and temperature dependence of DOC concentrations (Williamson et al. 2014) These indices reveal that DOC quality might be

more responsive to precipitation events than DOC quantity (Helms et al. 2008; Williamson et al. 2014).

2.3.4. Comparison of lake surface water and intake samples

To determine if samples collected from the intake were representative of the lake, we collected surface water samples in the middle of the lake at some of the sites on the same or similar day that samples were collected from the intake (Table 2.3). Samples were collected in the opaque and brown 1-L bottles, the same as collection from the intake, and identical analyses were performed using the same methods. More detailed methods, and results, for nutrient and chlorophyll *a* analyses for lake and intake comparisons can be found in Appendix A.

Drinking Water	Date	Source	DOC (mg I -1)	SUVA ₂₅₄ (1 mg C ⁻¹ m ⁻¹)	a^{*}_{320}	a^*_{380}
Source						
Floods	8/11/15	lake	3.5	7.0	2.4	0.9
Pond	8/11/15	intake	3.4	7.1	2.4	0.9
Jordan	10/7/15	lake	1.9	4.8	1.4	0.5
Pond	10/6/15	intake	1.9	4.7	1.5	0.6
	10/22/15	lake	1.8	5.0	1.5	0.5
	10/20/15	intake	1.7	4.9	1.5	0.5
Chases Pond	10/20/15	lake	2.5	5.6	1.9	0.7
	10/20/15	intake	2.6	5.1	1.7	0.6
Nokomis	11/3/15	lake	5.3	7.6	2.8	1.1
Pond	11/3/15	intake	5.3	7.5	2.8	1.1

son of samples taken from lake surface water and the intake on the same or	
of sample	
omparison	
0	
2.3	-
e	
Tabl	:
2.3.5. Landscape/watershed data

Landscape and lake morphometry data for each lake were collected from the Lakes of Maine website (www.lakesofmaine.org), which archives data from the Maine Department of Environmental Protection, Maine Inland Fisheries and Wildlife, and the Maine Office of GIS. Specific data collected included WA:LA, as well as the percent impervious cover, agriculture, and developed areas in the watershed (Table 2.4). Additional land cover data, including percent mixed forest and scrub-shrub, were collected using 2011 National Gap Analysis Land Cover data from the United States Geological Survey (Table 2.4). The average slope of the watershed was calculated using digital elevation models collected from the Maine Office of GIS (Table 2.4). Percent wetland coverage in the watershed was calculated using the United States Fish and Wildlife Service Wetlands Mapper (www.fws.gov/wetlands/data.mapper.html; Table 4). Residence time was calculated as the inverse of the flushing rate, which was measured as times per year (Table 2.4). Many of the lake and landscape variables in this study varied across the six lakes. WA:LA ranged from 3.9 for Nokomis Pond to 20 for Chases Pond, residence time ranged from 0.2 to 6.7 years, and total percent wetland ranged from 2% to 80% of the watershed area (Table 2.4). The slope was also variable across the six lakes ranging from 6.7 degrees at Sebago lake to 47.5 degrees at Jordan Pond (Table 2.4). Mixed forest cover dominates the watersheds of most lakes with the exception of Young Lake that is predominantly covered by wetland (Table 2.4). The type of forest cover is similar across most lakes. Qualitative analysis of Maine vegetation suggests Young Lake and Nokomis Pond have slightly more deciduous cover and equal percent coverage of coniferous and mixed forests, Jordan Pond has more coniferous cover and equal percent coverage of deciduous and mixed forest, and Floods Pond, Chases Pond, and Sebago

Lake have equal percent coverage of deciduous, coniferous, and mixed forest cover. The percent coverage of agricultural land, impervious cover, and developed areas within the lake watersheds were relatively similar (Table 2.4)

							% Land	lcover		
Drinking Water Source	WA:LA	Residence Time (years)	Slope (degrees)	Mixed Forest	Scrub- Shrub	Forest/ Shrub Wetland	Freshwater Emergent Wetland	Agricultural	Impervious Cover	Developed
Young Lake	15	0.2	35.2	20	0	70	10	0	0	0
Floods Pond	4.3	2.6	13.7	97	0	7	0	0	0.2	0.8
Nokomis Pond	3.9	1.2	23.7	09	0	24	1	8	1.9	5.1
Chases Pond	20	0.3	7.8	74	ς	13	4	-	1.0	4.0
Jordan Pond	5.0	5.9	47.5	64	24	7	1	0	1.4	7.6
Sebago Lake	3.8	6.7	6.7	77	7	7	1	1	1.0	11.0

Table 2.4. Lake and landscape variables for each of the 6 study lakes. WA:LA is the ratio of watershed area to lake area and percentages indicate the percent cover found in the watershed.

2.3.6. Phytoplankton community composition

Two 50-ml centrifuge tubes for Pre and P2 samples from each lake were filled with unfiltered water from the 1-L brown bottles for analysis of phytoplankton. Pre and P2 samples from the September 30, 2015 storm were counted to evaluate changes in phytoplankton community before and after a precipitation event. This storm was selected for phytoplankton analysis because it was the largest precipitation event sampled. Samples were preserved with Lugol's solution, settled in Utermohl chambers and counted using a Nikon Eclipse TS-100 inverted microscope at 400X magnification. A minimum of 300 individuals was counted to genus or species level as possible for each sample. Phytoplankton counts were converted to biovolume by measuring the dimensions of 20 or more individuals and determining the average biovolume of each taxon using the closest geometric shape (Wetzel and Likens 2000). Biovolume data were then grouped into major algal phyla.

2.3.7. Data analysis

To assess if the sampling period or the storm event affected DOC collectively across all lakes, a linear mixed effects model was used for the DOC metrics. Data were log transformed to meet assumptions of constant variance and normality and relationships where p < 0.05 were considered significant.

Within each lake, we assessed whether storms altered the DOC concentrations, SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , and a^*_{380} , and if any changes were sustained by using a randomized block design to conduct a repeated measures Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) test. Rain events were treated as blocks, and Pre, P1, and P2 were the treatments. A significance level of p < 0.05 was used and the Greenhouse-Geiser correction was used to test for the assumption of sphericity. Post-hoc analysis was conducted using a Bonferroni correction.

This test evaluated differences before and after all storm events for each lake and also identified whether or not any changes were sustained.

To evaluate if Storms 1 through 5 resulted in different responses within each lake, a one-way ANOVA was used to compare the mean DOC concentrations and DOC quality metrics of all sampling periods for each storm. This allowed us to evaluate if storms with different precipitation amounts or at different times of year influenced the DOC response. A significance level of p < 0.05 was used and Levene's test for homogeneity and Shapiro-Wilks normality test were used to test for the assumptions of ANOVA. To determine which means were significantly different from one another, Tukey's honestly significant differences post-hoc test was used.

To compare Pre and P2 samples for phytoplankton biovolume in each lake, a oneway ANOVA with a Tukey's post-hoc test was used to assess differences between major taxa before and after the storm event, as well as a test for significant differences in major taxa within each the Pre and P2 samples individually. A significance level of p < 0.05was used.

Simple linear regression was used to assess whether WA:LA, residence time, slope, or total percent wetland coverage affected the mean percent change in DOC concentration, SUVA₂₅₄, and a^*_{320} to storms. Mean percent change is the average percent change between Pre storm samples and the P2 storm samples (collected six days after the precipitation event) for each lake. Relationships where p < 0.05 were considered significant. All statistical analyses were conducted using R software (version 3.3.2, The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, 2016).

2.4. Results

2.4.1. Precipitation events at each study site

The amount of precipitation was greatest for Storm 1 across all sites except at Chases Pond, where Storm 5 was the largest (Table 2.2). Storm 1 was the second largest storm for Chases Pond. Storm 3 or Storm 4 had the least amount of precipitation across all sites (Table 2.2). For a few events, not all sites received at least 25 mm of precipitation. Floods Pond, Nokomis Pond, and Jordan Pond received < 25 mm of precipitation during Storm 3, and Young Lake, Floods Pond, Nokomis Pond, and Jordan Pond received < 25 mm of precipitation for Storm 4 (Table 2.2).

2.4.2. Response of DOC metrics across all lakes to storm event and period sampled

When assessed collectively across all six lakes, DOC concentration differed between sampling periods and storms (p < 0.05), but there was no interactive effect between the period sampled and the storm (Table 2.5). DOC concentration increased from the Pre to the P1 sampling period, and DOC concentrations were different across the lakes for each of the five storms (p < 0.05). For SUVA₂₅₄ and a^*_{320} , there were no significant effects of the period sampled, the storm event, or the interactive effect between them. Across all lakes, however, a^*_{380} was either collectively higher or lower during different storms (p < 0.05; Table 2.5).

ikes, with p-values in	ndicated for each	i test.	u perroa samprea a	
	DOC	SUVA ₂₅₄	a^{*}_{320}	a *380
	$(mg L^{-1})$	(L mg-C ⁻¹ m ⁻¹)	(L mg-C ⁻¹ m ⁻¹)	$(L mg-C^{-1} m^{-1})$
Period	0.04^{a}	0.13	0.13	0.31
Storm	0.02 ^a	0.23	0.06	0.02^{a}
Period x Storm	0.92	0.85	0.97	0.95
The sampling period	l or the storm ha	s a significant effect or	n DOC concentration	l or quality among

s all č ş ب د offor 0 ۰:1 fu Table 2.5. Resultslakes, with p-values

all lakes. a l

2.4.3. Relative response of DOC metrics within each lake to storm events

The RR of DOC concentrations varied across lakes and storm events (Figure 2.3), with three response patterns emerging among lakes. An immediate, relatively large, but short-lived increase occurred in Young Lake. DOC concentrations spiked during P1 sampling, followed by an immediate decrease by P2. Young Lake RR for P1 ranged from 0.30 for Storm 4 to 1.33 for Storm 1 (Figure 2.3). A gradual, moderate and sometimes sustained increase occurred in Floods and Nokomis Ponds. On average across all storms, the RR of DOC increased from the Pre to the P1 sampling and again from the P1 to the P2 sampling. The change in RR for the five storms in these lakes ranged from 0 to 0.17 for the Pre to P1 sampling and from 0 to 0.23 for the Pre to P2 sampling (Figure 2.3). Little or no change occurred in Chases Pond, Jordan Pond, and Sebago Lake. These lakes had the lowest RR values for all storms and showed little or no change between Pre, P1, and P2 samplings, with the RR response for these periods across the three lakes ranging from -0.04 to 0.09 (Figure 2.3). The RR for P3 was variable across all lakes, typically decreasing to or below Pre storm values (Figure 2.3). Generally, the largest RR values occurred for the largest storm at each site (Storm 1 for all lakes except Chases Pond, where Storm 5 was the largest) (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.3. Relative response of DOC concentration to precipitation events. Relative responses for the five storms are expressed as P1, P2, or P3 compared to Pre. Lakes are plotted in order of DOC response, Young Lake having the largest response and Sebago Lake having the smallest.

Responses of DOC quality metrics (SUVA₂₅₄, a_{320}^* , and a_{380}^*) were more variable in each lake compared to DOC concentrations for both the sampling period and storm. While there was more variability, particularly in the response of each lake to the different storm events, similar patterns to the DOC concentration responses emerged for the DOC quality metrics (Figure 2.4). Young Lake again had a relatively large but shortlived increase in the RR of the DOC quality metrics. The three metrics spiked during P1 sampling, followed by a decrease by P2. RR from Pre to P1 ranged from 0.02 to 0.37 for SUVA₂₅₄, 0.06 to 0.72 for a_{320}^* , and 0.07 to 0.86 for a_{380}^* . In Floods and Nokomis Ponds a gradual and sometimes sustained increase in all metrics occurred. Similar to DOC concentration, on average across all storms, the RR of all DOC metrics increased from the Pre to the P1 sampling and again from the P1 to the P2 sampling. RR in Floods Pond from Pre to P2 ranged from -0.07 to 0.07 for SUVA₂₅₄, -0.03 to 0.16 for a_{320}^* , and -0.04 to 0.20 for a_{380}^* . RR in Nokomis Pond from Pre to P2 ranged from 0.01 to 0.11 for SUVA₂₅₄, 0.01 to 0.27 for a^{*}_{320} , and 0.01 to 0.43 for a^{*}_{380} (Figure 2.4). Chases Pond, Jordan Pond, and Sebago Lake were variable and either increased or decreased from Pre to P1 or P2 (Figure 2.4). Little change occurred in Chases Pond, except during Storm 5, where RR from Pre to P1 increased by 0.17 for SUVA₂₅₄, by 0.35 for a^{*}_{320} , and by 0.45 for a*₃₈₀ (Figure 2.4). In Jordan Pond, from Pre to P1, the three DOC quality metrics increased during Storms 2 and 3, and decreased during Storms 1 and 5 followed by a return toward Pre storm levels during P2 (Figure 2.4). Little or no change in RR occurred in Sebago Lake (Figure 2.4). Young Lake, Floods Pond, and Nokomis Pond had the highest RR during Storm 1 for all three quality metrics, similar to the DOC response (Figure 2.4).



Figure 2.4. Relative response of SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , and a^*_{380} to precipitation events. Relative responses for the 5 storms are expressed as values at sampling periods P1, P2, and P3 compared to Pre. Lakes are plotted in order of DOC response, Young Lake having the largest response and Sebago Lake having the smallest.

2.4.4. Effect of period and storm event within each lake

Young Lake was the only lake in which the timing of sampling, or the period, had a significant effect on DOC response; however, storm event did not have a significant effect. This reflects the consistently positive response of all DOC metrics at P1 after all storms. Young Lake was highly responsive to precipitation; DOC concentration (p < p0.05), SUVA₂₅₄, and a_{320}^* , increased from Pre to P1 (p < 0.10). This is in contrast to the other five lakes in which the sampling period had no significant effect, but the magnitude of the DOC response varied across storms. Floods and Nokomis Ponds demonstrated a few similar patterns of RR in DOC concentration and quality metrics. In Floods Pond, DOC concentration for all sampling periods were higher during Storm 1 compared to Storms 2, 4, and 5 (p < 0.05). In Nokomis Pond, the response of DOC concentration was higher during Storm 1 compared to Storm 5 (p < 0.05). There were no significant differences for DOC quality metrics in Floods or Nokomis Ponds. The response of DOC concentration during storm events in Chases Pond, Jordan Pond, and Sebago Lake were not significantly different (p > 0.05), and quality metrics varied slightly. In Chases Pond, Storm 5 quality metrics were higher compared to Storm 4 (p < 0.05). In Jordan Pond, for all DOC quality metrics, Storm 3 values were higher than Storm 1 (p < 0.05). In Sebago Lake, there were no significant differences across all DOC metrics (p > 0.05).

2.4.5. Climate forcing optical index

The mean response (mean \pm standard error) of the CF index for each sampling period averaged across all of the storms resulted in the same three patterns that emerged from the RR of DOC concentration, with the exception of Chases Pond (Figure 2.5). In Young Lake, the CF index spiked from Pre to P1 and immediately decreased by P2 and sustained the decrease by P3. The CF indices were 143 ± 17 during the Pre storm period, 230 ± 21 by P1, 197 ± 16 by P2, and 159 ± 21 by P3 (Figure 2.5). In Young Lake this was a significant response (p < 0.05) and had the highest R² value of 0.96 (Figure 2.5). Again, a gradual, moderate and sometimes sustained increase occurred in Floods and Nokomis Ponds. Floods Pond CF indices ranged from 128 ± 8 during the Pre storm period to 143 ± 5 by P3 (Figure 2.5). Nokomis Pond CF indices ranged from 117 ± 17 during the Pre storm period to 141 ± 7 by P3 (Figure 2.5). Chases Pond responded similarly to Young Lake, with an increase in the CF index from Pre to P1 and a decrease thereafter. The CF indices in Chases Pond were 86 ± 12 for Pre storm, 96 ± 9 for P1, $94 \pm$ 10 for P2, and 91 ± 7 for P3 (Figure 2.5). The CF index for Jordan Pond decreased from 72 ± 9 during Pre storm conditions to 61 ± 8 by P3, the opposite of Young Lake, Floods Pond, and Nokomis Pond (Figure 2.5). Sebago Lake had little to no change in the CF indices.



Figure 2.5. Climate forcing optical index (CF index) values from precipitation events. Pre, P1, P2, and P3 samplings are averaged across the five precipitation events (\pm standard error) for each of the six study lakes. Bars indicate standard error. Dashed lines are regression lines.

2.4.6. Relationship between lake and landscape variables and DOC metrics

Percent wetland coverage in the watershed was positively correlated with mean percent change in DOC, mean percent change in SUVA₂₅₄, and mean percent change in a_{320} (p < 0.05; Figure 2.6), however this relationship is driven by Young Lake. Residence time had a negative effect on the mean percent change in a_{320} (p < 0.05). Mean percent change in DOC and mean percent change in SUVA₂₅₄ also had negative slopes; however, they were not significant (Figure 2.6). There were no significant relationships between mean percent change in DOC, SUVA₂₅₄, or a_{320} with respect to WA:LA (Figure 2.6). There were no significant relationships between slope and percent change in DOC (p = 0.53), SUVA₂₅₄ (p = 0.39), or a_{320} (p = 0.74).



Figure 2.6. Relationships between DOC metrics and landscape variables. Relationships across the 6 study lakes between are the mean percent change in DOC, SUVA₂₅₄, or a^*_{320} (± standard error) and the ratio of watershed area to lake area, residence time (measured in years), or percent wetland in the watershed. Values for each lake are averaged across the 5 storms. Percent change was calculated from pre-storm to the second post storm collection, 5-7 days after the storm events. Bars indicate standard error. Significant trends are indicated by solid lines.

2.4.7. Phytoplankton community composition

In general, total phytoplankton biovolume was highest in Young Lake, lower in Floods and Nokomis Ponds, and lowest in Chases Pond, Jordan Pond, and Sebago Lake. Total biovolume was higher during the Pre storm period in Young Lake (p < 0.01). In contrast, although only significant in Nokomis Pond (p < 0.05), total biovolume was higher during the P2 period for the five other lakes. Overall there were no significant differences for each specific phytoplankton phylum within each lake between Pre and P2 periods (e.g., diatom Pre compared to diatom P2), with the exception of Young Lake which had more chrysophytes during the Pre storm period (p < 0.05; Figure 2.7), and Nokomis and Jordan ponds, which had more chrysophytes during the P2 period (p < 0.01; Figure 2.7).



Figure 2.7. Absolute biovolume between Pre and P2 for the September 30, 2015 storm. Pre samples were collected 24-48 hours prior to the precipitation event and P2 samples were collected 5-7 days after the storm event. Note the change of scale on the y-axes across plots. P values reflect comparisons between total Pre and P2 biovolume for each lake.

2.5. Discussion

Our results suggest that the role of precipitation events in controlling lake DOC concentration and quality varies among lakes, with the strength and duration of the response to these events shaped by landscape and lake morphometric features. Three patterns of DOC response emerged from the lakes in our study (Figure 2.8), with each of the lakes falling into one of the following three categories: 1) a spike in DOC concentration and SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , and a^*_{380} values immediately after a storm event, followed by a rapid return to Pre storm conditions; 2) a gradual and sometimes sustained increase in DOC concentration and SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , and a^*_{380} values; and 3) little to no change in DOC concentrations with variable responses in SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , and a^*_{380} values. Residence time plays a key role in determining the type of response each lake will exhibit. This information provides important insights to help water managers assess the potential implications of future storm events. While water treatment processes and methods vary, utilities face common challenges from rain events, and appropriate management responses are likely to vary with landscape and lake morphometric features.



Figure 2.8. Conceptual diagram of the three DOC response patterns from precipitation events, A.) Spike, B.) Sustained, and C.) No change. Dots indicate values at P1, P2, and P3 sample collection. Pre storm values are at time 0.

The spike pattern in DOC concentration and quality is predominantly attributed to short residence time. The response of DOC in Young Lake is indicative of a rapid delivery of water into the lake and a rapid exit. In Young Lake, DOC concentration, $SUVA_{254}$, a^*_{320} , and a^*_{380} respond very similarly to one another supporting the importance of short residence time as a driver of changes in this system. Precipitation events could exacerbate effects of short residence time in lake ecosystems, as increased runoff from the events may lead to even shorter water residence time and the increased flows increase DOC concentrations at various time points (Tranvik et al. 2009). Drinking water utilities using lakes that exhibit rapid increases in DOC concentrations with precipitation events may need to make strong temporary adjustments to treatment strategies, such as increases in select chemicals used to treat the particular water resource.

The second observed pattern of a moderate, sometimes sustained increase in DOC concentrations, SUVA₂₅₄, a^{*}_{320} , and a^{*}_{380} results from moderate (1-2 year) residence times in which the DOC is being retained for a period. Floods Pond and Nokomis Pond have varying lake depths and volumes; however, they have several similarities that are important drivers of observed change in DOC from precipitation events. These include similar residence times, WA:LA ratios, and initial DOC concentrations. DOC flowing into lakes and streams from precipitation events is likely terrestrially derived (Curtis and Schindler 1997). DOC concentrations typically increase with increasing catchment size (Inamdar and Mitchell 2006), thus the similar response of Floods and Nokomis Ponds may be attributed to the similar WA:LA ratios as well as similar initial DOC concentrations, which are higher than those of other lakes in this study. Therefore, these similarities between the two lakes suggest that residence time and WA:LA are the key drivers of the sustained DOC response to precipitation events. Compared to lakes with the spike pattern, lakes that exhibit a pattern of sustained increase in DOC may require milder treatments but for a longer period of time or could prompt alterations to treatment facilities. These management responses include temporarily less costly adaptations such as increased addition of chemicals (i.e., aluminum or ferric salts), or longer term, and initially more expensive, treatment options such as installation of an ozone treatment system.

The third pattern of little to no change in DOC concentration and variable responses in SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , and a^*_{380} results from several factors; while these lakes exhibited similar responses, the landscape and lake morphometric attributes contributing to any change varied. Chases Pond has a relatively high WA:LA ratio and a short residence time, which is suggestive of larger DOC fluctuations. Chases Pond has several

inflows where a pulse of DOC may be detected; however, this may alter the DOC quality more than the concentration (Hruska et al. 2001; Hood et al. 2006), which is evident in the greater variability of DOC quality in Chases Pond. Jordan Pond and Sebago Lake have some similar landscape and morphometric features. They are both deep, clear lakes with low baseline DOC concentrations and longer residence times compared to the other lakes in this study. These features and the large volume of these lakes likely contribute to the minimal change in DOC during precipitation events. Similar to Chases Pond, changes in SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , and a^*_{380} in Jordan Pond and Sebago Lake are more variable than the changes in DOC concentration. Changes in quality are also important for water quality managers to monitor, as for example, increases in SUVA₂₅₄ often indicate more aromatic carbon (Weishaar et al. 2003; Fu et al. 2006) which is often less bioavailable in lakes (Perdue 1998). SUVA₂₅₄ and other UV absorbance values are important for identifying the quality of DOC and also the treatability of the drinking water (Ritson et al. 2014), thus monitoring changes in water quality following weather events is an important consideration for water management authorities.

We have attributed several important distinctions among lake response to landscape features, importantly percentage of wetlands in the watershed and lake residence time. This relationship between residence time and the mean percent change in DOC concentration, SUVA₂₅₄, and a^*_{320} is a strong predictor variable in understanding DOC response. Relationships have previously been documented between DOC concentration and quality and wetlands (Kortelainen 1993; Dillon and Molot 1997; Gergel et al. 1999). While we note a strong relationship with the percent wetland and the mean percent change in DOC concentration, SUVA₂₅₄, and a^*_{320} , it is important to note that this relationship is strongly driven by the large extent of wetlands around and large

change in DOC concentration in Young Lake. Young Lake and Nokomis Pond have larger percentages of wetlands than the other lakes, which could also be contributing to the higher DOC concentrations. While residence time and WA:LA are the main drivers of DOC change in Floods Pond, it is possible that hidden or cryptic wetlands may influence the fluctuations in DOC concentration and the quality of the DOC. Cryptic wetlands are areas of the watershed that have low slope and may have inundated soils but there is no visible wetland habitat on the surface (Winn et al. 2009), they are hidden under forest canopy and can be large contributors to DOC export from forested catchments (Creed et al. 2003). Additionally, it is important to acknowledge that there has been significant research that discusses the importance of within lake processes contributing to loss of DOC (Bertilsson and Tranvik 2000; von Wachenfeldt et al. 2008). Based on the residence times of Floods and Nokomis Ponds, however, these processes are not rapid enough for the loss of DOC through in-lake processes to be more than the inflow of terrestrial DOC (Canham et al. 2004). It is difficult to discern specific drivers of DOC change; wetlands appear to be a strong predictor however this response is driven by the response of Young Lake; thus residence time is the strongest predictor of changes in DOC concentration and quality from precipitation events in this study.

The same three patterns emerged when evaluating the CF index compared to the DOC responses, and the residence time and WA:LA modify how lakes plot along these climate indices. The CF index is most responsive in the lakes with larger WA:LA ratios and shorter residence times, and DOC inputs have little influence on the lakes with smaller WA:LA ratios and longer residence times, suggesting that photobleaching is dominant. The CF index evaluates lake response across timescales (Williamson et al. 2014), and these indices can tell us about the source of the DOC and the subsequent

quality. For example, DOC with a lower $S_{275-295}$ and higher $a*_{320}$ is typically terrestrially derived and more colored and less bioavailable (Helms et al. 2008), which may influence photosynthesis or aquatic food webs (Jones et al. 2012), and have further implications. UV absorbance and DOC have been used as indicators of the presence of organic matter in drinking water (Thomas and Burgess 2007). The CF index allows for evaluation of ecosystem changes across lakes, which could support decisions regarding adaptations or revisions to existing management strategies.

A consequence of these fluctuations in DOC concentration, SUVA₂₅₄, a^{*}_{320} , and a_{320}^{*} , from precipitation events is changes in the phytoplankton community. The same landscape and lake morphometric features also influence phytoplankton response. Additionally, other physical and chemical properties of the lakes may be altered by storms, importantly nutrients among others (i.e. pH, temperature, dissolved oxygen). Although not statistically significant among all lakes, the observed changes in phytoplankton could still have important ecological implications. DOC provides additional carbon sources directly and indirectly by stimulating heterotrophic bacterial growth, thereby influencing phytoplankton community structure of mixotrophic algae, including chrysophytes (Xenopoulos et al. 2009). Changes in DOC due to storms can affect the quantity and quality of light that is available for phytoplankton (Philips et al. 2000). In most of the study lakes, the biovolume of chrysophytes may have increased because chrysophytes are mobile and can stay elevated in the water column (Reynolds 1984) allowing them to outcompete other types of phytoplankton after storm events. In Young Lake, the rapid rate of flushing likely contributed to the decrease in overall biovolume from Pre to P2. Water temperature and the timing of turnover are also important factors that may contribute to changes in phytoplankton, as well as nutrient

concentrations. Nutrients can increase from storm events and influence phytoplankton communities (Padisák et al. 1988), however in the set of lakes we examined, nutrients did not change in response to the storm events (see Appendix A). With respect to characteristics and water quality metrics measured in this study, changes in DOC and residence time are likely key factors contributing to changes in phytoplankton phyla, and are important considerations for future precipitation events and drinking water. Changes in algae from storm events have important implications for drinking water treatment as algae can be one of the contributors to disinfection by-products (DBPs), in particular haloacetic acids (Chen et al. 2008)

Over the course of this study, samples from only one spring storm were collected compared to four from fall storms. This may affect DOC response; however, while DOC concentration may fluctuate seasonally, research suggests that the seasonal variability is minor relative to the variability among lakes (Gergel et al. 1999). Seasonal effects on DOC quality warrant further research. Our research underscores the complexity of changes in DOC concentrations and quality during precipitation events and gives insight into patterns of change that persist across lake and landscape types, thus establishing a baseline for implications to water treatment systems, and for establishing adaptive management strategies. Fulvic and humic constituents of DOC are important precursors for DBPs (Rook 1974), such as the trihalomethanes (THMs), which have carcinogenic effects (Christman et al. 1990). DOC in drinking water that is treated by alum or iron is directly related to the THM formation potential (van Leeuwen et al. 2005; Uyak and Toroz 2007). Further, allochthonous DOC flowing into drinking water resources from storm events can contribute to increased DBPs when oxidized (Pagano et al. 2014). These

relationships suggest water treatments will likely need to be altered with increasing DOC from precipitation events.

2.6. Conclusion

Three key patterns emerged from the results of our study, an immediate spike, a sustained increase, and no change in DOC concentrations in response to precipitation events. These same patterns were evident in the response of SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , and a^*_{380} , with increased variability for the lakes in which DOC concentrations did not change. Residence time was a key driver of the observed changes, and WA:LA was also an important variable in determining lake response. Identifying these patterns and evaluating DOC quality metrics in addition to DOC concentration will be critical for monitoring, modifying, and adapting management strategies in light of these events. This study provides key insights to preemptively alter management strategies to ensure consistent, high water quality for drinking water resources as precipitation events are predicted to continue to increase in frequency and severity.

CHAPTER 3

ECOLOGICAL AND ECONOMIC IMPLICATIONS OF PRECIPITATION EVENTS ON MAINE'S DRINKING WATER RESOURCES: LINKING CHANGES IN DISSOLVED ORGANIC CARBON TO WELFARE IMPACTS FROM CHANGING WATER QUALITY

3.1 Abstract

Increases in precipitation events are associated with increasing concentrations of dissolved organic carbon (DOC). However, less is known about the implications of such increases for water quality and the welfare impacts of these changes in water quality. We evaluated DOC and Specific Ultraviolet Absorbance (SUVA254) for a set of Maine lakes to reveal how changes in DOC and SUVA₂₅₄ from precipitation events might influence Secchi depths, and, in turn impact welfare estimates. Our results revealed relationships between initial Secchi depth values and percent change in DOC and SUVA₂₅₄. Estimated losses from changes in water clarity were highest in lakes with Secchi depths from 2 to 4 meters and lowest in lakes with Secchi depths deeper than 6 meters. Estimated losses were also correlated with the maximum depth of the lake, residence time, percent of wetland coverage, and DOC and SUVA254. Our research provides evidence that changes in DOC and SUVA254 from storm events correspond to changes in Secchi depth and contribute to losses per household. These relationships are mediated by lake and watershed variables. This research provides an important, cost-effective management tool for water utilities to assess losses that may result from future increases in precipitation events and subsequent increases in DOC.

3.2 Introduction

Precipitation events have increased in many regions across the globe (Groisman et al. 1999; Jentsch et al. 2008; Donat et al. 2013; Easterling et al. 2017), particularly in the northeastern United States, with a 60-70 percent increase since the 1950s (Madsen and Figdor 2007; Spierre et al. 2010; Madsen and Wilcox 2011; Melillo et al. 2014; Frei et al., 2015; Huang et al. 2017; Huang et al. 2018). These changes in precipitation could have important implications on drinking water resources, altering water quality and the cost of treating and providing drinking water. In addition, decreased water quality can impose other types of costs on communities such as loss of property value and decreased recreation experiences, among others. Evaluating the impacts of rain events on drinking water sources in a region where the impacts may be large is useful for guiding regional assessment of both the ecological and economic implications of changes in precipitation on drinking water resources.

Extreme precipitation events are receiving extra attention as the frequency and severity of these events continues to increase (Jentsch et al. 2007). Therefore, understanding aquatic ecosystem response to these events is important. Increased rainfall events may change the water chemistry of drinking water lakes, including increases in concentrations of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) (Klug et al. 2012). DOC is largely derived from the terrestrial environment and commonly results from the decomposition of plant and animal material on the landscape; DOC becomes dissolved in water, and flows into lakes and streams through surface, ground, and soil waters (Moore 2003; Roulet & Moore 2006). DOC is essential to ecosystem structure and function (Williamson et al. 1999; Couture et al. 2012) and plays a key role in determining water transparency (Williamson et al. 1999). Current research suggests links between long-term

increases in DOC and declines in water transparency (Strock et al. 2017). DOC concentrations are expected to increase in boreal lakes by as much as 65% as a result of climate change effects, including increases in precipitation, on terrestrial ecosystems (Larson et al. 2011). Further understanding of the effects of precipitation on drinking water resources and potential losses to communities will be important for management of drinking water resources.

Increasing DOC and its resultant biological effects have potentially important implications for drinking water quality. Algal blooms of a certain colonial species contribute to taste and odor problems in drinking water sources (Nicholls and Gerrath 1985; Nicholls 1995). Harmful by-products and increased levels of complexed heavy metals and adsorbed organic pollutants are additional problems created by a rise in DOC concentrations in drinking water (Matilainen 2010). Increased DOC concentrations have been associated with extreme precipitation events in other locations including Lake Mälaren, Sweden. Results from a 15-year study on Lake Mälaren suggest that when DOC concentrations are higher, water treatment costs increase significantly (Ledesma et al. 2012). Fewer studies report how Specific Ultraviolet Absorbance (known as SUVA₂₅₄) responds to storm events in lakes. SUVA254 is commonly known as a "quality" metric of DOC, in other words, it can indicate the source of DOC or provide insight as to the structure of the DOC (Weishaar et al. 2003). SUVA₂₅₄ is commonly measured by water treatment managers to indicate how much of a certain chemical (e.g. chlorine or bromine) should be added to drinking water (Nguyen et al. 2013) and can be an indicator of potential harmful by-product formation (Park et al. 2019). The state of Maine, located in the northeastern U.S., is well situated to investigate increases in DOC and changes in SUVA₂₅₄ and to serve as a model for areas experiencing increased precipitation events.

These precipitation events, and subsequent increases in DOC may increase water treatment costs and impose other economic losses (lost property tax revenues, lost economic activity) on communities. Drinking water utilities are growing concerned as increases in DOC may correlate with increases in disinfection by-products (DBP's) (Van Leeuwen et al. 2005; Uyak and Toroz 2007), which can have health implications (Plewa & Wagner 2009; Richardson et al. 2007). Some drinking water utilities in Maine have already observed changes in DOC in recent decades and Maine drinking water utilities already monitor for several chemicals, including disinfection by-products (DWP Annual Compliance Report 2017). Additional monitoring of DOC and SUVA₂₅₄ may be able to aid in management of drinking water sources.

Understanding relationships between ecological changes and possible economic changes is also useful for management. Information on water quality value, in particular identifying links between changes in water quality and changes in management, is increasingly demanded by decisions makers (Kinzig et al. 2011). Water quality is valued highly by the public, however there is no generalized framework for linking changes in water quality to changes in economic costs or benefits (Keeler et al. 2012). Valuing changes in water quality is challenging as the costs and benefits of such changes vary across individuals and by spatial and temporal scales. Therefore multiple frameworks or methods may need to be created depending on the region and potential drivers of water quality change. Integrating ecological observations with economic analyses is an important first step for identifying changes in value related to changes in drinking water resources.

To identify the ecological and economic implications of increased precipitation on Maine's drinking water sources requires a better understanding of changes in DOC from

storm events on individual lakes, including how changing DOC may change water quality and a method to translate these changes into potential losses or gains associated with changing water quality. How might changes in DOC correlate with losses per household? To investigate this question, we (1) identified key lake and watershed metrics related to DOC and SUVA₂₅₄ concentrations across 12 Maine lakes; (2) quantified immediate changes in DOC concentration and SUVA₂₅₄ in 6 drinking water lakes from precipitation events pre- and post-storm; and (3) estimated the welfare impacts of potential changes to water quality using a function transfer based on a meta-analysis conducted by Ge et al. (2013), quantifying immediate and long-term losses.

3.3. Methods

3.3.1 Site description and lake selection

The state of Maine is located in the Northeastern U.S. and is home to approximately 6,000 lakes. Of the 6,000 lakes, 45 are used as drinking water resources and provide half of the state's drinking water. Based on a set of ecological and economic criteria, we selected twelve of the 45 lakes in Maine that serve as drinking water resources for this research (Figure 3.1; Table 3.1). These 12 lakes provided baseline data for further storm analysis. The lakes served a range of populations from about 300 people to 140,000 people. Lake sizes ranged from 0.1 km² to 121.4 km² and DOC concentrations for the 12 selected lakes ranged from less than 2 mg L⁻¹ in Jordan Pond to almost 7 mg L⁻¹ in Big Wood Pond.

Out of the 12 lakes selected to complete initial evaluation of lake characteristics, six lakes were chosen to investigate storm response based on the initial baseline chemical data as well as location, demographics, and the size of the population served (Figure 3.1; Table 3.1). The representative six lakes were distributed across the state of Maine to

account for differences in climate and precipitation. Variation in lake size and volume across the six lakes allowed us to investigate how water resources of varying sizes responded to storm events and understand how losses differed. Surrounding landscape, including wetlands, impervious cover and land uses, were also assessed to identify potentially important watershed features that affected response to storm events. The surrounding populations were of varying size and economic status. We accounted for water sources that serve a large portion of Maine's population and also controlled for variation in resources to implement adaptation strategies.



Figure 3.1. Map of the selected 12 lakes. Lakes indicated by a triangle were lakes selected for evaluating lake pre- and post-storm response.

3	DOC (mg/L)	3.3	3.5	4.6	2.7	1.7	2.5	6.7	3.2	3.5	5.6	3.6	2.8
	Volume (x10 ⁶ m ³)	0.2	32	2.2	1.7	17	3977	68	0.8	6.1	3.0	20	33
	Max Depth (m)	-	45	L	11	45	96	22	4	16	∞	17	34
onse.	Lake Area (km²)	0.1	2.6	0.8	0.5	0.8	121.4	8.8	0.8	1.0	1.0	2.4	3.8
ost-storm resp	Population Served	1,800	26,500	1,590	11,715	818	136,945	1,060	18,185	2,700	5,400	285	2,380
g lake pre- and p	County Served	Aroostook	Penobscot	Penobscot	York	Hancock	Cumberland	Somerset	Knox	Kennebec	Penobscot	Oxford	Hancock
ed for evaluating	City Served	Mars Hill	Bangor	Newport	York	Mount Desert	Portland	Jackman	Camden	Winthrop	Millinocket	Canton	Southwest Harbor
triangle were lakes selected	Drinking Water Source	▲ Young Lake	▲ Floods Pond	Nokomis Pond	▲ Chases Pond	Iordan Pond	Sebago Lake	 Big Wood Pond 	 Grassy Pond 	 Upper Narrows Pond 	 Ferguson Lake 	 Lake Anasagunticook 	 Long Pond

Table 3.1. Characteristics of the 12 selected drinking water lakes across the state of Maine. Lakes indicated by a

3.3.2. Baseline sample collection

An ecological survey of the selected 12 lakes was conducted in May and August of 2014 and 2015 to provide baseline information. Temperature, Secchi depth, and pH were measured at each lake as these metrics have important relationships with DOC and water treatment. Temperature and pH values were from the upper layer of water closer to the surface, the epilimnion in each lake, which will be referred to as surface temperature. Secchi depth was used as a measure of water clarity. It was measured on the shady side of the boat using a 20 cm diameter black and white disc with an underwater viewing scope. Water was collected from the epilimnion for analysis of DOC and SUVA254. All samples were analyzed for DOC concentration and quality immediately. DOC samples were filtered through Whatman GF/F filters pre-rinsed with dionized water. DOC concentration was analyzed on a Shimadzu Total Organic Carbon Analyzer (Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto, Japan). A Varian Cary UV-VIS spectrophotometer was used to measure the absorbance properties within 200-800 nm wavelengths to assess DOC quality. Corrected absorbance values were calculated by subtracting a Milli-Q deionized water blank from the raw absorbance values. The following equation was used to calculate Napierian dissolved absorption coefficients (Helms et al. 2008; Kirk 2011):

$$a_d = \frac{2.303 \times D}{r}$$

where *D* is the decadal optical density value from the spectrophotometer and *r* (measured in meters) is the path length of the quartz cuvette. SUVA₂₅₄ was calculated by dividing a_d by the DOC concentration (mg L⁻¹).

3.3.3. Storm sample collection

For this study, we used samples that were collected at each of the six study lakes 24 hours before and 5-7 days after the precipitation events. The corresponding water

district collected samples for each of the six lakes from the intake inside the pump house or water treatment plant for each sampling period. Only raw (i.e., not treated) water samples were collected for analysis. One opaque 1-L pre-rinsed acid washed bottle for analysis of DOC and SUVA₂₅₄ was filled during each of the sampling periods at each lake. Each 1-L bottle was rinsed three times with lake intake water, then filled, capped, and stored in a cool dark place until shipping. After collection of the samples, bottles were shipped overnight to the University of Maine for analysis. Each sample was filtered and analyzed upon receipt as described for the baseline sample collection.

Relative Response (RR) of DOC concentrations and SUVA₂₅₄ was calculated. Post storm samples were each normalized to the pre-storm sample: RR = (Post / Pre) -1. RR values less than zero indicate a decrease in that parameter, positive values indicate an increase, and zero indicates no change.

3.3.4. Watershed information

Guided by research, we evaluated landscape parameters that are strongly correlated with changes in DOC in lakes and streams include the ratio of the watershed area to lake area (WA:LA) (Schindler 1971; Engstrom 1987; Rasmussen et all 1989; Houle et al. 1995), residence time (Meili 1992), slope (Rochelle et al. 1989), and percentage of the landscape covered by wetlands (Kortelainen 1993; Watras et al. 1995; Dillon and Molot 1997). Large WA:LA ratios may be an indicator of hydrological connectivity; therefore, inputs, which may include DOC vary in lakes with different WA:LA ratios (Gergel et al. 1999). Residence time is a calculated quantity that expresses the mean amount of time that water spends in a lake. Lakes with longer residence times tend to have lower DOC concentrations than lakes with shorter residence times (Pace and Cole 2002). Slope can be related to DOC inputs, for example, lower DOC concentrations
generally correspond to higher watershed slope due to increased flow rates and reduced soil leaching time (Shang et al. 2018). The proportion of wetlands in the watershed may explain variability in DOC concentrations among lakes (Gergel et al. 1999).

Elevation data were measured using the National Elevation Dataset from the United States Geological Survey (Table 3.2). The United States Geological Survey 2011 dataset was used to measure national land cover data (NLCD). We collected information to calculate WA:LA, residence time, slope, percent coverage of wetlands, agriculture, and impervious cover within the watershed of each lake (Table 3.2). Slope was calculated using digital elevation models collected from the Maine Office of GIS. Percent wetland coverage in the watershed was calculated using the United States Fish and Wildlife Service Wetlands Mapper (<u>www.fws.gov/wetlands/data.mapper.html; Table 3.2</u>). Residence time was calculated as the inverse of the flushing rate, which was measured as times per year (Table 3.2).

Table 3.2. Lake and lar watershed area to lake a	dscape varia	ables for eac	h of the 12 s cate the per	tudy lakes. cent cover f	WA:LA is the jound in the wat % Land cov	ratio of ershed. er
Drinking Water Source	WA:LA	Residence Time (years)	Slope (degrees)	Wetland	Agricultural	Impervious Cover
Young Lake	15.0	0.2	35.2	80	0	0.0
Floods Pond	4.3	2.6	13.7	2	0	0.2
Nokomis Pond	3.9	1.2	23.7	25	8	1.9
Chases Pond	20.0	0.3	7.8	17	1	1.0
Sebago Lake	3.8	6.7	6.7	8	1	1.0
Jordan Pond	5.0	5.9	47.5	ω	0	1.4
Big Wood Pond	8.0	0.2	16.8	8	0	0.5
Grassy Pond	6.5	0.2	13.4	20	4	1.8
Upper Narrows Pond	10.3	0.7	7.3	9	С	2.1
Ferguson Lake	1.9	2.5	25.6	4	0	1.0
Lake Anasagunticook	14.5	0.9	22.8	15	S	1.4
Long Pond	3.4	3.1	27.7	6	0	0.5

he ratio	אמורוסוו
A is the v	
WA:L	
lakes.	
study	
le 12	nd hr
n of th	
r each	
les fo	nages
/ariab	brind
cape v	
lands.	ר מו לנ
e and	
. Lake	arca
le 3.2	
Tab]	Mall

3.3.5. Estimating welfare impacts of changing water quality

Valuing water quality is challenging because there is not a singular method to quantify all of the measurable attributes of water (e,g. recreational use, property value, consumption, etc.) (Keeler et al. 2012). There are several methods (e.g., hedonic, travel cost, stated preference) that have been used, including benefit transfer. The process of benefit transfer involves transferring information from one site to another (Downing and Ozuna 1996; Rosenberger and Loomis 2003). This approach can yield statistically similar estimates between the referred site and the policy site, however when non-linear models are used to estimate benefit functions, the reliability of the transfer may be reduced (Downing and Ozuna 1996; Rosenberger and Loomis 2003).

In this study we chose to apply a previously completed meta-analysis as it was the most directly related to our study. Data were not available to calculate total costs of drinking water treatment from the drinking water utilities. Cost estimates for treatment vary significantly between water utilities and are dependent on the methods used. Additionally, water treatment managers are hesitant to distribute information due to potentially large costs associated with altering or implementing new treatment strategies. Therefore, we estimated welfare impacts using a benefit function transfer associated with a published meta-analysis (Ge et al. 2013). The purpose of the meta-analysis was to construct a valuation function from estimates in existing studies or a benefit transfer. This valuation function can then be used to calculate benefit and cost estimates in different settings (Ge et al. 2013). We used a meta-analysis from Ge et al. (2013) to calculate estimated losses from changes in water quality in the selected lakes, attempting to transfer the entire benefit function, described below.

This meta-analysis measured water quality changes using changes in Secchi depth. Ge et al. (2013) used a scientific data mining software to identify a function to explain the relationship between an established indicator of water quality change, known as a water quality index (WQI), and Secchi depth. Secchi depth is a common measurement collected in many lakes, and the reason for establishing a relationship with the WQI is to enable researchers to universally apply the meta-analysis to other studies. The function selected to convert the WQI to Secchi depth is:

$$WQI = 78.9 + S + \frac{1.95}{0.06 - S^2}$$

where S is Secchi depth. WQI and Secchi depth have a positive relationship. When Secchi values are small, or the water is less clear, a small increase in Secchi depth results in a relatively large increase in the WQI. As Secchi depth becomes deeper, or the lakes are clearer, the curve becomes flatter and an increase in Secchi depth will not lead to as large of an increase in the WQI (Figure 3.2; Ge et al. 2013). This function allowed us to use measures of Secchi depth to evaluate losses due to changes in water quality from storm events.



Figure 3.2. Relationship between Secchi depth and water quality index. Figure from Ge et al. 2013.

In Ge et al. (2013), WTP for changes in water quality was defined as a function dependent on the initial water quality (WQI^0), the change in water quality (ΔWQI), and other control variables (Ge et al. 2013). Our calculation does not include all of the control variables from Ge et al (2013) but takes the estimated parameters from their work and pairs them with the variables represented by the data we have available. This is represented by the following:

$$WTP = 27.94(Northeast) + 287.23(Lake) - 2.67(WQI^{0} + 4.48(\Delta WQI) + 0.06(Lake Size) - 0.004(Region Size)$$

Ge et al. (2013) used a linear regression model to estimate this WTP function. This function was then applied to Maine drinking water lakes to estimate welfare changes based on changing Secchi depth from changes in precipitation and subsequent changes in DOC. The dependent variable is WTP per household in 2010 U.S. dollars, which were converted to 2018 U.S. dollars using the Consumer Price Index provided by the U.S. Department of Labor and Bureau of Labor Statistics (https://www.usinflationcalculator. com/inflation/consumer-price-index-and-annual-percent-changes-from-1913-to-2008). The independent variables include the initial or starting WQI and the change in the WQI. The control variables include region (in this study, the northeastern U.S.), the water body type (in this study, a lake), the size of the lake, and region size; we used a 5-mile radius as it was closest to the actual population served by the drinking water resource listed by the Maine Center for Disease Control (https://www.maine.gov/dhhs/ mecdc/environmental-health/dwp/sitemap/surfaceWater.shtml).

For the purposes of this study, precipitation events contribute to a reduction in water quality, rather than an improvement in water clarity; therefore, WTP would typically not be an appropriate measure to quantify estimates from a storm event. A consumer of the drinking water resource would be willing to accept a payment to agree to the reduction in water quality due to a storm event. WTP reflects the maximum amount an individual would pay to obtain a good, while willingness to accept (WTA) reflects a minimum payment amount to relinquish a good (Brown and Gregory 1999). Typically, WTP estimates are associated with an improvement or gain, while WTA would be appropriate for resource damages (Bromley, 1995). The caveat to using WTA versus WTP is that WTA is commonly undervalued when measuring environmental goods (Brown and Gregory 1999; Huang et al. 2013; Booth et al. 2016). Ge et al. (2013) evaluate WTP for an improvement in water quality; this function is applied to this study to provide estimated losses based on reductions in water quality due to changes in Secchi depth. Since WTP is expected to be less than WTA, the WTP results of this study will provide a conservative lower bound of the true WTA measure.

This calculation was used in the 12 study lakes. Relationships between DOC and Secchi were explored to try and establish a link between the ecological change and economic meta-analysis. The resulting losses from a reduction in water quality were explored for 1 m, 2 m, and 4 m changes in Secchi depth. A discount rate of 2.75%, set by the United States Department of Agriculture and the Natural Resources Conservation Service, was used to calculate the net present value of the estimated losses. This discount rate represents the discount rate for the fiscal year 2018 Water Resources Planning and Evaluation (https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/cntsc/?cid=nrcs 143_00). Net present value was used to calculate the current monetary value of the future losses and it is the sum of the discounted estimated losses for each year, represented by the following:

Net Present Value =
$$\sum \frac{Y ear \ n \ Losses}{(1 + Discount \ Rate)^n}$$

where n represents year. Net present value for the annual losses per household was calculated for the current year and also for a 30-year timeframe to identify longer term losses. Aggregate losses for all households within the 5-mile radius was calculated by multiplying the annual losses per household by the population for each the current year and the 30-year timeframe.

3.3.6. Data analysis

To assess differences in initial physical (Secchi depth, temperature) and chemical (pH, DOC, SUVA₂₅₄) parameters for the 12 lakes included in the baseline sampling, a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to compare the means of the parameters. The ANOVA allowed us to identify initial differences among the lakes selected for this study. Levene's test for homogeneity and Shapiro-Wilks normality test were used to test for the assumptions of ANOVA. A significance level of p < 0.05 was

used and Tukey's honestly significant differences post-hoc test was used to determine which means were significantly different from one another. For the same set of lakes, simple linear regression was used to assess relationships between lake and watershed characteristics, including maximum depth, WA:LA, residence time, total percent wetland coverage, Secchi depth, and DOC concentration and SUVA₂₅₄. DOC and SUVA₂₅₄ values were log transformed to meet assumptions of normality and constant variance and linear relationships were considered significant if p < 0.05.

Simple linear regression was used to assess if maximum depth, WA:LA, residence time, or total percent wetland coverage affected the mean percent change in DOC concentration and SUVA₂₅₄ to storms for each of the six in-depth study lakes. Mean percent change is the average percent change between pre- and post-storm samples (collected 5-7 days after the precipitation event). Linear regression was also used to assess the relationship between precipitation amounts at each lake for each storm and the percent change in DOC concentration and percent change in SUVA₂₅₄. Relationships were considered significant if p < 0.05.

Relationships between mean Secchi depth (from the baseline sampling) and the mean percent change in DOC concentration and SUVA₂₅₄ were explored to identify the relationship between Secchi depth and changes in DOC and SUVA₂₅₄ from a storm event for the six in-depth study lakes. A significance level of p < 0.05 was used. This function was used to estimate percent change in DOC concentration and SUVA₂₅₄ for an average storm event based on a lake's initial Secchi depth.

Pearson's correlation coefficient was used to evaluate correlations between lake and watershed attributes and population size and estimated losses from reductions in

water clarity for the current year and for a 30-year timeframe for the 12 lakes. Correlations were considered significant if p < 0.10.

ANOVA was used to compare welfare estimates between lakes with Secchi depths from 2 to 4 meters, 4 to 6 meters and greater than 6 meters. The ANOVA allowed us to compare the welfare estimates for lakes with different initial water quality. ANOVA was also used to compare aggregate welfare estimates between drinking water lakes. Levene's test for homogeneity and Shapiro-Wilks normality test were used to test for the assumptions of ANOVA. Annual estimates were calculated assuming a constant number of days of losses per year, therefore the losses were not related to predicted increases in frequency of precipitation events. A significance level of p < 0.05 was used and Tukey's honestly significant differences post-hoc test was used to determine which means were significantly different from one another. All statistical analyses were conducted using R software (version 3.2.1, The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, 2015).

3.4 Results

3.4.1. Baseline sample collection

Physical parameters including Secchi depth and surface temperature varied across lakes with significant differences between Secchi readings in some lakes and no significant differences detected in temperature among all lakes (Table 3.3). Mean Secchi depth measurements ranged from 2.4 m in Young Lake to 11.5 m in Jordan Pond (Table 3.3). Sebago Lake, Jordan Pond, and Long Pond had deeper Secchi depths than the remaining nine lakes (p < 0.05). Young Lake, Big Wood Pond, and Grassy Pond had shallower Secchi depths compared to the remaining eight lakes (p < 0.05). Mean surface temperature ranged from 17.4°C to 21.9°C (Table 3.3).

Chemical characteristics including pH, DOC concentration, and SUVA₂₅₄ varied among the lakes. DOC concentration ranged from 1.8 mg L⁻¹ in Jordan Pond to 6.8 mg L⁻¹ in Big Wood Pond (Table 3.3). DOC concentration in Big Wood Pond was higher than the eleven remaining lakes and DOC concentration in Jordan Pond was lower than all of the remaining lakes except Sebago Lake (p < 0.05). Ferguson Lake and Nokomis Pond DOC concentrations were higher than all of the other lakes except Big Wood Pond (p < 0.05). SUVA₂₅₄ ranged from 5.2 L mg-C⁻¹ m⁻¹ in Jordan Pond to 9.8 L mg-C⁻¹ m⁻¹ in Big Wood Pond (Table 3.3). SUVA₂₅₄ was lower in Jordan Pond to 9.8 L mg-C⁻¹ m⁻¹ in Big Wood Pond (Table 3.3). SUVA₂₅₄ was lower in Jordan Pond compared to Nokomis Pond, Grassy Pond, Ferguson Lake, and Big Wood Pond (p < 0.05), higher in Ferguson Lake and Big Wood Pond than in Sebago Lake and Chases Pond (p < 0.05), and higher in Big Wood Pond than Upper Narrows Pond and Long Pond (p < 0.05). The pH levels ranged from 6.4 in Chases Pond to 7.6 in Young Lake (Table 3.3). Young Lake had higher pH than Long Pond, Jordan Pond, and Grassy Pond (p < 0.05), the pH in Upper Narrows Pond was higher than Grassy Pond (p < 0.05), and Chases Pond had lower pH than Young Lake, Upper Narrows Pond, Nokomis Pond, and Lake Anasagunticook (p < 0.05).

SourceDepth (m)Temperature $^{\circ}$ C)Young Lake 2.4 ± 0.0 18.0\pm1.8Young Lake 2.4 ± 0.0 18.0\pm1.8Floods Pond 6.7 ± 0.3 20.2 ± 1.9 Nokomis Pond 5.1 ± 0.2 21.0 ± 2.0 Chases Pond 5.1 ± 0.2 21.0 ± 2.0 Chases Pond 5.1 ± 0.2 21.0 ± 2.0 Sebago Lake 9.8 ± 0.4 18.7 ± 2.7 Big Wood Pond 3.4 ± 0.2 17.4 ± 2.7 Grassy Pond 3.9 ± 0.3 21.7 ± 1.8 Upper Narrows Pond 4.5 ± 0.5 21.0 ± 2.0 Ferguson Lake 4.4 ± 0.4 19.1 ± 2.1 Lake Anasagunticook 5.0 ± 0.3 20.3 ± 3.5	ge measurements (± .015. Wator	standard erro	r) of baseline data Surface	collected in	May and Au	ugust of 2014
Young Lake2.4±0.018.0±1.8Floods Pond6.7±0.320.2±1.9Nokomis Pond5.1±0.821.0±2.0Chases Pond5.1±0.221.9±1.2Jordan Pond11.5±0.717.9±3.0Sebago Lake9.8±0.418.7±2.7Big Wood Pond3.4±0.217.4±2.7Grassy Pond3.9±0.321.7±1.8Upper Narrows Pond4.5±0.521.0±2.0Ferguson Lake4.4±0.419.1±2.1Lake Anasagunticook5.0±0.318.7±2.8	rce	Depth (m)	Temperature (°C)	μd	(mg L ⁻¹)	(L mg-C ⁻¹ m ⁻¹)
Floods Pond 6.7±0.3 20.2±1.9 Nokomis Pond 5.1±0.8 21.0±2.0 Chases Pond 5.1±0.2 21.9±1.2 Jordan Pond 5.1±0.2 21.9±1.2 Jordan Pond 11.5±0.7 17.9±3.0 Sebago Lake 9.8±0.4 18.7±2.7 Big Wood Pond 3.4±0.2 17.4±2.7 Grassy Pond 3.9±0.3 21.7±1.8 Upper Narrows Pond 4.5±0.5 21.0±2.0 Ferguson Lake 4.4±0.4 19.1±2.1 Lake Anasagunticook 5.0±0.3 20.3±3.5	ng Lake	$2.4{\pm}0.0$	18.0 ± 1.8	7.6±0.0	3.6 ± 0.6	7.6±0.4
Nokomis Pond 5.1±0.8 21.0±2.0 Chases Pond 5.1±0.2 21.9±1.2 Jordan Pond 11.5±0.7 17.9±3.0 Jordan Pond 11.5±0.7 17.9±3.0 Sebago Lake 9.8±0.4 18.7±2.7 Big Wood Pond 3.4±0.2 17.4±2.7 Grassy Pond 3.9±0.3 21.7±1.8 Upper Narrows Pond 4.5±0.5 21.0±2.0 Ferguson Lake 4.4±0.4 19.1±2.1 Lake Anasagunticook 5.0±0.3 20.3±3.5	ds Pond	6.7 ± 0.3	20.2 ± 1.9	6.8 ± 0.0	3.6 ± 0.1	7.3 ± 0.4
Chases Pond 5.1±0.2 21.9±1.2 Jordan Pond 11.5±0.7 17.9±3.0 Jordan Pond 11.5±0.7 17.9±3.0 Sebago Lake 9.8±0.4 18.7±2.7 Big Wood Pond 3.4±0.2 17.4±2.7 Big Wood Pond 3.9±0.3 21.7±1.8 Upper Narrows Pond 4.5±0.5 21.0±2.0 Ferguson Lake 4.4±0.4 19.1±2.1 Lake Anasagunticook 5.0±0.3 20.3±3.5	omis Pond	5.1 ± 0.8	21.0 ± 2.0	7.4 ± 0.0	4.7 ± 0.1	$8.1 {\pm} 0.8$
Jordan Pond 11.5±0.7 17.9±3.0 Sebago Lake 9.8±0.4 18.7±2.7 Big Wood Pond 3.4±0.2 17.4±2.7 Grassy Pond 3.9±0.3 21.7±1.8 Upper Narrows Pond 4.5±0.5 21.0±2.0 Ferguson Lake 4.4±0.4 19.1±2.1 Lake Anasagunticook 5.0±0.3 20.3±3.5 Long Pond 8.2±0.4 18.7±2.8	ses Pond	5.1 ± 0.2	21.9 ± 1.2	6.4 ± 0.2	2.9 ± 0.1	$6.2 {\pm} 0.7$
Sebago Lake 9.8±0.4 18.7±2.7 Big Wood Pond 3.4±0.2 17.4±2.7 Grassy Pond 3.9±0.3 21.7±1.8 Upper Narrows Pond 4.5±0.5 21.0±2.0 Ferguson Lake 4.4±0.4 19.1±2.1 Lake Anasagunticook 5.0±0.3 20.3±3.5 Long Pond 8.2±0.4 18.7±2.8	an Pond	11.5 ± 0.7	17.9 ± 3.0	6.8 ± 0.0	1.8 ± 0.1	5.2 ± 0.0
Big Wood Pond 3.4±0.2 17.4±2.7 Grassy Pond 3.9±0.3 21.7±1.8 Upper Narrows Pond 4.5±0.5 21.0±2.0 Ferguson Lake 4.4±0.4 19.1±2.1 Lake Anasagunticook 5.0±0.3 20.3±3.5 Long Pond 8.2±0.4 18.7±2.8	igo Lake	9.8 ± 0.4	18.7±2.7	7.2±0.1	2.6 ± 0.0	6.2 ± 0.2
Grassy Pond 3.9±0.3 21.7±1.8 Upper Narrows Pond 4.5±0.5 21.0±2.0 Ferguson Lake 4.4±0.4 19.1±2.1 Lake Anasagunticook 5.0±0.3 20.3±3.5 Long Pond 8.2±0.4 18.7±2.8	Wood Pond	$3.4{\pm}0.2$	17.4 ± 2.7	7.0±0.2	6.8 ± 0.2	9.8±0.5
Upper Narrows Pond 4.5±0.5 21.0±2.0 Ferguson Lake 4.4±0.4 19.1±2.1 Lake Anasagunticook 5.0±0.3 20.3±3.5 Long Pond 8.2±0.4 18.7±2.8	sy Pond	3.9 ± 0.3	21.7 ± 1.8	6.6 ± 0.4	3.1 ± 0.3	7.8 ± 0.1
Ferguson Lake 4.4±0.4 19.1±2.1 Lake Anasagunticook 5.0±0.3 20.3±3.5 Long Pond 8.2±0.4 18.7±2.8	er Narrows Pond	4.5±0.5	21.0 ± 2.0	7.4 ± 0.1	3.7 ± 0.2	6.9 ± 0.5
Lake Anasagunticook 5.0±0.3 20.3±3.5 I ono Pond 8.2±0.4 18.7±2.8	uson Lake	4.4 ± 0.4	19.1 ± 2.1	$7.1 {\pm} 0.1$	5.7 ± 0.1	9.0 ± 0.5
I ong Pond 8 2+0 4 18 7+7 8	: Anasagunticook	5.0 ± 0.3	20.3 ± 3.5	7.3 ± 0.0	3.6 ± 0.1	7.3±0.3
	g Pond	8.2±0.4	18.7 ± 2.8	6.7 ± 0.1	3.0 ± 0.1	6.5±0.2

average measurements (\pm standard error) of baseline data collected in May and August of 2014 and 2015.	
	average measurements (\pm standard error) of baseline data collected in May and August of 2014 and 2015.

Secchi depth was negatively correlated with DOC and SUVA₂₅₄ (p < 0.05; Figure 3.3). Maximum depth, WA:LA, and residence time were negatively correlated with DOC and SUVA₂₅₄, however they were not significant (Figure 3.3). There was no significant relationship between percent wetland coverage in the watershed and initial concentrations of DOC or SUVA₂₅₄ (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3. Relationships between DOC or SUVA₂₅₄ and lake and landscape variables for the 12 initial study lakes. Lake and landscape variables include maximum depth, WA:LA (Watershed Area:Lake Area), residence time (measured in years), percent wetland in the watershed, or Secchi depth.

3.4.2. Storm sample collection

Opposite of the relationship with initial DOC concentrations, percent wetland coverage in the watershed had a positive effect on the mean percent change in DOC and the mean percent change in SUVA₂₅₄ from a storm event (p < 0.05; Figure 3.4); however, this relationship is driven by Young Lake. Maximum depth and residence time were negatively correlated with mean percent change in DOC and mean percent change in SUVA₂₅₄, however they were not significant (Figure 3.4). There were no significant relationships between mean percent change in DOC or mean percent change in SUVA₂₅₄ with respect to WA:LA (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4. Relationships between mean percent change in DOC or SUVA₂₅₄ (\pm standard error) and lake and landscape variables for the 6 in-depth study lakes. Lake and landscape variables include maximum depth, WA:LA (Watershed Area:Lake Area), residence time (measured in years), or percent wetland in the watershed. Values for each lake are averaged across the 5 storms. Percent change was calculated from pre-storm to post storm collection, 5-7 days after the storm events. Bars indicate standard error.

In general, precipitation was positively correlated with percent change in DOC and with percent change in SUVA₂₅₄ with the exception of the relationship between precipitation and SUVA₂₅₄ in Jordan Pond and Sebago Lake, which was negative (Figure 3.5). Mean percent change in DOC concentration in Floods Pond, Jordan Pond, and Sebago Lake were correlated with precipitation amount (p < 0.05; Figure 3.5), and mean percent change in SUVA₂₅₄ in Floods Pond and Nokomis Pond were correlated with precipitation amount (p < 0.05; Figure 3.5).



Figure 3.5. Relationships between storm precipitation amounts and A.) percent change in DOC or B.) percent change in SUVA₂₅₄ for the 6 in-depth study lakes. Percent change in DOC and SUVA₂₅₄ represent the change for that corresponding storm from pre- to post-storm, 5-7 days after the storm events. Significant trends are indicated by solid lines (p < 0.05).

Mean Secchi depth and the mean percent change in DOC concentrations as well as mean percent change in SUVA₂₅₄ were related to estimate the relationship between DOC or SUVA₂₅₄ and Secchi depth (Figure 3.6). The relationships between mean Secchi depth and mean percent change in DOC and mean percent change in SUVA₂₅₄ are significant (p < 0.05; Figure 3.6). Lakes with Secchi depths deeper than 4 m have smaller mean percent change in DOC concentrations from storm events and are less variable than lakes with Secchi depths shallower than 4 m (p < 0.05; Figure 3.6). Lakes with Secchi depths between 2 and 6 m have more variable mean percent change in SUVA₂₅₄ than lakes with Secchi depth measurements deeper than 6 m (p < 0.05; Figure 3.6).



Figure 3.6. Relationship between mean Secchi depth and A.) percent change in DOC or B.) percent change SUVA₂₅₄ for the 6 in-depth study lakes. Secchi depth measurements are from baseline sampling in May and August 2014 and 2015. A logarithmic trendline is fit to the data with the associated R² values. Solid lines indicate significant trends (p < 0.05).

The equation generated by the relationship between Secchi depth and percent change in DOC and percent change in SUVA₂₅₄ was used to estimate the potential change in DOC from a rain event. Lakes with shallower Secchi depths correspond to a larger percent change in DOC and a larger percent change in SUVA₂₅₄ (Table 3.4).

Drinking Water Source	% change in [DOC]	% change in SUVA ₂₅₄	Mean Secchi depth (m)
Young Lake	+31.9	+11.4	2.4±0.0
Floods Pond	+6.9	+3.0	6.7±0.3
Nokomis Pond	+14.0	+5.4	5.1±0.8
Chases Pond	+13.9	+5.3	5.1±0.2
Jordan Pond	-6.4	-1.5	11.5±0.7
Sebago Lake	-2.3	-0.1	9.8±0.4
Big Wood Pond	+23.6	+8.6	3.4±0.2
Grassy Pond	+20.6	+7.6	3.9±0.3
Upper Narrows Pond	+16.8	+6.3	4.5 ± 0.5
Ferguson Lake	+17.3	+6.5	$4.4{\pm}0.4$
Lake Anasagunticook	+14.3	+5.5	5.0±0.3
Long Pond	+1.9	+1.3	8.2±0.4

Table 3.4. Expected mean percent change in DOC and SUVA₂₅₄ based on average Secchi depth from a storm event with between 25.4 and 80 mm of rainfall.

3.4.3. Estimating welfare impacts of changing water quality

Annual losses per household within a 5 square mile radius of each lakes for changes in water quality was largest in lakes with higher DOC concentrations, higher SUVA₂₅₄, and shallower initial Secchi depths. For both the current year and 30-year timeframes for a 1m decline in Secchi depth, lakes with Secchi depths that ranged from 2 to 4 m had higher losses than lakes with Secchi depths deeper than 6 m (p < 0.01; Table 3.5), and lakes with Secchi depths that ranged from 4 to 6 m had higher losses than lakes with Secchi depths deeper than 6 m (p < 0.01; Table 3.5). For a 2m decline in Secchi depth for both the current year and 30-year timeframes lakes with Secchi depths that ranged from 2 to 4 m had higher losses than lakes with Secchi depths deeper than 6 m (p < 0.02; Table 3.5). For both the current year and 30-year timeframes for a 4 m decline in Secchi depth lakes with Secchi depths that ranged from 2 to 4 m had higher losses than lakes with Secchi depths that ranged from 4 to 6 m as well as Secchi depths deeper than 6 m (p < 0.01; Table 3.5).

each lake. Water quality Values in 2018 U.S. dol	reduction lars. Secch	is designate i depth mea	ed by a deci isured in me	rease in Seco eters.	chi depth (dec	reased water	clarity)
	Secchi danth		Current ye	ar	30-	-year timefra	ıme
Drinking Water Source	ucpui range (m)	l meter	2 meters	4 meters	l meter	2 meters	4 meters
Young Lake	2-4	-121.40	-174.91	-458.33	-2,525.82	-3,639.22	-9,536.13
Big Wood Pond	2-4	-115.91	-124.04	-460.97	-2,411.63	-2,580.74	-9,591.05
Grassy Pond	2-4	-113.74	-120.32	-226.63	-2,366.44	-2,503.49	-4,715.23
Ferguson Lake	46	-111.96	-117.92	-179.56	-2,329.44	-2,453.42	-3,735.93
Upper Narrows Pond	46	-110.27	-115.92	-135.81	-2,294.21	-2,411.83	-2,825.77
Lake Anasagunticook	4-6	-110.30	-115.96	-135.85	-2,294.99	-2,412.61	-2,826.55
Nokomis Pond	46	-111.95	-117.91	-179.55	-2,329.33	-2,453.31	-3,735.82
Chases Pond	46	-110.25	-115.91	-135.80	-2,294.93	-2,411.55	-2,825.49
Floods Pond	46	-105.47	-110.79	-122.23	-2,194.33	-2,305.10	-2,543.23
Long Pond	9 <	-100.79	-106.02	-116.69	-2,097.06	-2,205.95	-2,427.93
Sebago Lake	9 <	-97.71	-102.91	-113.34	-2,032.95	-2,140.98	-2,358.21
Jordan Pond	>6	-88.32	-93.50	-103.88	-1.837.69	-1.945.40	-2.161.25

Table 3.5. Estimated losses from reductions in water quality for the current year and for a 30-year timeframe. Losses are calculated with a 2.75% discount rate per household within a 5 square mile region for

Correlations between lake and watershed variables and losses suggest maximum depth, residence time, percent wetland, SUVA254, and DOC concentration are important for determining losses. Maximum depth was negatively correlated with losses for a 1 m decline in Secchi depth for the current year (r = -0.73; p < 0.01) and for a 30-year timeframe (r = -0.73; p < 0.01; Figure 3.7; Table 3.6). Maximum depth was negatively correlated with losses for a 2 m decline in Secchi depth for the current year (r = -0.53; p < 0.05) and for a 30-year timeframe (r = -0.53; p < 0.05; Figure 3.7; Table 3.6). There was a negative correlation between residence time and losses for the current year for a 1 m (r = -0.88; p < 0.01), 2 m (r = -0.60; p < 0.05), and 4 m (r = -0.52; p < 0.10) decline in Secchi depth, and for a 30-year timeframe for 1 m (r = -0.88; p < 0.01), 2 m (r =-0.60; p < 0.05), and 4 m (r = -0.52; p < 0.10) reductions in Secchi depth (Figure 3.7; Table 3.6). The percent wetland coverage in the watershed was positively correlated with losses for the current year for 1 m (r = 0.58; p < 0.05), 2 m (r = 0.92; p < 0.01), and 4 m (r = 0.63; p < 0.10) reductions in Secchi depth, and for a 30-year timeframe for 1 m (r = 0.63; p < 0.10)0.58; p < 0.05), 2 m (r = 0.92; p < 0.01), and 4 m (r = 0.63; p < 0.10) reductions in Secchi depth (Figure 3.7; Table 3.6). SUVA₂₅₄ was positively correlated with losses for a 1 m decline in Secchi depth for the current year (r = 0.74; p < 0.01) and for a 30-year timeframe (r = 0.74; p < 0.01) and positively correlated with losses for a 4 m decline in Secchi depth for the current year (r = 0.65; p < 0.05) and for a 30-year timeframe (r =0.65; p < 0.05; Figure 3.7; Table 3.6). DOC concentration was also positively correlated with losses for a 1 m decline in Secchi depth for the current year (r = 0.62; p < 0.05) and for a 30-year timeframe (r = 0.62; p < 0.05) and positively correlated with losses for a 4 m decline in Secchi depth for the current year (r = 0.57; p < 0.10) and for a 30-year timeframe (r = 0.57; p < 0.10; Figure 3.7; Table 3.6).



Figure 3.7. Correlations between lake or watershed variables and estimated losses from reductions in water clarity. Estimated losses are for the current year and over a 30-year timeframe for 1m, 2m, and 4m changes in water clarity. Circles within black boxes indicate significant relationships (p < 0.05) between lake or watershed variables and willingness to pay. WA:LA indicates the ratio of watershed area to lake area. Correlations are based on data per household.

Lake Variable	C	Current yea	r	30-у	ear timefr	ame
	1 meter	2 meters	4 meters	1 meter	2 meters	4 meters
Max Depth	-0.73***	-0.53^{**}	-0.40	-0.73***	-0.53**	-0.40
Residence Time	-0.88^{***}	-0.60^{**}	-0.52^{*}	-0.88^{***}	-0.60^{**}	-0.52^{*}
% Wetland	0.58^{**}	0.92^{***}	0.63*	0.58^{**}	0.92^{***}	0.63^{*}
Secchi Depth	-0.99^{***}	-0.74^{**}	-0.65^{*}	-0.99^{***}	-0.74^{**}	-0.65^{*}
SUVA ₂₅₄	0.74^{***}	0.42	0.65^{**}	0.74^{***}	0.42	0.65^{**}
[DOC]	0.62^{**}	0.28	0.57^{*}	0.62**	0.28	0.57^{*}
** < 0.01 ** < 0	05 * < 0	10				

Table 3.6. Correlation (r) values between key lake features and estimated losses from reductions in water clarity. Estimated losses are for the current year and over a 30-year timeframe for 1m, 2m, and 4m changes in water quality.

**** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.05; * p < 0.10

Aggregate annual losses for all households in a 5-mile radius was variable and directly correlated to the size of the population served by the drinking water resource and not correlated to initial Secchi depth. Welfare estimates for changes in water quality for the current year and 30-year timeframes were highest in Sebago lake (p < 0.01) and lowest in Big Wood Pond and Lake Anasagunticook (p < 0.01; Table 3.7).

ggregate estimated losses from reductions in water clarity for the current year and for a 30-year	osses are calculated with a 2.75% discount rate within a 5 square mile region for each lake. Water tion is designated by a decrease in Secchi depth (decreased water clarity) Values in 2018 U.S. dollars.	measured in meters.
able 3.7. Aggregate est	metrame. Losses are ca uality reduction is desig	ecchi depth measured ii

Г							
	Secchi		Current year		30	-year timefran	ne
Drinking Water Source	ucpu range (m)	l meter	2 meters	4 meters	l meter	2 meters	4 meters
Young Lake	2-4	-106,392	-153,291	-401,680	-2,213,611	-3,189,397	-8,357,417
Big Wood Pond	2^{-4}	-42,882	-45,888	-170,540	-892,201	-954,761	-3,548,278
Grassy Pond	2^{-4}	-474,280	-501,748	-945,024	-9,867,944	-10,439,444	-19,662,322
Ferguson Lake	46	-216,518	-228,042	$-347,\!250$	-4,504,911	-4,744,684	-7,224,937
Upper Narrows Pond	46	-410,397	-431,438	-505,485	-8,538,790	-8,976,564	-10,517,200
Lake Anasagunticook	46	-46,867	-49,269	-57,772	-975,123	-1,025,099	-1,200,979
Nokomis Pond	46	-252,785	-266,240	-405,421	-5,259,478	-5,539,426	-8,435,256
Chases Pond	46	-976,705	-1,026,785	$-1,\!203,\!032$	-20,321,475	-21, 321, 460	-25,030,466
Floods Pond	46	-234,660	-246,506	-271,971	-2,095,440	-2,201,222	-2,428,618
Long Pond	9 <	-315,262	-331,631	-365,004	-6,559,385	-6,899,972	-7,594,324
Sebago Lake	9 <	-2,455,309	-2,585,779	-2,848,140	-51,085,540	-53,800,132	-59,258,849
Jordan Pond	9 <	-198,446	-210,076	-233,386	-4,128,893	-4,370,879	-4,855,866

3.5. Discussion

Our results reveal that percent change in DOC and percent change in SUVA₂₅₄ during a precipitation event correspond to initial Secchi depth values; lakes with shallower Secchi depths had a higher percent change and were more variable in response to storms than lakes with deeper Secchi depths. Losses from reduced water clarity was related to initial Secchi depths, with lakes that have shallower Secchi depths corresponding to higher losses compared to lakes with deeper Secchi depths. Additionally, losses were influenced by the maximum depth of the lake, residence time, percent of wetland coverage, DOC concentrations and SUVA₂₅₄. These findings suggest that estimated losses are likely correlated to changes in DOC from precipitation events. This information provides important insights to assist in managing drinking water resources and the implications from precipitation events.

Evaluating the relationships between DOC and lake and watershed variables is important for understanding why changes in DOC may occur due to a precipitation event. Previous work suggests that how DOC and SUVA₂₅₄ respond to precipitation events is dependent on residence time and that WA:LA could also be important in determining lake response (Warner and Saros, 2019). These same lake and landscape features are also important for determining estimated losses for reduced water quality. By evaluating the relationships between the costs generated by implementing the function from the metaanalysis by Ge et al. (2013) and the lake and watershed variables, the relationships accurately reflect parameters that, if changed, would likely impact costs.

Evaluation of relationships between lake and watershed variables and DOC concentrations and SUVA₂₅₄ were important in identifying the relationship between DOC or SUVA₂₅₄ and estimated losses. While the relationships between DOC or SUVA₂₅₄ and

Secchi depth is significant based on the initial baseline sampling, not considering other variables would not allow drinking water managers to accurately discern how storm events may impact losses. Maximum depth and residence time were not significant in the baseline sampling, but negative relationships were revealed. Further investigation of the percent change in DOC and SUVA₂₅₄ to storm events revealed significant relationships with residence time and wetlands as well as between SUVA₂₅₄ and maximum depth. Shorter residence time in lakes may result from increased precipitation events and contribute to increases in DOC (Tranvik et al. 2009). The percent wetland coverage had a significant relationship with the mean percent change in DOC and SUVA254 but not with initial concentrations. The relationships between DOC concentration and wetlands have been previously documented (Kortelainen 1993) and suggest that the extent of wetlands is correlated to DOC export (Dillon and Molot 1997), therefore this may be exacerbated by increasing precipitation events. The correlations between lake variables and estimated losses reveal the same parameters identified as important to percent change in DOC or SUVA₂₅₄ (maximum depth, residence time, and wetlands) are modifying losses. For example, shallower lakes with short residence time and a higher percentage of wetland coverage have higher losses. Indirectly, these relationships are important in estimating losses, as they can be related to Secchi depth measurements.

The amount of precipitation during a storm event is also important for the response of DOC and SUVA₂₅₄. Research by Strock et al (2017) suggests that DOC increased in a remote set of lakes in the northeast during an extreme wet year. While this study does not allow for evaluation of specific rain amounts from a particular storm on lakes due to the spatial variation of lakes across Maine as well as differences in climate, the relationship between precipitation and change in DOC and SUVA₂₅₄ suggests that, as

expected, higher rain events correspond to an increase in the percent change and possibly increased variability in response of DOC. Correlations between precipitation and DOC and SUVA₂₅₄ are important for management strategy with the predicted increase in precipitation events. Identifying a relationship between these changes and Secchi depth would allow for calculation of estimated losses to be more easily valued.

In this study, changes in Secchi depth from precipitation events were not measured. However, research on a suite of six lakes in Acadia National Park, Maine suggests that mean Secchi depths were shallower by 0.7 to 1.3 m 6 days after a 28 mm storm event. Larger decreases in Secchi depth occurred in clearer lakes (lakes with deeper initial Secchi depths) (Saros, Unpublished data). The function calculated between Secchi depth and percent change in DOC and SUVA254 accurately reflects how DOC and SUVA₂₅₄ may change in response to a storm event; however, when the inverse function was explored, DOC and SUVA₂₅₄ did not accurately reflect changes in Secchi depth. Research suggests important relationships between Secchi depth and DOC concentrations. Long term increases in DOC have been documented throughout many lakes in the Northern Hemisphere (Roulet and Moore 2006; Monteith et al. 2007; Zhang et al. 2010). Decreases in water clarity have also been documented in Maine since the mid-1990's (McCullough et al.; Strock et al. 2017). Strock et al. (2017) found that DOC concentration determined the degree to which transparency changed and that rapid changes in climate conditions and patterns of atmospheric deposition have resulted in these shifts in DOC and subsequent declines in water clarity. These strong correlations between DOC and water transparency may have important implications for how lakes respond to precipitation events.

Estimated losses vary depending on initial Secchi depths. Lakes with shallower Secchi depths (2 to 4 m) had higher losses and lakes with deeper Secchi depths (>6 m) had lower losses. Secchi depth changes may vary by storm and by lake, with larger decreases in lakes that have deeper initial Secchi depths from a storm event. The metaanalysis by Ge et al. (2013) incorporates starting water quality value, which accurately accounts for this difference. For example, a 4 m decline in Secchi depth in Sebago lake has a lower WTP than a 1 or 2 m decline in Young Lake and several other lakes. These important distinctions in costs based on initial Secchi value are an additional tool for drinking water management.

High water quality and deeper Secchi depth is important for not only drinking water as we demonstrate in this research, but also is important for recreation, aesthetics, and property value (Wood and Handley 1999; Krysel et al. 2003). For example, for every 1 m loss in Secchi depth, there is a decrease in property value of 15.6 percent (Krysel et al. 2003). A study conducted by Boyle et al. (1997) reveals the largest single source usage of Maine's lakes is associated with clean drinking water based on the number of users. Throughout the state of Maine net economic values, which account for recreational use, lake front properties, and other uses, would be expected to increase by \$2.0 billion if the statewide average minimum water clarity were to increase from 3.78 to 5.15 m. Conversely, a reduction in water clarity from 3.78 to 2.41 m would result in a larger economic loss due to a nonlinear relationship between water clarity and economic activity (Boyle et al.1997).

This improved understanding of losses for drinking water resources from precipitation events can help identify areas of concern and also help to design appropriate policies to recover maintenance costs, and other water treatment costs (Gadgil 1998).

Another reason it is important to estimate losses is because while households may adapt to use different services, such as treating water at home, this is usually less efficient than collectively provided tap water systems (Whittington et al. 1991) and there are reports that the price per unit of bottled water is often at least 6,000 times more expensive than tap water (Blumenfeld and Leal 2007; EPA 2018). Additionally, higher DOC concentrations from a precipitation event could lead to increases in disinfection by-products (DBPs) such as trihalomethanes (THMs) and haloacetic acids (HAAs), among others due to reactions between DOC and disinfectants such as chlorine (Quintiliani et al. 2018). Chlorine is one method to treat drinking water and is generally effective and cheap, therefore identifying how changes in DOC and SUVA₂₅₄ change from storm events and potentially influence estimated losses may aid in treatment strategies. Evaluation of DBPs have been studied for many years, however this research could grow increasingly important if DOC increases from precipitation events.

The results of this study reveal that changes in DOC likely impact estimated losses from reduced water quality by evaluating the relationships between DOC and Secchi depth, and also identifying other lake features that could impact losses. In the meta-analysis by Ge et al. (2013), one of the goals is to identify if different approaches generate the same statistical valuation, and it is acknowledged that lakes may be valued for different types of resources and for different populations of users. Therefore, while the studies in the meta-analysis may value lakes for additional reasons besides only drinking water, the study is designed to account for these differences and still provide a reasonable welfare estimate for a change in water quality for a particular lake regardless of the service provided. Many studies reveal limitations in ecological, economic, and, in particular, combined models (Scheffer et al. 2001; Bateman et al. 2011; Griffiths et al.

2012). This research would be improved by having a better direct link between the ecological data and the economic model, however few studies include how changes in both DOC and SUVA₂₅₄ (an important measurement for drinking water managers) due to changes in climate may affect current and future estimated losses from reductions in water quality.

3.6. Conclusion

Estimating the welfare losses of reductions in water quality is challenging. For this study, we estimated losses based on a WTP function (Ge et al., 2013), and therefore provided lower-bound estimates of the welfare impacts of precipitation events. While insightful, we recognize the limitations of our analysis and acknowledge numerous opportunities for improving assessments of the welfare impacts from changing dissolved organic carbon. First, characterizations of the welfare impacts of precipitation events and changing water quality could be improved by relying on a benefit-transfer approach tailored to this environmental and policy scenario. Improvements could come from a greater reliance on studies focused on similar reductions in water quality (e.g., WTA reductions or WTP to avoid reductions; episodic changes in water quality). The function used in this study to calculate the water quality based on changes in Secchi depth does not reflect the reality of the DOC impacts. The function established by Ge et al. (2013) is very non-linear, while the relationship between DOC and Secchi depth is more linear. Establishing a better function to calculate water quality based on changes in DOC, rather than Secchi depth, and including lake and watershed characteristics important to DOC response and using this in the WTP function will strengthen our estimate of losses from reduced water quality. The precipitation events evaluated in this study are episodic, with drinking water resources returning to pre-storm DOC concentrations relatively quickly;

therefore, cost-effective strategies for certain utilities may involve short-term solutions such as providing bottled drinking water, rather than altering or implementing new treatment strategies. However, this suggestion comes with the caveat that our estimated losses do not correspond with predicted increases in frequency of precipitation events in the future. With these increases in the frequency and severity of storm events, management strategies may need to be altered further.

We remain hopeful that this exploratory research provides useful insights about linking changes in dissolved organic carbon to the welfare impacts of changing water quality. Specifically, this study is useful in that it attempts to find links and identify variables impacting potential losses using a benefit-transfer function that was already developed. This method is more cost effective for identifying potential implications from storm events than primary research. Our research illustrates the steps and analyses required to develop tools that managers could apply using little and readily available data. Managers could also benefit from future research focused on the particular linkages between changing precipitation, dissolved organic carbon, water quality, and household welfare. Such research could improve the function relating Secchi depth and DOC or SUVA₂₅₄ and therefore improve evaluations of how reduced water clarity could contribute to higher variability in DOC response from storm events. Likewise, additional social science research of the welfare impacts of episodic changes in water quality could improve characterizations of the household impacts of and household responses to precipitation events. In closing, we believe combining knowledge of long-term increases in DOC and reduced water clarity with information from this research that suggests depth, residence time, wetland coverage, and DOC and SUVA254 contribute to losses

could be very useful knowledge for drinking water treatment managers to ensure high quality drinking water.

CHAPTER 4

DIFFERENCES IN THE EFFECTS OF STORMS ON DISSOLVED ORGANIC CARBON (DOC) IN BOREAL LAKES DURING AN EARLY SUMMER STORM AND AN AUTUMN STORM

4.1. Abstract

In boreal lakes, increased precipitation events have been linked to increased concentrations of dissolved organic carbon (DOC), however the effects of seasonal differences on DOC and how this may impact storm response remain unclear. We evaluated DOC concentration and a set of DOC quality metrics during an early summer storm and an autumn storm on a suite of six lakes in Acadia National Park in Maine, U.S.A. to better understand differences in seasonal storm response. Our results revealed differences in the response of DOC quality metrics to an early summer versus an autumn storm. During the early summer storm, in deep lakes with longer residence times, we found a greater positive response in the ratio of absorption coefficients a250 and a365 (known as $E_2:E_3$) and spectral slope (S₂₇₅₋₂₉₅), and a greater negative response in Specific Ultraviolet Absorbance (SUVA254) and DOC specific absorbance values at 320nm and 380nm (a_{320}^* and a_{380}^*). During the autumn storm, in lakes with large watershed area to lake area ratios, SUVA₂₅₄, a^{*}_{320} , and a^{*}_{380} experienced a greater positive response and $S_{275-295}$ and $E_2:E_3$ experienced greater negative response. Land cover was highly correlated with changing DOC quality metrics in the early summer storm but did not play a significant role in the autumn storm response. Our research provides evidence of seasonal differences in the effects of storms on boreal lakes, which are ultimately mediated by a combination of lake and watershed characteristics as well as seasonal changes in climate such as solar radiation and antecedent weather conditions.

4.2. Introduction

Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) is an important regulator of ecosystem structure and function in boreal lakes (Williamson et al. 1999; Tranvik et al. 2009; Brown et al. 2017). DOC affects overall water transparency and thermal stratification (Snucins and Gunn 2000; Solomon et al. 2015), alters pH and alkalinity (Oliver et al. 1983; Evans et al. 2005), impacts microbial production (Tranvik 1992; Wetzel et al. 1995), and attenuates harmful ultraviolet radiation (Morris et al. 1995). Widespread increases in DOC and color in lakes in the Northern Hemisphere have been attributed to a combination of factors including increases in air temperatures (Lepistö et al. 2014; Pagano et al. 2014), changes in the intensity of the hydrological cycle (Weyhenmeyer et al. 2012; Fasching et al. 2016), and reductions in acid deposition (Monteith et al. 2007).

Lakes respond rapidly to external pressures, including changes in weather and climate as well as land use (Aulló-Maestro et al. 2017). In many regions across the globe, precipitation events have increased (Groisman et al. 1999; Jentsch et al. 2008; Donat et al. 2013; Easterling et al. 2017), particularly in the northeastern United States, with a 60-70 percent increase since the 1950's (Madsen and Fidor 2007; Spierre et al. 2010; Madsen and Wilcox 2011; Melillo et al. 2014; Frei et al. 2015; Huang et al. 2017; Huang et al. 2018). Since 1996 the northeastern U.S. has received 53 percent more extreme precipitation events compared to 1901-1995 (Huang et al. 2018). Increased precipitation can lead to changes in water chemistry, nutrient loading, increased particulates, and increased DOC. Studies have examined relationships between rainfall and nutrients (Reichwaldt and Ghadouani 2012; Morabito et al. 2018), but less is known about how changes in precipitation influence DOC. Much of the climate change literature with respect to limnology is dominated by evaluation of long-term and global patterns that
result from atmospheric warming (Woodward et al. 2016), however more recent research investigates the influence of short-term precipitation events on lakes compared to longerterm lake changes from climate change (e.g. Williamson et al. 2014; Williamson et al. 2016). Understanding how DOC responds to precipitation events at different times of the year is still poorly considered.

When considering lakewater DOC response to precipitation events, season is an important feature. For example, an increase in winter precipitation that results in substantial spring runoff may displace a large volume of the lake's volume downstream, therefore old DOC in the lake from previous seasons may be replaced by DOC from the catchment that is more labile compared to other seasons (Hudson et al. 2003). Increases in DOC concentration have been observed in summers with high rainfall (Hudson et al. 2003) particularly after dry periods where the upper soils have been oxidized to produce labile DOC (Dillon and Molot 1997; Tranvik 1998). Antecedent conditions also affect the response of DOC to various climate variables. Gavin et al. (2018) demonstrated an increase in DOC after a heavy precipitation month that had dry antecedent conditions. Increases in DOC concentrations were also noted in Canadian boreal lakes after 90% of mean summer precipitation fell in a four-day rain event (Couture et al. 2012). Both the quantity of precipitation and the season in which the precipitation events occur influence DOC concentrations (Urban et al. 1989; Hudson et al. 2003).

Season also affects lakewater DOC responses in other ways. Incident solar radiation, which varies seasonally, can have profound long- and short-term effects on DOC concentrations in boreal lakes. In one study, over 11 days, approximately 50% of stream DOC was lost under natural light conditions due to photodecomposition (Gennings et al. 2001). In another study, over the course of 12 years, it was estimated that

photodecomposition processes had the potential to remove most of the allochthonous DOC entering lakes (Molot and Dillon 1997). This radiation can impact lake thermal properties such as epilimnion thickness that also may influence DOC response to storm events. Shallower epilimnia in early summer, near the summer solstice, may lead to more photobleaching of DOC, altering DOC quality, while deeper epilimnia in the autumn may lead to less light exposure, less photobleaching, and a different storm response compared to early summer.

The influence of landscape features on lakewater DOC response to storms may also vary seasonally. The ratio of the watershed area to the lake area (WA:LA) is related to DOC concentration and quality (Schindler 1971; Xenopoulos et al. 2003). Additionally, the composition of the watershed, including coverage by wetlands (Dillon and Molot 1997; Temnerud et al. 2014) or amount of forested area (Nguyen et al. 2013; Chen et al. 2016) influences DOC concentration and quality. The influx and processing of DOC into the lake can be altered by residence time (Xenopoulos et al. 2003). Increases in the amount and rate of stream, groundwater, and subsurface inflows into lakes occur from extreme precipitation events (Lee et al. 2007), therefore watershed characteristics can contribute to flushing of DOC from upper soil horizons into lakes (Hinton et al. 1997). Depending on the amount of precipitation during a particular time of year, these landscape features around lakes are also important for evaluating the impacts of storm events on changing DOC.

The timing of precipitation events is also changing seasonally. Average annual precipitation across the U.S. has increased by 4 percent since 1901 with this increase attributed to more precipitation during the autumn season (Easterling et al. 2017). In the northeastern U.S. specifically, precipitation has increased by more than 15 percent in the

autumn and by about 3 percent in the spring since 1901 (Easterling et al. 2017), with the months of September and October contributing the most to increased extreme precipitation events due to an increase in the frequency of extreme events caused by tropical cyclones (Huang et al. 2018). This variation in precipitation at different times of year may impact lake response to storm events, specifically DOC.

The goal of this study was to investigate relationships between the quantity and quality of lakewater DOC and the seasonal timing of precipitation events. Does DOC respond differently to a rain event in the early summer compared to a rain event in the autumn? To address this question, a set of DOC concentration and quality metrics were measured during storm events in June and October of 2016 in six boreal lakes located in Acadia National Park, Maine, USA. We evaluated changes in DOC concentration and changes in DOC quality using metrics that represent the balance of allochthonous inputs, photobleaching, and bacterial processing. Each lake was sampled 1-2 days prior to the storm, and 1-2 days as well as 4 days after a rain event.

4.3. Methods

4.3.1. Study site and lake selection

The lakes in this study are located in Acadia National Park in Maine, USA (Figure 4.1; Table 4.1). Within the 35,000-acre park, lakes cover approximately 2,600 acres. Granite dominates the landscape throughout the park and soils in Acadia are derived from granite and schist tills (Gilman et al. 1988). Spruce-fir forests, representative of the northern boreal forest, cover much of the landscape in Acadia with stands of oak, maple, and beech, typical of the eastern deciduous forest, dominant in some areas that were burned in a fire in 1947.



Figure 4.1. Map of the study area in Acadia National Park, Maine, USA. The 6 study lakes are outlined in yellow.

We selected a suite of six lakes in Acadia National Park to conduct our study. Prior research has revealed that DOC concentrations have increased over the past two decades (Strock et al. 2017) in these six lakes. DOC concentrations ranged from 1.9 to 4.7 mg L^{-1} (Table 4.1). Lake sizes, measured in surface area, ranged from 0.1 to 3.8 km^2 , and maximum lake depth ranged from 12 to 46 m (Table 4.1). Residence time ranged from 0.5 to 5.9 years, and the ratio of the watershed area to lake (surface) area (WA:LA) ranged from 3 to 13.5 (Table 4.1).

	Mean DOC (mg L ⁻¹)	1.9	2.3	2.1	3.0	3.1	4.7
	Residence Time (years)	5.9	0.5	3.8	1.6	3.1	0.5
	Maximum Depth (m)	46	12	34	20	34	13
	Volume (×10 ⁶ m ³)	17.0	0.6	22.4	6.2	33.4	3.9
: 6 study lakes.	Watershed Area: Lake Area	5.3	13.5	3.0	5.3	3.4	7.3
stics of the	Lake Area (km²)	0.8	0.1	1.9	1.0	3.8	1.0
lect characteris	Watershed Area (km ²)	4.0	1.8	5.6	5.1	13.1	7.6
Table 4.1. Sel	Lake	Jordan	Bubble	Eagle	Echo	Long	Seal Cove

lake
study
9
of the
cteristics
t chara
Select
4.1.
able

4.3.2. Storm events and sample collection

We sampled two events, one in June and one in October, representing an early summer rain event and an autumn rain event. Precipitation and air temperature data were collected from the Acadia National Park McFarland Hill (ACAD-MH) weather station. Hourly climate data were converted to daily climate data from October 1, 2015 to October 31, 2016. These events had 25.9 mm of rain within 24 hours in June and 30.2 mm of rain in 24 hours in October (Figure 4.2). The goal of the study was to evaluate the response of extreme precipitation events, which is typically defined as a set amount in a 24-hour period (i.e. Karl et al. 1995; Kunkel et al. 2003; Spierre et al. 2010; Fernandez et al. 2015; and others) or events that fall into the highest 1 to 2 percent of all precipitation events for a given year or range of years. While these rain amounts may not be considered extreme rain events, these storms still constituted the top rain events for the year, falling into the top 2.2% of highest rainstorms between May 1, 2016 and October 31, 2016.

Samples were collected at each lake at 3 time periods for each storm: 1-2 days before (Pre), 1-2 days after (P1), and 4 days after (P2) the rain events (Table 4.2). Water was collected from the epilimnion using a van Dorn bottle at each lake for analysis of DOC concentration and quality metrics.





	Storm Total Precipitation (mm)		25.9	30.2	
		P2	June 10, 2016	October 25, 2016	
he 6 lakes.	Sampling Dates	P1	June 7, 2016	October 23, 2016	
ampling events for tl		Pre	June 4, 2016	October 19, 2016	
Dates of storms and su	Storm Dates		June 6, 2016	October 21, 2016	
Table 4.2. D			Early Summer	Autumn	

4.3.3. Analysis of DOC concentration and absorbance properties

All samples were analyzed for DOC concentration and quality immediately upon receipt. DOC samples were filtered through Whatman GF/F filters pre-rinsed with dionized water. DOC concentration was analyzed on a Shimadzu Total Organic Carbon Analyzer (Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto, Japan). A Varian Cary UV-VIS spectrophotometer was used to measure the absorbance properties within 200-800 nm wavelengths to assess DOC quality. Corrected absorbance values were calculated by subtracting a Milli-Q deionized water blank from the raw absorbance values. The following equation was used to calculate Napierian dissolved absorption coefficients (Helms et al. 2008; Kirk 2011):

$$a_d = \frac{2.303 \times D}{r}$$

where *D* is the decadal optical density value from the spectrophotometer and *r* (measured in meters) is the path length of the quartz cuvette. Specific Ultraviolet Absorbance (SUVA₂₅₄), a^*_{320} , and a^*_{380} were calculated by dividing a_d by the DOC concentration (mg L⁻¹). Napierian coefficients were used to evaluate the ratio of a250 to a365 (known as $E_2:E_3$). To calculate spectral slopes over the 275-295 nm range ($S_{275-295}$), linear regression was used to estimate the slope of the relationship between ln a_d and wavelength, expressed as a positive number. SUVA₂₅₄ correlates strongly with aromaticity (Weishaar et al. 2003), providing an indication of the source and biological availability of the DOC. Increases in a^*_{320} are driven by inputs of terrestrially derived DOC that introduces less photobleached DOC and may decrease transparency (Helms et al. 2008). CDOM may be represented by a^*_{380} which absorbs ultraviolet light and visible light (Helms et al. 2008), is primarily responsible for optical properties, and plays an important role in shielding biota from harmful UV radiation (Walsh et al. 2003). $E_2:E_3$ tracks changes in the relative size of DOC molecules. This ratio is negatively related to average molecular DOC weight and positively correlated with low molecular weight DOC compounds, therefore the ratio increases with UV light processing and decreases in response to bacterial DOC processing (Berggren et al. 2018). DOC photobleaching largely drives increases in $S_{275-295}$ (Helms et al. 2008) which indicates increases in exposure to sunlight. These DOC quality metrics were used to evaluate the response to storm events and reflect the balance of allochthonous inputs, photobleaching, and bacterial processing.

Percent change of DOC concentration, SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , a^*_{380} , $E_2:E_3$, and $S_{275-295}$ was calculated for the early summer and autumn storms. P1 and P2 samples were each normalized to the Pre sample: Percent change = ((PostX / Pre) – 1) * 100, where X is the P1 or P2. Percent change values less than zero indicate a decrease in that metric, positive values indicate an increase, and zero indicates no change. Percent change values were used in all data analyses.

4.3.4. Land cover data

Land cover data were measured using the National Elevation Dataset from the United States Geological Survey (Table 4.3). The United States Geological Survey 2011 dataset was used to collect national land cover data (NLCD). Slope was calculated using digital elevation models collected from the Maine Office of GIS.

				Land	cover (%			
Lake	Slope (degrees)	Developed	Deciduous	Evergreen	Mixed Forest	Scrub- Shrub	Herbaceous	Wetlands
Jordan	47.5	6.2	10.0	34.7	13.6	24.7	8.2	2.6
Bubble	17.7	3.2	7.8	48.0	15.3	17.6	4.6	3.6
Eagle	45.1	12.0	9.8	34.3	29.4	8.4	1.6	4.6
Echo	23.4	9.8	1.1	64.4	17.8	1.8	1.4	3.6
Long	27.7	3.4	3.5	64.2	17.5	2.4	0.4	8.6
Seal Cove	17.1	4.1	0.8	59.2	16.9	4.8	3.2	11.0

la
9
of the
each
for
stics
eris
charact
ape
andsca
Ξ.
4.3
<u> </u>

4.3.5. Data analysis

To assess differences in the mean response of DOC concentration, SUVA₂₅₄, $a*_{320}$, $a*_{380}$, $E_2:E_3$, and $S_{275-295}$ between Pre and P2 for each storm and between early summer and autumn across all six lakes, one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used. Levene's test for homogeneity and Shapiro-Wilks normality test were used to test for the assumptions of ANOVA. A significance level of p < 0.05 was used.

Pearson's correlation coefficient was used to evaluate correlations between the percent change of DOC metrics (DOC concentration, SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , a^*_{380} , $E_2:E_3$, and $S_{275-295}$) and select lake characteristics (surface area, volume, maximum depth, WA:LA, and residence time) for each storm. A significance level of p < 0.10 was used. Pearson's correlation coefficient was also used to evaluate correlations between the percent change of DOC metrics (DOC concentration, SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , a^*_{380} , $E_2:E_3$, and $S_{275-295}$) and landcover for both storms. A significance level of p < 0.05 was used. Adjustment for multiple comparisons to correct for false comparisons was not used in order to capture more correlations and observe any differences between periods and seasons in this initial study. All statistical analyses were co conducted using R software (version 3.3.2, The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, 2016).

4.4. Results

4.4.1. Comparisons of mean responses across lakes and seasons

Across lakes, the mean response of DOC concentration to the early summer and autumn storms did not differ (p = 0.99), however the mean responses of DOC quality metrics were different between the two seasons (p < 0.01). The percent changes in SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , and a^*_{380} decreased in response to the early summer storm, whereas they increased after the autumn storm (Figure 4.3). SUVA₂₅₄ decreased by 3.8 ± 1.4 percent in

the early summer and increased by 6.6 ± 1.8 percent in the autumn (p = 0.004, Figure 4.3b). The percent change for $a*_{320}$ and $a*_{380}$ decreased by 6.6 ± 1.8 and 15.0 ± 4.3 respectively in the early summer and increased by 14.8 ± 5.7 and 29.1 ± 11.2 in the autumn (p = 0.005, p = 0.008, Figure 4.3c-d). The percent change of $E_2:E_3$ and $S_{275-295}$ was opposite of SUVA₂₅₄, $a*_{320}$, and $a*_{380}$, increasing in the early summer and decreasing in the autumn. $E_2:E_3$ increased by 11.4 ± 2.1 percent in the early summer and decreased by 11.0 ± 5.7 percent in the autumn (p = 0.002, Figure 4.3e). $S_{275-295}$ increased by 4.7 ± 0.8 percent in the early summer and decreased by 3.0 ± 1.8 percent in the autumn (p = 0.003, Figure 4.3f). Detailed information for pre-storm values, and percent change for P1 and P2 in early summer and autumn seasons for each of the six study lakes individually can be found in Appendix B (Table. B.1; Figure B.1).



Figure 4.3. Mean responses of DOC metrics during Early Summer versus Autumn storms. The mean responses of the six study lakes are for a.) [DOC], b.) SUVA₂₅₄, c.) a_{320}^* , d.) a_{380}^* , e.) $E_2:E_3$, and f.) S₂₇₅₋₂₉₅ of Early Summer versus Autumn storms represented by percent change from Pre to P2 (n=6). The *p* values indicate differences between Early Summer and Autumn.

4.4.2. Correlations between DOC metrics and lake characteristics

Correlations between percent change of DOC metrics suggest differences between seasons and post-storm periods. In the early summer, DOC concentration was negatively correlated to SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , and a^*_{380} during both P1 and P2, while in the autumn DOC concentration was negatively correlated to SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , and a^*_{380} during P1 and positively correlated during P2 (Figure 4.4). In the early summer, DOC concentration was not strongly correlated to $E_2:E_3$ or $S_{275-295}$ during P1 and positively correlated during P2, and in the autumn DOC concentration was also not strongly correlated to $E_2:E_3$ or $S_{275-295}$ during P1 and negatively correlated during P2 (Figure 4.4). Correlations among DOC concentration and DOC quality metrics appeared stronger during the P2 period compared to P1. Significant correlations during each season and time period vary. In the early summer during the P2 period, there was a negative correlation between DOC concentration and SUVA₂₅₄ (r = -0.91, p = 0.01; Figure 4.4b) and a positive correlation between DOC concentration and $E_2:E_3$ (r = 0.83, p = 0.04, Figure 4.4b). In the autumn during the P2 period, there was a negative correlation between DOC concentration and $E_2:E_3$ (r = -0.83, p = 0.04, Figure 4.4b). In the autumn during the P2 period, there was a negative correlation between DOC

Correlations between lake characteristics and the percent change of DOC metrics to storms differed between seasons. Overall, during the early summer there were more correlations between percent change in DOC metrics and residence time and depth, while in the autumn there were more correlations between percent change in DOC metrics and WA:LA. During the early summer for the P2 sampling, across the six lakes, there were significant negative correlations between residence time and changes in SUVA₂₅₄ (r =-0.76, p = 0.08), a^*_{320} (r = -0.84, p = 0.04), and a^*_{380} (r = -0.76, p = 0.06) and between maximum depth and changes in a^*_{320} (r = -0.75, p = 0.08, Figure 4.4b; Table 4.4).

During the same early summer P2 period, there were significant positive correlations between changes in $S_{275-295}$ and maximum depth (r = 0.77, p = 0.07) and residence time (r = 0.85, p = 0.03, Figure 4.4b; Table 4.4). During the autumn for the P1 sampling, there were significant positive correlations between changes in a^*_{320} and WA:LA (r = 0.84, p = 0.04) and between changes in $E_2:E_3$ and maximum depth (r = 0.80, p = 0.05) and residence time (r = 0.76, p = 0.08, Fig. 4c; Table 4). During the autumn P1 period, there was a negative correlation between changes in $S_{275-295}$ and WA:LA (r = -0.74, p = 0.09, Figure 4.4c; Table 4.4). In the P2 sampling for the autumn storm, there was a significant positive correlation between changes in DOC concentration and WA:LA (r = 0.76, p = 0.08, Figure 4.4d; Table 4.4). Although only significant for the early summer P2 sampling, during all sampling periods, changes in SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , and a^*_{380} were negatively correlated with maximum depth and residence time (Figure 4.4). Correlations for changes in $E_2:E_3$ and $S_{275-295}$ were variable across seasons and sample periods (Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.4. Correlations between DOC metrics and select lake characteristics. Correlations are between the percent change of [DOC], SUVA₂₅₄, a_{320} , a_{380}^* , $E_2:E_3$, $S_{275-295}$ and select lake characteristics (outlined in the larger boxes) during the Early Summer for a.) P1 and b.) P2 and Autumn c.) P1 and d.) P2 storm samplings. Smaller boxes (within the larger boxes) indicate significant relationships (p < 0.10) between DOC metrics and lake characteristics. WA:LA indicates the ratio of watershed area to lake area

* a_{220}^{*} , a_{380}^{*} , E_2 : E_3 , and s for Early Summer	uu	P2	WA:LA $(r = 0.76; p = 0.08)$					
ten [DOC], SUVA254, a and P2 storm sampling	Auti	ΡΙ			WA:LA $(r = 0.84; p = 0.04)$		Max Depth (r = 0.80; p = 0.05) Residence Time (r = 0.76; p = 0.08)	WA:LA ($r = -0.74; p = 0.09$)
Values for significant converted (r) and p values are betwee istics $(p < 0, 10)$ during P1 cate a negative relationship	rly Summer	P2		Residence Time $(r = -0.76; p = 0.08)$	Max Depth (r = -0.75; p = 0.08) Residence Time (r = -0.84; p = 0.04)	Residence Time $(r = -0.79; p = 0.06)$		Max Depth (r = 0.77; p = 0.07) Residence Time (r = 0.85; p = 0.03)
ics. Correlation p_{1} and p_{2} ics. Correlation p_{3} is lake character p_{3} ms. Italics indic	Ea	ΡΙ						
aute Court ake characterist 5275-295 and selec ind Autumn stor	DOC Metric		[DOC]	SUVA ₂₅₄	a *320	$a^{*_{380}}$	E_2 : E_3	S275-295

4 Ч ζ Tabl lake S₂₇₅₋ a<u>nd</u>

4.4.3. Correlations between DOC metrics and land cover

Correlations between land cover variables and the percent change of DOC metrics differed between early summer and autumn. Various correlations were significant during the early summer for the P1 and P2 sample period, however there were no significant correlations between land cover and DOC metrics during either of the autumn storm samplings (Figure 4.5). During the early summer P1 period changes in SUVA₂₅₄, a^{*}_{320} , a_{380}^{*} were negatively correlated with deciduous land cover (r > -0.89, p < 0.02), and positively correlated with evergreen land cover (r > -0.87, p < 0.03; Figure 4.5a). During the same period, change in SUVA₂₅₄ was positively correlated with wetlands (r = 0.87, p = 0.03) and changes in a_{320}^* and a_{380}^* were negatively correlated with scrub-shrub (r > -0.87, p < 0.03; Figure 4.5a). Change in S₂₇₅₋₂₉₅ was positively correlated with scrubshrub (r = 0.83, p = 0.04) and with herbaceous land cover (r = 0.90, p = 0.01; Figure 4.5a). During the early summer P2 period, there were some consistencies between changes in SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , a^*_{380} and land cover and some changes in correlations for $E_2:E_3$ and $S_{275-295}$. Change in a_{380}^* was again negatively correlated with deciduous land cover (r = -0.82, p = 0.04), positively correlated with evergreen land cover (r = 0.82, p =0.04), and negatively correlated with scrub-shrub (r = -0.85, p = 0.03; Figure 4.5b). Change in $E_2:E_3$ was positively correlated with scrub-shrub (r = 0.88, p = 0.02) and negatively correlated with wetlands (r = -0.88, p = 0.02; Figure 4.5b); and changes in $S_{275-295}$ had a positive correlation with slope (r = 0.88, p = 0.02; Figure 4.5b).



Figure 4.5. Correlations between DOC metrics and land cover. Correlations are between the percent change of [DOC], SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , a^*_{380} , $E_2:E_3$, and $S_{275-295}$ land cover (outlined in the larger boxes) during the Early Summer for a.) P1 and b.) P2 and Autumn c.) P1 and d.) P2 storm samplings. Smaller boxes around circles (within the larger boxes) indicate significant relationships (p < 0.05) between changes in DOC metrics and land cover.

4.5. Discussion

Our results reveal seasonal differences in the response of DOC quality metrics to storm events in boreal lakes, while response of mean DOC concentration for the six lakes was similar across seasons. Our analyses suggest that the response of DOC quality metrics to storms was mediated by differing lake and watershed characteristics in the early summer versus autumn. In the early summer storm, deep lakes with longer residence times experienced a greater positive response in $E_2:E_3$ and $S_{275-295}$, and a greater negative response in SUVA₂₅₄, a^{*}_{320} , and a^{*}_{380} . In the autumn storm, lakes with large WA:LA ratios experienced a greater positive response in SUVA₂₅₄, a^{*}_{320} , and a^{*}_{380} and a greater negative response in $E_2:E_3$ and $S_{275-295}$ (Figure 4.6). The balance of the response of DOC quality metrics during the early summer storm suggest photobleaching was the dominant process, whereas the balance of the response of DOC quality metrics during the autumn storm suggest increased allochthonous inputs and bacterial processing were the dominant processes contributing to change. Land cover was more highly correlated with changing DOC quality metrics in the early summer storm and did not play a significant role in the autumn storm response. Our results indicate that there are seasonal differences in the effects of the early summer and the autumn storm.



Figure 4.6. Conceptual figure of the dominant processes contributing to changes in DOC quality metrics for the Early Summer and Autumn storms. All responses are indicated by the percent change in DOC quality to a precipitation event, and the lake characteristics that influence a particular response. $E_2:E_3$ and $S_{275-295}$ are indicated by dashed boxes and SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , and a^*_{380} are indicated by solid boxes. Gray arrows indicate dominant processes that contribute to DOC quality response and bold italics indicate key lake characteristics.

In the early summer storm event, solar radiation and dry antecedent weather conditions likely contributed to the observed increases in $E_2:E_3$ and $S_{275-295}$ and decreases in SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , and a^*_{380} . In early summer, exposure to solar radiation was higher and the epilimnion was shallower than in the autumn. These factors would contribute to increased photobleaching which contributes to the processing and degradation of DOC as it flows through the system (Aulló-Maestro et al. 2017), ultimately contributing to a rapid loss of allochthonous DOC and increased transparency and may influence the observed positive response of DOC quality metrics representative of within-lake processes during this period. This response was largely observed in deep lakes with long residence times. Longer residence time likely resulted in more extensive exposure to sunlight (Vachon et al. 2016). The deep lakes with longer residence times had increases in $S_{275-895}$ suggesting more photobleaching occurred during this season (Helms et al. 2008; Aulló-Maestro et al. 2017). The positive response of $E_2:E_3$ supports increased photobleaching during this early summer period, as an increase in this ratio suggests an increase in UV light processing (Berggren et al. 2018). The role of residence time in storm response is important as it correlates to the loading of fresh DOC and determines the history of DOC exposure to light, which can influence the photosensitivity of DOC (Vachon et al. 2016). Conversely, DOC quality metrics indicative of allochthonous inputs decreased in response to the early summer storm. Dry antecedent conditions to the early summer storm may contribute to more increased photobleaching, rather than an influx of terrestrially derived, or allochthonous, DOC. Key functions of DOC, including the effects on water transparency and attenuation of harmful ultraviolet radiation, may be altered by storm events and have subsequent negative effects on aquatic ecosystem structure and function.

During the autumn storm event, wetter conditions, decay of organic matter in the watersheds from spring to autumn, and reduced solar radiation may have contributed to the observed increases in SUVA₂₅₄, a^*_{320} , and a^*_{380} decreases in $E_2:E_3$ and $S_{275-295}$. This response was largely observed in lakes with a larger WA:LA ratio. A larger watershed area allows for more decomposition on the landscape and this organic matter is then flushed into the lakes by autumn storms. Increased a^*_{320} results from these fresh inputs of terrestrial DOC (Helms et al. 2008; SanClements et al. 2012) and reduced photobleaching. Allochthonous DOC is often less biolabile (Willamson et al. 2014), therefore with increased storminess, particularly in the autumn months, increased terrestrially derived DOC could have important implications for aquatic ecosystems. Reduced exposure to sunlight results in decreased photobleaching, and the negative correlation between changes in $S_{275-295}$ and WA:LA supports increased allochthonous inputs that introduce non-photobleached DOC (Hargreaves 2003). Additionally, a

reduction in the ratio of E_2 : E_3 suggests an increase in bacterial DOC processing (Berggren et al. 2018). This bacterial processing corresponds to the decay or breakdown of plant matter in the watersheds, which can then be flushed into lakes during storm events, contributing to the vulnerability of lake ecosystems to changing DOC quality with increased frequency of storm events.

During the early summer storm, land cover is more highly correlated with changes in DOC quality metrics, whereas it does not play a significant role in the autumn. The negative correlation between changes in SUVA₂₅₄, a^{*}_{320} , and a^{*}_{380} and deciduous cover corresponds to a strong negative response or decrease in these DOC quality metrics in response to storm events. Lake watersheds with more deciduous cover and less evergreen cover have a greater negative response in DOC quality metrics to storm events than lake watersheds with more evergreen cover in the early summer. Measured DOC concentration is often higher in soils under coniferous forests than DOC measured in soils under deciduous forests (Khomotova et al. 2000). Additionally, the percent of deciduous cover was low across all watersheds, therefore in the autumn, there was likely a negligible effect of deciduous forest similar to boreal streams in northern Sweden, where the presence of deciduous forest had a negligible effect on DOC during the wet period (Ågren et al. 2007). Thus, in the autumn storm, the size of the watershed contributes to larger inputs of terrestrial matter or allochthonous material, regardless of forest type. In the early summer storm, the positive correlation between changes in S_{275} -₂₉₅ and slope support the larger positive response of DOC quality metrics in the deep lakes with higher residence time, as these lakes' watersheds also have the steepest slopes. Relationships between DOC quality and land cover contribute to the explanation of seasonal variability in lake response to storm events.

DOC quality metrics can be highly responsive to changes in precipitation, temperature, and solar radiation. Hudson et al. (2003) evaluated DOC data over 21 years in a set of lakes in Canada and found that solar radiation explained 50% of the variation in DOC concentration across seasons. In a shallow lake in Hungary, DOC exports from the catchment were driven by both the availability of flushable terrestrial carbon and the seasonality of precipitation, which is also a common pattern in many temperate and boreal lakes (Aulló-Maestro et al. 2017). Additionally, research by Aulló-Maestro et al. (2017) supports that photobleaching plays a key role in the processing and degradation of DOC during times of high solar radiation. This processing of DOC by photobleaching can influence carbon cycling and also increase the transparency of the water column (Osburn et al. 2009) as well as change optical properties (Yamashita et al. 2013). This supporting evidence, among others, paired with our research, suggests correlations between optical properties and lake characteristics as well as land cover may provide us with the knowledge to produce a framework for how DOC in lakes respond to storm events. Although this study provides only a small snapshot and would not encompass all seasonal differences, it supports literature on how DOC quality metrics can be a powerful tool to examine lake response and also contributes to understanding potential implications from storm events.

Storms may contribute to increased variability of seasonal DOC. While DOC quality fluctuates seasonally, storm events may introduce additional variability, and potentially cause abrupt changes in lake ecosystems. It has been acknowledged that the relationship between DOC concentrations and precipitation over multiple years is variable and inconsistent, therefore suggesting that long-term climate change and acidification in addition to weather events are driving changing trends in DOC (Gavin et

al. 2018). The effect of weather events on changes in DOC is being increasingly researched, however few studies attempt to explain the specific differences in seasonal DOC quality metrics and how this may impact storm response.

This research provides insight into key differences between lakewater DOC response to an early summer versus an autumn storm. In the early summer storm, the response of the DOC quality metrics suggests that photobleaching was the primary process contributing to the observed changes in deep lakes with long residence times. In the autumn storm, the response of the DOC quality metrics suggests that more allochthonous inputs and increased bacterial processing were the primary processes contributing to the observed changes in lakes with large WA:LA ratios (Figure 4.6). Changes in climate such as solar radiation and antecedent weather conditions, that lead to subsequent changes in lake thermal structure, also influence DOC response to storm events. With storm events predicted to increase in frequency and intensity, particularly in the autumn months, increased variability in lakewater DOC metrics may be expected in the future.

CHAPTER 5

HOW DOES CHANGING ICE-OUT AFFECT ARCTIC VERSUS BOREAL LAKES? A COMPARISON USING TWO YEARS WITH ICE-OUT THAT DIFFERED BY MORE THAN THREE WEEKS

5.1. Abstract

The timing of lake ice-out has advanced substantially in many regions of the Northern Hemisphere, however the effects of ice-out timing on lake properties and how they vary regionally remain unclear. Using data from two inter-annual monitoring datasets for a set of three Arctic lakes and one boreal lake, we compared physical, chemical and phytoplankton metrics from two years in which ice-out timing differed by at least three weeks. Our results revealed regional differences in lake responses during early compared to late ice-out years. With earlier ice-out, Arctic lakes had deeper mixing depths and the boreal lake had a shallower mixing depth, suggesting differing patterns in the influence of the timing of ice-out on the length of spring turnover. Differences in nutrient concentrations and dissolved organic carbon between regions and ice-out years were likely driven by changes in precipitation and permafrost thaw. Algal biomass was similar across ice-out years, while cell densities of key Cyclotella sensu lato taxa were strongly linked to thermal structure changes in the Arctic lakes. Our research provides evidence that Arctic and boreal regions differ in lake response in early and late ice-out years, however ultimately a combination of important climate factors such as solar insolation, air temperature, precipitation, and, in the Arctic, permafrost thaw, are key drivers of the observed responses.

5.2. Introduction

Lakes throughout the Northern Hemisphere are experiencing changes in the timing of ice-on, ice-out and the duration of ice cover (Kuusisto 1987; Schindler et al. 1990; Livingston 2000; Magnuson et al. 2000; Futter 2003). Changes in the timing of ice-out are of particular interest for understanding plankton dynamics, as ice-out marks the onset of spring conditions and the period leading to the peak of the growing season. Ice-out timing also has stronger direct connection to climate change than ice-on because individual lake properties influence the freezing process more strongly than the thawing process (Spoka et al. 2006; Adrian et al. 2009). The timing of ice-out has advanced substantially, occurring up to 21 days earlier over the past 40 to 100 years at mid-latitudes (Weyhenmeyer et al. 2005; Jensen et al. 2007; Beier et al. 2012; Benson et al. 2012) and up to 13 days earlier since 2000 in the Arctic (Smejkalova et al. 2016).

Correlations suggest that the timing of ice-out is an important driver of phytoplankton community structure and biomass. Paleolimnological studies have inferred that earlier ice-out has triggered changes in lake properties that caused shifts in diatom communities at both high and mid-latitudes and that the taxon-specific shifts occurred earlier in Arctic lakes (ca. 1870) than in boreal lakes (ca. 1970) due to expansion of planktonic diatom habitat and lengthening of the growing season (<u>Rühland</u> and Smol 2005; Rühland et al. 2008; Rühland et al. 2015). Specifically, it has been hypothesized that shorter periods of ice cover induced by warming air temperatures favor small *Cyclotella* taxa due to increased water column stability throughout the growing season (Smol and Douglas 2007; Rühland et al. 2015). However, based on neo- and paleolimnological approaches, small *Cyclotella sensu lato* taxa can be more abundant during early (Rühland et al. 2008; Wiltse et al. 2016) or late (Boeff et al. 2016; Kienel et

al. 2017) ice-out years. Similarly, monitoring of a boreal lake over a 14-year period and a temperate lake over a 15-year period both revealed that the timing of ice-out does not clearly influence total phytoplankton biomass during the growing season (Meis et al. 2009; Peltomaa et al. 2013). Collectively, these studies reveal that the links between ice-out and phytoplankton dynamics vary in pattern and strength across systems.

This regional variation is well illustrated by comparing Arctic and boreal lakes. The rate of warming is at least twice the global average at high Arctic latitudes above 60° North compared to other latitudes (McBean 2005; Screen and Simmonds 2010; Jeong et al. 2014), which will influence seasonal light patterns, the length of the growing seasons, timing of ice-out relative to phytoplankton blooms (Peeters et al. 2007) and the onset of stratification (Livingstone 2008) differently than at lower latitudes that contain boreal regions. The relationship between air temperature and the actual timing of ice-out is also not linear among different latitudes and differs greatly between Arctic and boreal regions within the Northern Hemisphere (Weyhenmeyer et al. 2004). With both Arctic and boreal regions experiencing rapid climate change, questions remain regarding the magnitude of effect between the regions. In Arctic lakes, ice-out occurs between May to July depending on latitude, while in boreal lakes it occurs between March to May. Therefore, Arctic lakes experience a shorter ice-free season during which there is higher light exposure and rapid onset of stratification shortly after ice-out compared to boreal lakes, which have a longer spring turnover period, longer growing season and a gradual increase in light exposure and temperatures. These differences suggest that the strength of effects of changes in the timing of ice-out may differ between Arctic and boreal lakes.

Changes in ice-out are an important physical change in lake ecosystems and there are several potential pathways by which the timing of ice-out can affect phytoplankton

ecology (Figure 5.1). These pathways, however, are not only affected by the timing of ice-out but also by other climatic factors including precipitation, wind and cloud cover (i.e. incoming solar radiation). For example, while there are assertions in much of the limnological literature that earlier ice-out will lead to earlier onset and strengthening of thermal stratification (DeStasio et al. 1996; Peeters et al. 2002; Douglas et al. 2004), there is not extensive evidence to support an exclusive relationship. Dependent on elevation, precipitation can be more influential than temperature in driving ice-out (Preston et al. 2016). However, the timing of ice-out is also strongly related to air temperatures in the month or two prior to ice breakup (Livingstone 2000; Beyene 2015), and these months vary by region, with ice-out dates in mid-latitudes reflecting February to March air temperatures and at higher latitudes April to May air temperatures. While air temperatures during those months will be important for lake stratification via effects on ice-out timing, many additional factors (e.g. air temperatures during open water months, wind, cloud cover, water clarity) will affect thermal stratification patterns, potentially weakening any links with ice-out timing. Changes in the length of spring turnover and the length of the open water season are additional physical changes in lake ecosystems that are altered by climatic factors and affect phytoplankton ecology through similar pathways (Figure 5.1). Earlier ice-out will likely lengthen spring turnover and increase the length of the open water season, potentially altering phytoplankton growth and succession (Kienel et al. 2017). A subsequent physical implication from earlier ice-out and changes in thermal stratification and the length of the open water season, is a change in light exposure (Figure 1). The light environment plays an important role in phytoplankton abundance and composition (Peltomaa et al. 2013) and will change variably in boreal and Arctic regions based on changes in ice-out timing, thus clear links between ice-out timing

and light climate are still being investigated. It is also important to note that under-ice algal growth is greater than previously understood (Hampton et al. 2017), raising questions about the extent to which earlier ice-out will strongly affect seasonal phytoplankton dynamics.



Figure 5.1. Conceptual diagram of a subset of the potential effects of ice-out on lake ecosystems.

These pathways that drive physical changes in lake ecosystems may also contribute to chemical changes that influence phytoplankton (Figure 5.1). Earlier ice-out may lead to increased nutrient loading (De Senerpont Domis et al. 2013), or conversely, reductions in the duration of winter ice cover may contribute to reduced under-ice nitrate production (Powers et al. 2017), thus links between ice-out and changes in nutrients remain unclear. In addition, increased light exposure from earlier ice-out can alter dissolved organic carbon concentrations and quality (Cory et al. 2014). It is important to note that changes in ice-out have effects on chemical pathways in lakes, but that climate factors also influence chemical pathways independent of ice-out. For example, in the Arctic, warming promotes thawing of permafrost, which may increase nutrient loading to lakes (Levine and Whalen 2001) and further affect aquatic ecosystems, making it important to distinguish links between ice-out and phytoplankton to better resolve how future climate will alter aquatic ecosystems.

To address the extent to which ice-out affects phytoplankton dynamics requires a better understanding of how spring and summer lake conditions vary between early and late ice-out years and how they compare in different regions. How different are lake conditions in an early versus late ice-out year? To improve mechanistic understanding of the influence of ice-out on Arctic and boreal lake ecosystems, we evaluated the effects of ice-out timing on thermal stratification and differences in biological and biogeochemical characteristics in an early and late ice-out regime. We analyzed data from two inter-annual monitoring datasets, one from the Arctic (a set of 3 lakes in West Greenland) and one from the boreal zone (a lake in Maine, USA). These datasets were collected over multiple years to assess changing lake conditions over time and were originally collected for two different studies. We chose two years from each of these datasets for which monitoring data were available and that had the largest differences in ice-out dates (Table C.1). Ice-out timing differed by at least three weeks and we compared a suite of physical, chemical and phytoplankton metrics between the years in each area.

5.3. Methods

5.3.1. Study design

To compare the responses of Arctic and boreal lakes to the timing of ice-out, we used data from two inter-annual monitoring datasets that were originally collected for two different studies. In the Arctic, a set of three lakes was monitored, while in the boreal region, one lake was monitored. For the boreal lake, we chose two years from the dataset in which ice-out timing differed by 41 days (2012 early ice-out and 2015 late ice-out; Table 5.1). Data were available for both years to compare lake parameters during late spring (hereafter referred to simply as spring), as well as during the peak of summer stratification (hereafter referred to as summer). For the Arctic lakes, data were available to compare spring lake parameters during two years in which ice-out timing differed by 30 days (2016 early ice-out and 2015 late ice-out; Table 5.1). Summer data were not available for 2015 but were available for 2013, a year in which ice-out was 22 days later than in 2016 (Table 5.1). As a result, for the Arctic lakes, the comparisons of spring lake parameters are from one set of years (2016 versus 2015) and for a different set of years (2016 versus 2013) for summer responses. This limits our ability in the Arctic lakes to address questions about whether ice-out effects on spring conditions are sustained into summer. Ice-out dates for the Arctic and boreal regions from 2010 to 2016 can be found in Appendix C.

Dogion		Sp	oring	Summer		
Region		Early ice-out	Late ice-out	Early ice-out	Late ice-out	
Arctic	Year	2016 2015		2016	2013	
	Ice-out date	18 May	17 June	18 May	9 June	
	Sampling dates	28–30 June	27 June–1 July	15–17 July	19–21 July	
Boreal	Year	2012	2015	2012	2015	
	Ice-out date	19 March	29 April	19 March	29 April	
	Sampling dates	11 June	11 June	12 July	10 July	

Table 5.1. Dates of comparison for early ice-out versus late ice-out years in Arctic and boreal ecosystems. Comparisons were also made in the late spring (denoted Spring) and in mid-summer during peak thermal stratification (denoted Summer). Range of dates for Arctic includes sampling at all 3 lakes.

5.3.2. Site description

The Arctic lakes in this study are located adjacent to Kangerlussuaq, southwest Greenland, which is situated within the Arctic Circle and spans from the Greenland Ice Sheet to midway to the coast (Figure 5.2). Soils are derived from weathered granidoritic gneisses (Nielsen 2017) and vegetation is variable but consists largely of woody shrubs around the lakes in this study. Continuous permafrost underlies the region (Nielsen 2017) and surface inflow and outflow are not typically apparent (Hasholt and Anderson 2003). Mean summer temperature is 10.2 °C from June to August and precipitation averages 173 mm per year (Saros et al. 2016). Ice-out typically occurs between late May and late June with thermal stratification occurring very quickly thereafter (Brodersen and Anderson 2000). This region contains approximately 20,000 lakes that are mostly chemically dilute and oligotrophic (Anderson et al. 2001). The three lakes selected for this study are all located in the Kellyville region to the east of Kangerlussuaq (Table 5.2). The lakes are generally small and similar in depth and surface area (Table 5.2). These lakes are not fed by the Greenland Ice Sheet, therefore turbidity is low.

The boreal lake in this study, Jordan Pond, is located in Acadia National Park in Maine, USA (Figure 5.2; Table 5.2). Lakes in Acadia National Park cover 2,600 acres of

the approximately 35,000-acre park. Soils in Acadia are derived from granite and schist tills, and granite dominates the landscape throughout the park (Gilman et al. 1988). Representative of northern boreal forest, spruce-fir forests persist in Acadia with stands of oak, maple and beech dominant in some areas that were burned in a fire in 1947. Data from Acadia National Park's weather station suggests average summer temperature from June through August is 19 °C and average annual precipitation is 1,455 mm. Ice-out timing is variable but typically occurs between late March and late April. Jordan Pond is an oligotrophic lake with a maximum depth of 45 m and is somewhat larger than the Arctic lakes in this study.


Figure 5.2. Map depicting the location of the (A) Arctic and (B) boreal study sites.

Region	Lake	Lat	Long	Elevation (m)	Surface Area (km ²)	Volume (×10 ⁶ m ³)	Max Depth (m)
Arctic	SS2	66.99	-50.96	190	0.368	2.49	12
	SS85	66.98	-51.06	195	0.246	0.94	11
	SS1590	67.01	-50.98	200	0.243	1.16	18
Boreal	Jordan	44.33	-68.26	83	0.800	17.4	45

Table 5.2. Select characteristics of the 4 study lakes.

5.3.3. Climate variables

Air temperature and precipitation data for Jordan Pond were collected from the Acadia National Park McFarland Hill (ACAD-MH) weather station. Air temperature and precipitation data for Kangerlussuaq and the Arctic lakes were collected from the Kangerlussuaq airport (DMI 04231) weather station.

5.3.4. Comparative lake sampling

5.3.4.1. Physical

Sampling across all four of the study lakes was conducted using the same methods during each of the dates listed in Table 1. Secchi depth was measured on the shady side of the boat using a black and white disc. Temperature profiles consisted of measurements at each meter down to 25 m using a YSI EXO2 Sonde (Xylem Inc., Yellow Springs, OH, USA). Epilimnion thickness was calculated based on temperature profiles and defined as the first depth at which there was ≥ 1 °C change per meter. Water column stability (Schmidt stability) was calculated from temperature profiles and lake bathymetry using the rLakeAnalyzer package in R [44]. The onset of stratification for the boreal lake was determined as the first day there was a ≥ 1 °C difference per meter in the water column.

5.3.4.2. Chemical

Water was collected from the epilimnion, metalimnion and hypolimnion using a van Dorn bottle at each lake for analysis of total phosphorus (TP) and dissolved inorganic

nitrogen (DIN), which is the sum of nitrate (NO₃⁻) and ammonium (NH₄⁺). For analysis of DIN, NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺, samples were filtered through Whatman GF/F filters pre-rinsed with deionized water. Flow injection analysis using the phenate (NH₄-N) and cadmium reduction (NO₃-N) methods (APHA 2000) on a Lachat Quikchem 8500 (Hach Company, Loveland, CO, USA) flow injection analyzer (FIA) were used to quantify NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺. TP was determined from whole-water samples using persulfate digestion followed by the ascorbic acid method on a Lachat Quickchem 8500 (Hach Company, Loveland, CO, USA) flow injection analyzer (APHA 2000). After analysis, TP and DIN samples from the epilimnion, metalimnion and hypolimnion were averaged for comparison. Nutrient limitation status was identified by the ratio of DIN:TP, with DIN:TP < 1.5 indicating N limitation, DIN:TP > 3.4 indicating P limitation and values from 1.5 to 3.4 suggesting co-limitation (Bergström 2010).

Water from the epilimnion was used for analysis of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations and specific ultraviolet absorbance at 254 nm (SUVA₂₅₄). All DOC concentration and SUVA₂₅₄ samples were filtered through Whatman GF/F filters pre-rinsed with deionized water. A Shimadzu Total Organic Carbon Analyzer (Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto, Japan) was used to analyze DOC concentrations and a Varian Carey UV-VIS spectrophotometer (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA) was used to analyze SUVA₂₅₄ by measuring dissolved absorbance property at 254 nm. To provide corrected dissolved absorbance values, a Milli-Q deionized water blank was subtracted from the raw absorbance values and Naperian dissolved absorption coefficients were calculated using the following equation (Helms et al. 2008):

$$a_d = \frac{2.303 \times D}{r}$$

where *D* is the decadal optical density value from the spectrophotometer and *r* (measured in meters) is the path length of the quartz cuvette. The DOC-specific absorption coefficient, SUVA₂₅₄, was calculated by dividing a_d (254 nm) by the DOC concentration (mg C L⁻¹).

5.3.4.3. Biological

Water was also collected from the epilimnion, metalimnion and hypolimnion at each lake using a van Dorn bottle to determine phytoplankton biomass (as chlorophyll *a*). Chlorophyll samples from each depth were filtered through 25 mm Whatman GF/F filters, wrapped in aluminum foil and frozen until analysis. All chlorophyll *a* samples were analyzed within three weeks of filtration and processed using standard methods (APHA 2000). Filters were ground and 90% acetone was used to extract chlorophyll overnight, then samples were centrifuged and a Varian Cary UV-VIS spectrophotometer (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA) was used to analyze chlorophyll *a* concentrations. After analysis, chlorophyll *a* values from all three depths were averaged on each date to capture a water column average.

We also assessed the response of key diatom taxa that are demonstrated indicators of climate-driven lake ecosystem changes. The relative abundances of *Cyclotella sensu lato* taxa are often correlated with changes in the timing of ice-out (Rühland et al. 2015) and mechanistically have been linked to thermal structure (Saros et al. 2012). Two 50-mL centrifuge tubes were collected from the epilimnion, metalimnion and hypolimnion from each of the four study lakes on all sample dates. In the boreal lake, phytoplankton samples were available for many dates over the two years of interest; we present results across the entire study period for this lake to demonstrate how the two focal spring and summer dates fit into the full seasonal pattern for this lake. All samples were preserved

with Lugol's solution, settled in Utermohl chambers and counted using a Nikon Eclipse TS-100 (Nikon Instruments Inc., Tokyo, Japan) inverted microscope at 400× magnification.

5.3.5. Data analysis

To evaluate patterns in lake metrics in each region, responses of the three Arctic lakes were averaged (mean \pm standard error) on each date. Qualitative comparisons were made across all data, as the limited sample size and the unequal number of sites between the two regions did not provide enough power to conduct more advanced statistical analyses.

5.4. Results

5.4.1. Arctic region

In the Arctic lakes, ice-out occurred 30 days earlier in 2016 (18 May) compared to 2015 (17 June) and 22 days earlier compared to 2013 (9 June). Air temperatures differed between early and late ice-out years. During the early ice-out year, monthly average air temperatures were 6.9 to 13.7 °C higher from January to April with the biggest temperature differences in March (10.5 °C higher) and April (13.7 °C higher) compared to the 2015 late ice-out year (Figure 5.3). Average May temperature was 3.7 °C higher in the early ice-out year compared to the 2015 late ice-out year were 0 to 1.5 °C higher from January to March compared to the 2013 late ice-out year (Figure 5.3). The largest temperature differences between the early ice-out year and the 2013 late ice-out year were in April (4.7 °C higher) and May (5.5 °C higher). Air temperatures were similar in June and July between the early ice-out year and the 2015 late ice-out years (Figure 5.3).

Precipitation varied among early and late ice-out years. Precipitation during the early ice-out year was 2 mm lower in each month from January to April, however in May precipitation was 11 mm higher in the early compared to the 2015 late ice-out year (Figure 5.3). During the early ice-out year, precipitation in June was 3 mm higher and precipitation in July was 5 mm lower than the 2015 late ice year (Figure 5.3). Precipitation from January to April was lower in the early ice-out year compared to the 2013 late ice-out year with precipitation differences ranging from 0 to 10 mm less (Figure 5.3). During the early ice-out year, May precipitation was 5 mm higher and in June precipitation was 10 mm higher compared to the 2013 late ice-out year. In July, precipitation was 39 mm lower in the early ice-out year compared to the 2013 late ice-out year. So mm lower in the early ice-out year. In July, precipitation was 39 mm lower in the early ice-out year compared to the 2013 late ice-out year. Figure 5.3).



Figure 5.3. Arctic (A) average monthly air temperature in °C and (B) total monthly precipitation in mm for early and late ice-out years.

5.4.1.1. Comparison of spring response across early and late ice-out years

Physical variables of lakes differed in spring between the two years. Water temperature at 2 m was 1.4 °C lower during the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year (2015; Figure 5.4). In the early ice-out year, mixing depths were deeper and water clarity was greater compared to the late ice-out year, with epilimnion thickness 2.3 m greater and Secchi depth 2.3 m deeper in the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year (Figure 5.4). Water column stability was 20 J m⁻² lower during the early ice-out compared to late ice-out year.

Differences across biogeochemical metrics in Arctic lakes in the spring season were variable across early and late ice-out years. DIN and TP had opposite responses in the spring for the two ice-out years. DIN was 5 μ g N L⁻¹ lower and TP was 3 μ g P L⁻¹ greater in the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year. DIN:TP was 1.7 (indicative of co-limitation by N and P) in the early ice-out year compared to 13 (indicative of P limitation) in the late ice-out year (Figure 5.4). DOC concentration was higher in the early ice-out year by 6.8 mg L⁻¹ and SUVA₂₅₄ was higher by 1.6 mg C L⁻¹ m⁻¹ during early ice-out compared to late ice-out (Figure 5.4).



Figure 5.4. Comparison of lake metrics for early and late ice-out conditions during the spring and summer in Arctic lakes. Responses of the three Arctic lakes are averaged (mean \pm standard error) on each date. For the 2016 early ice-out year, spring sampling occurred from 28–30 June and summer sampling was conducted from 15–17 July. For late ice-out years, spring sampling occurred from 27 June–1 July 2015 and summer sampling was conducted from 19–21 July 2013.

In terms of algal response, algal biomass was similar in early and late ice-out years. Average integrated chlorophyll *a* concentration was 0.3 μ g L⁻¹ lower in the early ice-out compared to the late ice-out year (Figure 5.4). Diatom cell densities of the three centric species were different in spring for early and late ice-out years. *D. stelligera* was three times lower in the early ice-out year (by 55 cells mL⁻¹) compared to late ice-out. *L. bodanica* was 1.6 cells mL⁻¹ higher in the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year. *L. radiosa* was five times lower (29 cells mL⁻¹) in the early ice-out year compared to late ice-out year compared to late ice-out year.



Figure 5.5. Comparison of diatom species in Arctic and borel lakes. Comparisons are of (A) *Discostella stelligera*; (B) *Lindavia bodanica*; and (C) *Lindavia radiosa* in Arctic lakes and (D) *Discostella stelligera* and (E) *Lindavia bodanica* in a boreal lake for early and late ice-out years. Phytoplankton collection occurred at the time of sampling for all lake metrics for spring and summer and early and late ice-out years. Responses of the three Arctic lakes are averaged (mean \pm standard error) on each date. Purple points indicate overlapping results for early and late ice-out years.

5.4.1.2. Comparison of summer response across early and late ice-out years

Water temperature at 2 m was 1.8 °C higher in the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year (2013), the opposite of spring conditions (Figure 5.4). The deeper mixing depths and greater water clarity in the early ice-out year were sustained from spring, with epilimnion thickness 1.3 m greater and Secchi depth 2 m deeper in the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year (Figure 5.4). Stability was 14 J m⁻² higher in the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year; the opposite of spring conditions (Figure 5.4).

Biogeochemical metrics were variable in the summer season between early and late ice-out years. DIN and TP responded the same as during spring conditions. DIN was 9 μ g N L⁻¹ lower and TP was 6 μ g P L⁻¹ greater in the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year and DIN:TP was 0.9 (indicating N limitation) in the early ice-out year compared to 8.8 (indicating P limitation) in the late ice-out year (Figure 5.4). DOC concentration was higher in the early ice-out year by 1.3 mg L⁻¹ and SUVA₂₅₄ was higher by 1.5 mg C L⁻¹m⁻¹ during early ice-out compared to late ice-out (Figure 5.4).

For algal biomass, average integrated chlorophyll *a* was 0.3 μ g L⁻¹ lower in the early ice-out year compared to late ice-out, the same as during spring conditions (Figure 5.4). Diatom cell densities of the three centric species were similar between early and late ice-out years in summer, demonstrating a different response from spring conditions (Figure 5.5).

5.4.2. Boreal region

In Jordan Pond, ice-out occurred 41 days earlier in the early ice-out year, on 19 March 2012 compared to the late ice-out year in which ice-out occurred on 29 April 2015. Air temperature differences between the two years were largest in February and March and the largest precipitation differences occurred in May. In the early ice-out year, air temperatures were 9.3 °C higher in February and 6.2 °C higher in March compared to the late ice-out year (Figure 5.6). In January and from April to May, air temperature was 1.9 °C higher and ranged from 1.5 °C to 2.3 °C higher in the early ice-out year in comparison to the late ice-out year (Figure 5.6). Precipitation in April and May was 25 mm and 116 mm higher in the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year (Figure 5.6). In January and March, precipitation was similar during both early and late ice-out years and in February, June and July, precipitation was slightly lower in the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year (Figure 5.6).



Figure 5.6. Boreal (A) average monthly air temperature in °C and (B) total monthly precipitation in mm for early and late ice-out years.

5.4.2.1. Comparison of spring response across early and late ice-out years

Physical parameters of Jordan Pond varied between early and late ice-out years in spring. Water temperature at 2 m was 0.5 °C higher in the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year (Figure 5.7). In the early ice-out year, mixing depths were shallower and water clarity was greater. Epilimnion thickness was 2 m shallower and Secchi depth was 5.9 m deeper in the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year (Figure 5.7). Water column stability was 51 J m⁻² higher in the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year was on 18 May and on 20 May during the 2015 late ice-out year.

Biogeochemical metrics were variable in the spring between the two years. DIN concentration was higher by 15 μ g N L⁻¹ and TP concentration was the same (2 μ g P L⁻¹) in the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year and DIN:TP was 11 (indicating P limitation) in the early ice-out year compared to 3.5 (also P limitation) in the late iceout year (Figure 5.7). DOC concentrations were equal for early and late ice-out (1.7 mg L⁻¹) and SUVA₂₅₄ was higher by 0.2 mg C L⁻¹ m⁻¹ for early ice-out compared to late iceout (Figure 5.7).



Figure 5.7. Comparison of lake metrics for early and late ice-out conditions during the spring and summer in the boreal lake. Responses represent one sampling for each of the time periods. For the 2012 early ice-out year, spring sampling occurred on 11 June and summer sampling was conducted on 12 July. For the 2015 late ice-out year, spring sampling occurred on 11 June and summer sampling was conducted on 10 July. Purple points indicate overlapping results for early and late ice-out years.

Algal biomass was similar in early and late ice-out years during the spring. The average integrated chlorophyll *a* concentration was 1.0 μ g L⁻¹ in the early ice-out year compared to 1.5 μ g L⁻¹ in the late ice-out year (Figure 5.7). Diatom cell densities in spring of the two centric species present, *D. stelligera* and *L. bodanica*, were both lower in the early ice-out compared to late ice-out year, however the magnitude of response of the two species varied. *D. stelligera* was seven times lower in the early ice-out year (129 cells mL⁻¹) compared to late ice-out. *L. bodanica* was 2 cells mL⁻¹ or three times lower in the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year (Figure 5.5).

5.4.2.2. Comparison of summer across early and late ice-out years

In summer, conditions of physical lake metrics were sustained from spring. In the early ice-out year, mixing depths remained shallower and water clarity was greater. Epilimnion thickness was 1 m shallower and Secchi depth was 2 m deeper in the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year (Figure 5.7). Stability in summer was 227 J m^{-2} higher in the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year (Figure 5.7).

Biogeochemical metrics varied in response between early and late ice-out years and also with season. DIN, TP and DIN:TP were similar across seasons. DIN was 13 μ g N L⁻¹ higher and TP was 1 μ g P L⁻¹ lower in the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year and DIN:TP was 8 (indicating P limitation) in the early ice-out year compared to 1 (indicating N limitation) in the late ice-out year (Figure 5.7). DOC quantity and quality differed across seasons during early and late ice-out years. DOC concentration was 0.1 mg L⁻¹ higher and SUVA was lower by 0.5 mg C L⁻¹m⁻¹ for early ice-out compared to late ice-out (Figure 5.7).

Patterns in algal biomass switched from spring to summer during the early and late ice-out years. In contrast to spring, integrated summer chlorophyll *a* concentration

was 1.3 μ g L⁻¹ higher in the early ice-out year compared to late ice-out (Figure 5.7). Cell density patterns of D. stelligera were sustained across seasons and were six times lower in the early ice-out year (by 125 cells mL⁻¹) compared to late ice-out. Summer cell densities of L. bodanica were equal when comparing early and late ice-out years with concentrations of 6.6 cells mL⁻¹ (Figure 5.5). Overall seasonal patterns of D. stelligera and L. bodanica suggest that the spring and summer measurements were representative of seasonal patterns. Figure 8 demonstrates similar changes in the two phytoplankton species throughout the spring and summer seasons. D. stelligera and L. bodanica had lower cell densities during the early ice-out compared to the late ice-out year from May to mid June. D. stelligera remained lower from mid June to mid July while L. bodanica became more similar between early and late ice-out years. D. stelligera were consistently lower throughout the spring and summer seasons in the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year, differences throughout the season ranged from 88 to 148 cells mL⁻¹ (Figure 5.8). L. bodanica were consistently lower from early May to mid June with differences ranging from 0.5 to 4.4 cells mL⁻¹, slightly higher in early July by 0.96 cells mL⁻¹ and lower by 0.37 cells mL⁻¹ in mid July during the late ice-out year compared to the early ice-out year (Figure 5.8).



Figure 5.8. Seasonal comparison of (A) *Discostella stelligera* and (B) *Lindavia bodanica* in the boreal lake. Comparisons are from May to mid-July during early and late ice-out years.

5.5. Discussion

Our results reveal differences in the response of certain lake metrics in Arctic and boreal regions between early and late ice-out years. During early compared to late ice-out years, Arctic lakes had deeper mixing depths while the boreal lake had a shallower mixing depth. This supports an influence of the timing of ice-out on the length of spring turnover as well as the strength and stability of stratification but with differing effects between the two regions. Nutrient concentrations and inferred limitation patterns also differed across years and regions, though the effects of other factors that determine nutrient loading to lakes (precipitation, permafrost thaw) likely played a stronger role in driving these patterns than the timing of ice-out. Biological responses in the two years across the two regions also differed, with no differences in algal biomass in the Arctic lakes in relation to ice-out and variable effects over seasons in the boreal lake. The cell densities of key Cyclotella sensu lato taxa that respond to thermal structure also varied across the years and regions. Collectively, our results indicate that the timing of ice-out is one important driver among many that influence the physical, chemical and biological responses of lake ecosystems to climate, and that the effects of ice-out timing differ between the two regions.

Stratification patterns differed between ice-out years and regions, likely owing to how the timing of ice-out relates to solar insolation patterns. Ice-out occurs between May and June in Arctic lakes, when solar insolation is near its peak (Kirk 1994; Figure 5.9) and air temperatures are higher, relative to the year, thus Arctic lakes stratify quickly after ice-out. The length of spring turnover is generally short but important for the timing, depth and stability of stratification (Prowse et al. 2006). The rapid warming of surface layers in the late ice-out year, when ice off occurred only four days before the annual

peak insolation, likely led to the observed shallower stratification depths across Arctic lakes. In contrast, ice-out occurs between March and May in boreal lakes, when solar insolation is lower relative to peak insolation (Kirk 1994; Figure 5.9), leading to longer spring turnover periods with extended homothermal mixing of the water column compared to that in Arctic lakes. In the boreal lake, earlier ice-out led to a longer period of spring turnover compared to late ice-out, as the date of the onset of stratification in Jordan Pond for both years was similar. Shallower mixing depths during the early ice-out year correspond with stronger stability, stronger stratification and warmer water temperature at 2 m, similar to observations from King et al. (1999). Compared to the Arctic lakes, the effects of ice-out on the depth and stability of stratification were not as large in the boreal lake, even though the length of the spring turnover period in the boreal lake was 39 days longer. This finding is supported by other work that suggests the timing of the onset of stratification is not directly linked to ice-out timing (Weyhenmeyer et al. 1999; Arvola et al. 2009).



Figure 5.9. Change in daily solar insolation from January through July for 60° N (representative of the Arctic region) and 40° N (representative of the boreal region). Vertical dashed lines indicate early (red) and late (blue) ice-out dates for the Arctic region and vertical solid lines indicate early (red) and late (blue) ice-out dates for the boreal region. Late ice-out is averaged between the 2013 and 2015 ice-out years. Data are plotted from Buffo et al. (1972).

Precipitation amounts were greater in the Arctic and boreal regions during the spring months in the early ice-out years, likely contributing to increased lake water nutrient concentrations. In the early ice-out years, the Arctic region had higher precipitation in May and June and the boreal region had higher precipitation from March through May. Spring precipitation in the Arctic region falls predominantly as snow, including the high precipitation in May during the early ice-out year, which was 82% snow. In the boreal region, precipitation mostly falls as snow from January through March and falls as mostly rain for the remaining spring and summer months. The increased precipitation in May during the early ice-out year fell as rain. Precipitation is a strong driver of increased nutrient inputs to lakes (Jeppesen et al. 2011; Fulton et al. 2015) and has important effects on terrestrial-aquatic linkages. In both Arctic and boreal lakes, nutrient concentrations and ratios in lakes are affected by alterations in terrestrial export related to climate influences on weathering, precipitation and runoff (Bergström and Jannson 2006; Rip et al. 2007). A key variable further influencing terrestrial-aquatic linkages and consequently nutrient limitation patterns in the Arctic, is permafrost thawing. Permafrost thawing is accelerating the delivery of P to many Arctic lakes (Hobbie et al. 1999; Frey and McClelland et al. 2009), in part owing to mobilization of P stored in thawing permafrost as well as to changes in groundwater flow paths. Patterns in nutrient concentrations across years in our study differed regionally. In Arctic lakes, DIN concentrations were lower and TP concentrations were higher during the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year. In contrast, DIN concentrations in the boreal lake were higher in the early ice-out year and TP concentrations were the same during the two years. These differences in nutrient concentrations led to varying spring nutrient limitation patterns across the regions. Arctic lakes were N and P co-limited in the early

ice-out year and P limited in the late ice-out year, while the boreal lake was P limited during both early and late ice-out years. Overall, climate differences between the ice-out years likely drove changes in terrestrial-aquatic linkages that dominated the different lake nutrient conditions, independent of direct effects of ice-out.

While precipitation and permafrost thaw are primary drivers of nutrients in lakes, internal processes related to changes in thermal structure can also influence nutrient availability (Jeppesen et al. 2005; Wilhelm and Adrian 2008). Ice-out occurs closer to peak solar insolation in the Arctic lakes, likely contributing to short, perhaps incomplete, turnover periods and rapid stratification with late ice-out, with reduced entrainment of P into the photic zone. In contrast, regardless of ice-out timing, the boreal lake has a longer period of spring turnover than Arctic lakes, leading to complete turnover. These differences, in addition to changes in precipitation and permafrost, may influence nutrient cycling and nutrient availability within the lakes. Changes in the depth of the mixed surface layer, or epilimnion, can also alter nutrient cycling (DeStasio et al. 1996; Wilhelm and Adrian 2008); however, our results do not provide direct links between nutrient availability and thermal structure or the timing of ice-out. In our study, more precipitation occurred during the early ice-out period, after ice-out and before stratification, which may have influenced DIN and TP concentrations due to runoff. It is possible that precipitation, temperature and epilimnion thickness all contributed to varying DIN concentrations and N:P ratios across all lakes, but direct links between nutrients and the timing of ice-out remain unclear. With continued changes in climate, the relationships between nutrient availability and length of spring turnover and lake thermal structure warrant further study.

Secchi depth was deeper during the early ice-out year in all lakes, while DOC concentrations and SUVA254 were variable in the Arctic and boreal regions. In the Arctic lake, DOC concentrations and SUVA254 were higher in the early ice-out year compared to the late ice-out year and in the boreal lake, DOC concentrations and SUVA254 showed little change between ice-out years. DOC strongly influences transparency in lakes and, similar to nutrients, is altered by many factors in addition to ice-out. In the Arctic region, these factors may include precipitation and permafrost thaw and the deepening of soil active layers (Frey et al. 2007; Tank et al. 2012), as well as photodegradation (De Senerpont Domis et al. 2013), which may increase with earlier ice-out. Cory et al. (2014) found changes in DOC may be driven by photochemical oxidation of organic carbon and that sunlight may control the fate of DOC in Arctic surface waters. Our results are inconsistent with photodegradation as a primary mechanism controlling DOC, as DOC concentrations and SUVA₂₅₄ were higher during the early ice-out year. Higher DOC and SUVA₂₅₄ in the early ice-out year suggest that precipitation and permafrost thaw are likely important drivers in explaining our results. Precipitation was higher in May and June during the early ice-out year, which could increase inputs from terrestrial-aquatic linkages. It is important to note that the Arctic lakes in this study have low color DOC (Saros et al. 2016), therefore deep Secchi depths may be accompanied by high DOC concentrations. In the boreal region, DOC is usually dominated by allochthonous material and lake water DOC concentrations often increase with precipitation (Parker et al. 2008). Similar DOC and SUVA₂₅₄ values in early and late ice-out years do not provide evidence to support links between DOC and ice-out, nor do we have enough evidence to elucidate mechanisms in links between similar DOC and deeper Secchi depth in the early ice-out year based on our results. Based on our evidence, differences in climate have strong

controls on changes in DOC, which are likely key contributors to the differences observed in this study, rather than direct effects from ice-out.

Algal biomass varied little between early and late ice-out years in both the Arctic lakes and the boreal lake, with algal biomass generally being slightly lower in the early ice-out years compared to the late ice-out years. An exception to this finding occurred during the summer season in the boreal lake, in which algal biomass was higher in the early ice-out year. This result contrasts with other work that suggests increases in algal biomass due to warming (Persson 1992; Jeppesen 2003; Hansson 2012) and earlier ice-out regimes (De Senerpont Domis et al. 2013); however, Kraemer et al. (2017) found that there is not a direct relationship between warming and algal biomass. Instead, lake surface temperature and trophic state are important in determining algal biomass, thus nutrients and light may be key contributors in algal biomass response and not only lake warming or direct ice-out effects.

The responses of key diatom taxa that are often indicators of thermal structure conditions varied across the two regions. In the Arctic lakes, differences in thermal stratification depths across ice-out years affected cell densities of key diatom taxa in the spring. Cell densities of *D. stelligera* and *L. radiosa* were lower during the early ice-out year, with deeper mixing depths, compared to the late ice-out year. *Discostella stelligera* is more abundant in lakes with shallower mixing depths (Saros et al. 2016), and *L. radiosa* is more abundant under high light conditions typical of shallower mixing depths (Malik and Saros 2016). In contrast, cell densities of *L. bodanica* were higher during the early ice-out year with deeper mixing depths; this taxon has a deeper mixing depth optimum than other *Cyclotella* taxa (Bergstöm 2010). Patterns for these species in Arctic lakes indicated a strong relationship with mixing depth, resulting in differences in cell

densities across differing ice-out years. In contrast, links between these taxa and thermal structure were less clear in the boreal lake. *Discostella stelligera* was more abundant in the late ice-out year, which had deeper mixing depths; this pattern was sustained over the entire open-water season. The same pattern was observed for *L. bodanica*, even though mixing depths showed only small differences across the two ice-out years. Boeff et al. (2016) also found that *D. stelligera* was more abundant in some Maine lakes in late ice-out years, in contrast to the early ice-out patterns found in some other areas (Rühland et al. 2008; Wiltse et al. 2016). The effects of the complex interactions between light and nutrients on *Cyclotella* taxa are well known and reviewed by Saros and Anderson (2015), and are likely behind the weaker links between thermal structure and taxon responses in this boreal lake compared to those observed in Arctic lakes.

Identifying seasonal effects throughout the open water season provides important insights into the differences between lake responses in Arctic and boreal regions. In Arctic lakes, with the exception of temperature at 2 m, spring and summer response of lake metrics (Figure 5.4) are sustained between the seasons from the early ice-out year to both the 2013 and 2015 late ice-out years. The biggest difference between spring and summer was a decrease in overall cell densities of phytoplankton (Figure 5.5). The change in water temperature across the Arctic lakes was likely due to differences between the different late ice-out years used in this study. The boreal lake had larger differences in the lake metric values between the early and late ice-out years (Figure 5.7). The use of two different late ice-out years for the Arctic region make comparisons between spring and summer difficult, however the variation in lake metric values, cell densities of phytoplankton and changes in lake characteristics between the Arctic and boreal regions

are likely due to climate conditions at ice-out, which include differences in solar insolation, precipitation and temperature, as well as differences in the timing of stratification relative to ice-out between the two regions. Further investigation of how changes to lake variables are sustained throughout the season relative to ice-out and climate factors could provide important insights about drivers of change in phytoplankton community structure.

Our research provides evidence that lake responses in Arctic and boreal regions differ between early and late ice-out years. However, it is ultimately a combination of climate factors, importantly solar insolation, air temperature, precipitation, and, in the Arctic, permafrost thaw, that are key drivers of the observed responses. Key findings of this study include regional differences in mixing depths and the relationships between length of spring turnover and the strength and stability of stratification. These differences, in concert with climate factors, have further implications for nutrient and light availability and subsequent effects on phytoplankton community structure and biomass. Future work that explicitly examines the pathways and links between the physical and biological effects would strengthen the understanding of how the timing of ice-out influences the biological properties within lakes. Regional differences within the Northern Hemisphere can elicit contrasting lake responses, which will be altered with future climate changes, thus underscoring the importance of this research.

CHAPTER 6

CONCLUSION

The goal of this research was to demonstrate how precipitation events affect DOC in aquatic ecosystems and identify potential losses associated with changes in water quality. This research investigated changes in both DOC quantity and DOC quality metrics. There were consistent patterns of change in DOC response from individual storm events and there were consistencies in the response of DOC quality metrics across lakes during different times of year. This research evaluated a method to link changes in DOC from precipitation events to WTP estimates. The responses in DOC quantity and quality were dependent on lake and watershed specific characteristics. Changes in DOC were correlated to changes in water clarity and secondarily WTP, which was also dependent on lake and watershed specific characteristics. Response of DOC to precipitation events during different times of year and response of Arctic and boreal lakes during early and late ice-out years were mediated by climate factors.

In chapter 2, precipitation events contributed to short-term abrupt changes in DOC quantity and quality. Three key patterns of DOC response emerged from the results of this study, an immediate spike, a sustained increase, and no changes in DOC concentration in response to precipitation events. The same patterns were revealed in the response of SUVA₂₅₄, *a**₃₂₀, and *a**₃₈₀ with an increase in the variability in the response in lakes where DOC concentrations did not change. A key driver of observed changes in DOC concentration and quality metrics was residence time, and WA:LA likely also contributed to lake response. Research from this chapter helps to preemptively alter management strategies to ensure high water quality for drinking water resources.

In chapter 3, changes in DOC concentration and SUVA₂₅₄ corresponded to changes in Secchi depth and secondarily to WTP from improved water quality. WTP was highest in lakes with Secchi depths that ranged from 2 to 4 m and lowest in lakes with Secchi depths that were deeper than 6 m. WTP values also correlated to the maximum depth of each lake, residence time, percent wetland coverage, and DOC and SUVA₂₅₄. This research demonstrates a cost effective and simple method to link changing DOC from precipitation events with losses due to changes in water quality, while acknowledging that improved methodology and connection between the ecological data and economic models would substantially improve WTP estimates.

In chapter 4, DOC quality metrics responded differently to an early summer storm compared to an autumn storm, while response of mean DOC concentration was similar across lakes. Storm response was mediated by a combination of lake and watershed characteristics and seasonal changes in climate such as solar radiation and antecedent weather conditions were also likely important factors affecting DOC response. The balance of the response of DOC quality metrics during the early summer storm suggest photobleaching was the dominant process, whereas the balance of the response of DOC quality metrics during the autumn storm suggest increased allochthonous inputs and bacterial processing were the dominant processes contributing to change. Findings from this chapter reveal important variation in DOC quality metrics during different times of year, which could assist with improved monitoring or management of aquatic resources.

In chapter 5, the response of certain lake metrics in Arctic and boreal regions differed between early and late ice-out years. A combination of climate factors, including solar insolation, air temperature, precipitation, and, in the Arctic, permafrost thaw, were key drivers of observed lake responses. Mixing depths and the relationships between

length of spring turnover and the strength and stability of stratification differed between regions. These differences have important implications for nutrients and light availability for phytoplankton communities. The results indicate that the timing of ice-out is one important driver among many that influence the physical, chemical and biological responses of lake ecosystems to climate.

Broadly, this research provides insight into patterns of response that persist due to particular climate changes to help further research and understanding. Collectively, chapters 2 and 3 help to establish a baseline for implications to water treatment systems and for establishing adaptive management strategies from precipitation events. Chapter 4 provides important contributions to evaluation of DOC quality metrics in addition to research on DOC concentration and attempts to link response to precipitation events to seasonal variation. Chapter 5 addresses regional differences climate factors which affect lake response that vary between early and late ice-out years. These findings that ultimately result from changes in climate have important implications for lake structure and function and can help to inform adaptive strategies and management decisions to protect these important resources.

Future research is important as precipitation events are predicted to continue to increase in frequency and intensity, particularly in the autumn months. Therefore, increased variability in lakewater DOC metrics may be expected in the future. This research serves as a starting point for establishing adaptive management strategies. Continued evaluation of the response of DOC quality metrics (in addition to DOC concentration) from precipitation events may help to further the research on identifying pre-cursors to DBP's. Additional monitoring of DOC concentration and quality from storm events with further analysis of how this may vary during different times of year

could improve the effectiveness of management plans and potentially reduce costs. In particular, better integrated ecological and economic models could significantly improve adaptation and management strategies as ecological models often do not contain certain data relevant to the economic models. Establishing a better understanding of these relationships between physical and chemical changes in aquatic ecosystems is important, and future research connecting physical and biological properties of lakes is also important for maintaining aquatic ecosystem structure and function. Identifying changes in phytoplankton community response may reveal insights into taste and odor problems for drinking water utilities or identify key changes that could affect the base of the food web.

REFERENCES

- Adrian, R., O'Reilly, C.M., Zagarese, H., Baines, S.B., Hessen, D.O., Keller, W., Livingstone, D.M., Sommaruga, R., Straile, D., Van Donk, E., Weyhenmeyer, G.A., Winder, M. 2009. Lakes as sentinels of change. Limnol. Oceanogr. 54, 2283–2297.
- Ågren, A., Buffam, I., Jansson, M., Laudon, H. 2007. Importance of seasonality and small streams for the landscape regulation of dissolved organic carbon export. J. Geophys. Res. G03003.
- Anderson, N.J., Harriman, R., Ryves, D.B., Patrick, S.T. 2001. Dominant factors controlling variability in the ionic composition of West Greenland lakes. Arct. Antarct. Alp. Res. 33, 418–425.
- APHA (American Public Health Association). Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, 20th ed. 2000, Washington, D.C., APHA.
- Arvola, L, George, G., Livingstone, D.M., Järvinen, M., Blenckner, T., Dokulil, M.T., Jennings, E., Aonghusa, C.N., Nõges, P., Nõges, T., Weyhenmeyer, G. 2009. The impact of the changing climate on the thermal characteristics of lakes. In *The Impact of Climate Change on European Lakes*; Aquatic Ecology Series; George, G., Ed.; Springer: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, Volume 4, pp. 85–102, ISBN 978-90-481-2944-7.
- Aulló-Maestro, M.E., Hunter, P., Spyrakos, E., Mercatoris, P., Kovács, A., Horváth, H., Preston, T., Présing, T., Palenzuela, J.T., Tyler, A. 2017. Spatio-seasonal variability of chromophoric dissolved organic matter absorption and responses to photobleaching in a large shallow temperate lake. Biogeosciences 14, 1215–1233.
- Bateman, I.J., Mace, G.M., Fezzi, C., Atkinson, G., Turner, K. 2011. Economic analysis for ecosystem service assessments. Environ. Resource Econ. 48, 177–218.
- Beier, C.M., Stella, J.C., Dovciak, M., McNulty, S.A. 2012. Local climatic drivers of changes in phenology at a boreal-temperate ecotone in eastern North America. Clim. Change 115, 399–417.
- Benson, B.J., Magnuson, J.J., Jensen, O.P., Card, V.M., Hodgkins, G., Korhonen, J, Livingstone, D.M., Stewart, K.M., Weyhenmeyer, G.A., Granin, N.G. 2012. Extreme events, trends and variability in Northern Hemisphere lake-ice phenology (1855–2005). Clim. Change 112, 299–323.
- Berggren, M., Klause, M., Selvam, B.P., Strom, L., Laudon, H., Jansson, M., Karlsson, J. 2018. Quality transformation of dissolved organic carbon during water transit through lakes: contrasting controls by photochemical and biological processes. Biogeosciences 15,457–470.

- Bergström, A.-K., Jannson, M. 2006. Atmospheric nitrogen deposition has cause nitrogen enrichment and eutrophication of lakes in the Northern Hemisphere. Glob. Chang. Biol. 12, 635–643.
- Bergström, A.K. 2010. The use of TN:TP and DIN:TP ratios as indicators for phytoplankton nutrient limitation in oligotrophic lakes affected by N deposition. Aquat. Sci. 72, 277–281.
- Bertilsson, S., Tranvik, L.J. 2000. Photochemical transformation of dissolved organic matter in lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 45(4), 753–762.
- Beyene, M.T., Jain, S. 2015. Wintertime weather-climate variability and its links to early spring ice-out in Maine lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 60, 1890–1905.
- Blumenfeld, J., Leal, S. February 18, 2007. The real cost of bottled water. San Francisco Chronicle Sunday.
- Boeff, K.A., Strock, K.E., Saros, J.E. 2016. Evaluating planktonic diatom response to climate change across three lakes with differing morphometry. J. Paleolimnol. 56, 33–47.
- Booth, P.L., Guilfoos, T., Uchida, E. 2016. Endowment effects and drinking water quality. Agric. Resour. Econ. Rev. 45(2), 338–366.
- Boyle, K., Schuetz, J., Kahl, S. 1997. Great ponds play an integral role in Maine's economy. Department of Resource Economics and Policy Staff Paper REP 473, April 1997.
- Brodersen, K.P., Anderson, N.J. 2000. Subfossil insect remains (Chironomidae) and lakewater temperature inference in the Sisimiut-Kangerlussuaq region, southern West Greenland. Geol. Greenland Surv. Bull. 186, 78–82.
- Bromley, D.W. 1995. Property rights and natural resource damage assessments. Ecol. Econ. 14, 129–135.
- Brown, T.C., Gregory, R. 1999. Why the WTA–WTP disparity matters. Ecol. Econ. 28, 323–335.
- Brown, R., Nelson, S.J., Saros, J.E. 2017. Paleolimnological evidence of the consequences of recent increased dissolved organic carbon (DOC) in lakes of the northeastern USA. J. Paleolimnol. 57, 19–35.
- Buffo, J., Fritschen, L.J., Murphy, J.L. Direct Solar Radiation on Various Slopes from 0 to 6 Degrees North Latitude; USDA Forest Service Research Paper, PNW-142; Pacific Northwest Forest and Range Experiment Station: Portland, OR, USA, 1972.

- Burns, M.A., Barnard, H.R., Gabor, R.S., McKnight, D.M., Brooks, P.D. 2016. Dissolved organic matter transport reflects hillslope to stream connectivity during snowmelt in a montane catchment. Water Resour. Res. 52, 4905–4923.
- Canham, C.D., Pace, M.L., Papaik, M.J., Primack, A.G.B., Roy, K.M., Maranger, R.J., Curran, R.P., Spada, D.M. 2004. A spatially explicit watershed-scale analysis of dissolved organic carbon in Adirondack lakes. Ecol. Appl. 14(3), 839–854.
- Rosenberger, R.S., Loomis, J.B. 2003. Benefit transfer. In: A primer on nonmarket valuation, Champ, P.A., Boyle, K.J., Brown, T.C. [Eds.] Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, New York, USA.
- Chen, C., Zhang, X-J., Zhu, L-x., Liu, J., He, W-j., Han, H-d. 2008. Disinfection byproducts and their precursors in a water treatment plant in North China: seasonal changes and fraction analysis. Sci. Total Environ. 397, 140–147.
- Chen, M., He, W., Choi, I., Hur, J. 2016. Tracking the monthly changes of dissolved organic matter composition in a newly constructed reservoir and its tributaries during the initial impounding period. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 23, 1274–1283.
- Christman, R.F., Kronkerg, L., Sing, R. Ball, L.M., Johnson, J.D. 1990. Identification of mutagenic byproducts from aquatic humic chlorination. Denver: AWWA Research Foundation and AWWA.
- Cory, R.M., Ward, C.P., Crump, B.C., Kling, G.W. 2014. Sunlight controls water column processing of carbon in Arctic freshwaters. Science 345, 925–928.
- Couture, S., Houle, D., Gagnon, C. 2012. Increases of dissolved organic carbon in temperate and boreal lakes in Quebec, Canada. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 19, 361–371.
- Creed, I.F., Sanford, S.E., Beall, F.D., Molot, L.A., Dillon, P.J. 2003. Cryptic wetlands: integrating hidden wetlands in regression models of the export of dissolved organic carbon from forested landscapes. Hydrol. Process. 17, 3629–3648.
- Curtis, P.J., Schindler, D.W. 1997. Hydrologic control of dissolved organic matter in low-order Precambrian Shield lakes. Biogeochemistry 36, 125–138.
- Delpla, L., Jung, a-V., Baurès, E., Clement, M., Thomas, O. 2009. Impacts of climate change on surface water quality in relation to drinking water production. Environ. Int. 35, 1225–1233.
- De Senerpont Domis, L.N., Elser, J.J., Gsell, A.S., Huszar, V.L.M., Ibelings, B.W., Jeppesen, E., Kosten, S., Mooij, W.M., Roland, F., Sommer, U., Van Donk, E., Winder, M., Lürling, M. 2013. Plankton dynamics under different climatic conditions in space and time. Freshwater Biol. 58, 463–482.

- DeStasio, B.T., Hill, D.K., Kelinhans, J.M., Nibbelink, N.P., Magnuson, J.J. 1996. Potential effects of global climate change on small north-temperate lakes: Physics, fish and plankton. Limnol. Oceanogr. 41, 1136–1149.
- Dillon, P.J., Molot, L.A. 1997. Effect of landscape form on export of dissolved organic carbon, iron, and phosphorus from forested stream catchments. Water Resour. Res. 33(11), 2591–2600.
- Donat, M.G., Alexander, L.V., Yang, H., Durre, I., Vose, R., Dunn, R.J.H., Willett, K.M., Aguilar, E., Brunet, M., Caesar, J., Hewitson, B., Jack, C., Klein Tank, A.M.G., Kruger, A.C., Marengo, J., Peterson, T.C., Renom, M., Oria Rojas, C., Rusticucci, M., Salinger, J., Elrayah, A.S., Sekele, S.S., Srivastava, A.K., Trewin, B., Villarroel, C., Vincent, L.A., Zhai, P., Zhang, X., Kitching, S. 2013. Updated analyses of temperatures and precipitation extreme indicies since the beginning of the twentieth century: The HadEX2 dataset. J. Geophys. Res. 118, 2098–2118.
- Douglas, M.S.V., Smol, J.P., Pienitz, R., Hamilton, P. 2004. Algal indicators of environmental change in Arctic and Antarctic lakes and ponds. In *Long-Term Environmental Change in Arctic and Antarctic Lakes*; Pienitz, R., Douglas, M.S.V., Smol, J.P., Eds.; Springer: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp. 117–157.
- Downing, M., Ozuna, T. 1996. Testing the reliability of the benefit transfer function approach. J. Environ. Econ. Manage. 30, 316–322.
- DWP Annual Compliance Report. 2017. Public Drinking Water in Maine: A Report from the Maine CDC Drinking Water Program. Maine Center for Disease Control and Prevention.
- Easterling, D.R., Evans, J.L., Groisman, P. Ya., Karl, T.R., Kunkel, K.E., Ambenje, P. 2000. Observed variability and trends in extreme climate events: a brief review.
 B. Am. Meteorol. Soc. 81(3), 417–425.
- Easterling, D.R., Arnold, J., Knutson, T., Kunkel, K., LeGrande, A., Ruby Leung, L., Vose, R., Waliser, D., Wehner, M. 2017. Precipitation change in the United States. In: Climate Change Science Report: A Sustained Assessment Activity of the U.S. Global Change Research Program [Wuebbles, D.J., D.W. Fahey, K.A. Hibbard, D.J. Dokken, B.C. Stewart, and T.K. Maycock (eds.)]. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, USA (2017), pp.301–335.
- Easterling, D.R., Kunkel, K.E., Arnold, J.R., Knutson, T., LeGrande, A., Leung, L.R., Vose, R.S., Waliser, D.E., Wehner, M.F. 2017. Precipitation change in the United States. In: Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume 1 [Wuebbles, D.J., Fahey, D.W., Hibbard, K.A., Dokken, D.J., Stewart, B.C., and Maycock, T.K. (eds.)]. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, USA, 2017. pp. 207–230.
- Engstrom, D.R. 1987. Influence of vegetation and hydrology on the humus budgets of Labrador lakes. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 44, 1306–1314.
- EPA. 2018. Environmental Protection Agency, Ground water and drinking water. https://www.epa.gov/ground-water-and-drinking-water
- Evans, C.D., Monteith, D.T., Cooper, D.M. 2005. Long-term increases in surface water dissolved organic carbon: Observations, possible causes and environmental impacts. Environ. Pollut. 137, 55–71.
- Fasching, C., Ulseth, A.J., Schelker, J., Steniczka, G., Battin, T.J. 2016. Hydrology controls dissolved organic matter export and composition in an Alpine stream and its hyporheic zone. Limnol. Oceanogr. 61, 558–571.
- Fernandez, I.J., Schmitt, C.V., Birkel, S.D., Stancioff, E., Pershing, A.J., Kelley, J.T., Runge, J.A., Jacobson, G.L., Mayewski, P.A. 2015. Maine's Climate Future: 2015 Update. Orono, ME: University of Maine 24 pp.
- Frei, A., Kunkel, K.E., Matonse, A. 2015. The seasonal nature of extreme hydrological events in the northeastern United States. J. Hydrometeorol. 16, 2065–2085.
- Frey, K.E., Siegel, D.I., Smith, L.C. 2007. Geochemistry of west Siberian streams and their potential response to permafrost degradation. Water Resour. Res. 43, W03406.
- Frey, K.E., McClelland, J.W. 2009. Impacts of permafrost degradation on Arctic river biogeochemistry. Hydrol. Process. 23, 169–182.
- Fu, P.Q., Wu, F.C., Liu, C.Q., Wie, Z.Q., Bai, Y.C., Liao, H.Q. 2006. Spectroscopic characterization and molecular weight distribution of dissolved organic matter in sediment porewaters from Lake Erhai, Southwest China. Biogeochemistry 81(2), 179–189.
- Fulton, R.S. III, Godwin, W.F., Schaus, M.H. 2015. Water quality changes following nutrient loading reduction and biomanipulation in a large shallow subtropical lake, Lake Griffin, Florida, USA. Hydrobiologia 753, 243–263.
- Futter, M.N. 2003. Pattern and trends in Southern Ontario lake ice phenology. Environ. Monit. Assess. 88, 431–444.
- Gadgil, A. 1998. Drinking water in developing countries. Annu. Rev. Energ. Environ. 23, 253–286.
- Gavin, A.L., Nelson, S.J., Klemmer, A.J., Fernandez, I.J., Strock, K.E., McDowell, W.H. 2018. Acidification and climate linkages to increased dissolved organic carbon in high-elevation lakes. Water Resour. Res. 54, 5376 –5393.
- Ge, J., Kling, C.L., Herriges, J.A. 2013. How much is clean water worth? Valuing water quality improvement using a meta analysis. Working Paper No. 13016. September 2013. Iowa State University, Department of Economics, Ames, Iowa, U.S.

- Gennings, C., Molot, L.A., Dillon PJ 2001. Enhanced photochemical loss of organic carbon in acidic waters. Biogeochemistry 52:339–354.
- Gergel, S.E., Turner, M.G., Kratz, T.K. 1999. Dissolved organic carbon as an indicator of the scale of watershed influence on lakes and rivers. Ecol. Appl. 9, 1377–1390.
- Gilman, R.A., Chapman, C.A., Lowell, T.V., Borns, H.W., Jr. 1988. The Geology of Mount Desert Island: A Visitors Guide to the Geology of Acadia National Park; Maine Geol. Surv., Department of Conservation: Augusta, ME, USA, pp. 1–50.
- Griffiths, C., Klemick, H., Massey, M., Moore, C., Newbold, S., Simpson, D., Walsh, P., Wheeler, W. 2012. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency valuation of surface water quality improvements. Rev. Environ. Econ. Policy 6, 130–146.
- Groisman, P.Y., Karl, T.R., Easterling, D.R., Knight, R.W., Jamason, P.F., Hennessy,
 K.J., Suppiah, R., Page, C.M., Wibig, J., Fortuniak, K., Razuvaev, V.N., Douglas,
 A., Forland, E., Zhai, P.M. 1999. Changes in the probability of heavy
 precipitation: Important indicators of climate change. Clim. Change 42, 243–283.
- Hampton, S.E., Galloway, A.W.E., Powers, S.M., Ozersky, T., Woo, K.H., Batt, R.D., Labou, S.G., O'Reilly, C.M., Sharma, S., Lotting, N.R., Stanley, E.H., North, R.L., Stockwell, J.D., Adrian, R., Weyhenmeyer, G.A., Arvola, L., Baulch, H.M., Bertani, I., Bowman, L.L., Carey, C.C., et al. 2017. Ecology under lake ice. Ecol. Lett. 20, 98–111.
- Hansson, L. 2012. Food-chain length alters community responses to global change in aquatic systems. Nat. Clim. Change 2, 1–6.
- Hargreaves, B.R. 2003. Water column optics and penetration of UVR p.59–105. In EW Helbling and HE Zagarese (eds) UV effects in aquatic organisms and ecosystems. Comprehensive series in photochemistry and photobiology. Royal Society of Chemistry.
- Hasholt, B., Anderson, N.J. 2003. On the formation and stability of oligosaline lakes in the arid, low arctic area of Kangerlussuaq, south-west Greenland. In Proceedings of the Northern Research Basins-14th International Symposium and Workshop, Greenland, Denmark, 25–29 August 2003; C.A. Reitzel: Kobenhavn, Denmark; pp. 41–48.
- Helms, J.R., Stubbins, A., Ritchie, J.D., Minor, E.C., Kieber, D.J., Mopper, K. 2008. Absorption spectral slopes and slope ratios as indicators of molecular weight, source, and photobleaching of chromophric dissolved organic matter. Limnol. Oceanogr. 53(3), 955–969.
- Hinton, M.J., Schiff, S.L., English, M.C. 1997. The significance of storms for the concentration and export of dissolved organic carbon from two Precambrian Shield catchments. Biogeochemistry 36, 147–165.

- Hobbie, J.E., Peterson, B.J., Bettez, N., Deegan, L., O'Brien, W.J., Kling, G.W., Kipphut, G.W., Bowden, W.B., Hershey, A.E. 1999. Impact of global change on the biogeochemistry and ecology of an Arctic freshwater system. Polar Res. 18, 207– 214.
- Hood, E., Gooseff, M.N., Johnson, S.L. 2006. Changes in the character of stream water dissolved organic carbon during flushing in three small watersheds, Oregon. J. Geophys. Res. 111, G01007.
- Houle, D., Carignan, R., Lachance, M. 1995. Dissolved organic carbon and sulfur in southwestern Quebec lakes: relationships with catchment and lake properties. Limnol. Oceangr. 40(44), 710–717.
- Hruska, J., Laudon, H., Johnson, C.E., Kohler, S., Bishop, K. 2001. Acid/base character of organic acids in a boreal stream during snowmelt. Water Resour. Res. 37, 1043–1056.
- Huang, L., Ban, J., Duan, B., Bi, J., Yuan, Z. 2013. Public demand for remediating a local ecosystem: comparing WTP and WTA at Hongze Lake, China. Lake Reserv. Manag. 29, 23–32.
- Huang, H., Winter, J.M., Osterberg, E.C., Horton, R.M., Beckage, B. 2017. Total and extreme precipitation changes over the northeastern United States. J. Hydrometeorol. 18(6), 1783–1798.
- Huang, H., Winter, J.M., Osterberg, E.C. 2018. Mechanisms of abrupt extreme precipitation change over the northeastern United States. J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 123, 7179–7192.
- Huber, D.G., Gulledge, J. 2011. Extreme weather and climate change: Understanding the link and managing the risk. Center for Climate and Energy Solutions, 1–13.
- Hudson, J.J., Dillon, P.J., Somers, K.M. 2003. Long-term patterns in dissolved organic carbon in boreal lakes: The role of incident radiation, precipitation, air temperature, southern oscillation and acid deposition. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sc. 7(3), 390–398.
- Inamdar, S.P., Mitchell, M.J. 2006. Hydrologic and topographic controls on storm-event exports of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and nitrate across catchment scales. Water Resour. Res. 42, W03421.
- Jassby, A.D., Goldman, C.R., Reuter, J.E., Richards, R.C. 1999. Origins of scale dependence of temporal variability in the transparency of Lake Tahoe, California-Nevada. Limnol. Oceanogr. 44, 282–294.
- Jaffe, R., McKnight, D., Maie, N., Cory, R., McDowell, W.H., Campbell, J.L. 2008. Spatial and temporal variations in DOM composition in ecosystems: The

importance of long-term monitoring of optical properties. J. Geophys. Res. 113, G04032.

- Jennings, E., Jones, S., Arvola, L., Staehr, P.A., Gaiser, E., Jones, I.D., Weathers, K.C., Weyhenmeyer, G.A., Chiu, C-Y., De Eyto, E. 2012. Effects of weather-related episodic events in lakes: an analysis based on high-frequency data. Freshwater Biol. 57, 589–601.
- Jensen, O.P., Benson, B.J., Magnuson, J.J., Card, V.M., Futter, M.N., Soranno, P.A., Stewart, K.M. 2007. Spatial analysis of ice phenology trends across the Laurentian Great Lakes region during a recent warming period. Limnol. Oceanogr. 52, 2013–2026.
- Jentsch, A., Kreyling, J., Beierkuhnlein, C. 2007. A new generation of climate-change experiments: events, not trends. Front. Ecol. Environ. 5(7), 365–374.
- Jentsch, A., Beierkuhnlein, C. 2008. Research frontiers in climate change: Effects of extreme meteorological events on ecosystems. C. R. Geoscience 340, 621–628.
- Jeong, J.H., Kug, J.S., Linderholm, H.W., Chen, D., Kim, B.M., Jun, S.Y. 2014. Intensified Arctic warming under greenhouse warming by vegetation-atmospheresea ice interaction. Environ. Res. Lett. 9, 94007.
- Jeppesen, E. 2003. The impact of nutrient state and lake depth on top down control in the pelagic zone of lakes: A study of 466 lakes from the temperate zone to the Arctic. Ecosystems 6, 313–325.
- Jeppesen, E., Søndergaard, M., Jensen, J.P., Havens, K.E., Anneville, O., Carvalho, L., Coveney, M.F., Deneke, R., Dokulil, M.T., Foy, B., Gerdeaux D., Hampton, S.E., Hilt, S., Kangur, K., Köhler, J., Lammens, E.H.H.R., Lauridsen, T.L., Manca, M., Miracle, M.R., Moss, B., et al. 2005. Lake responses to reduced nutrient loadingan analysis of contemporary long-term data from 35 case studies. Freshwater Biol. 50, 1747–1771.
- Jeppesen, E., Kronvang, B., Olesen, J.E., Larson, S.E., Audet, J., Søndergaard, M., Hoffmann, C.C., Andersen, H.E., Lauridsen, T.L., Liboriussen, L., Larsen, S.E., Belkioglu, M., Meerhoff, M., Özen, A., Özkan, K. 2011. Climate Change effects on nitrogen loading from cultivated catchments in Europe: Implications for nitrogen retention, ecological state of lakes and adaptation. Hydrobiologia 633, 1– 21.
- Jones, S.E., Solomon, C.T., Weidel, B. 2012. Subsidy or subtraction: How do terrestrial inputs influence consumer production in lakes? Freshw. Rev. 5, 37–49.
- Karl, T.R., Knight, R.W., Plummer, N. 1995. Trends in high-frequency climate variability in the twentieth century. Nature 377, 217–220.

Keeler, B., Polasky, S., Brauman, K.A., Johnson, K.A., Finlay, J.C., O'Neill, A., Kovacs,

K., Dalzell, B. 2012. Linking water quality and well-being for improved assessment and valuation of ecosystem services. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109(45), 18619–18624.

- Khomotova, T.E., Shirshova, L.T., Tinz, S., Rolland, W., Richter, J. 2000. Mobilization of DOC from sandy loamy soils under different land use (Lower Saxony, Germany). Plant Soil 219(1-2), 13–19.
- Kienel, U., Kirillin, G., Brademann, B., Plessen, B., Lampe, R., Brauer, A. 2017. Effects of spring warming and mixing duration on diatom deposition in deep Tiefer Sea, NE Germany. J. Paleolimnol. 57, 37–49.
- King, J.R., Shuter, B.J., Zimmerman, A.P. 1999. Signals of climate trends and extreme events in thermal stratification pattern of multibasin Lake Opeongo, Ontario. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 56, 847–852.
- Kinzig, A.P., Perrings, C., Chapin III, F.S., Polasky, S., Smith, V.K., Tilman, D., Turner, B.L. 2011. Paying for ecosystem services – Promise and peril. Science 334, 603– 604.
- Kirk, J.T.O. 1994. *Light and Photosynthesis in Aquatic Ecosystems*, 2nd ed.; Cambridge University Press: New York, NY, USA, pp. 40–45, ISBN 0521459664.
- Kirk, J.T.O. 2011. Light and Photosynthesis in Aquatic Ecosystems, Third Ed. 662 pp. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.
- Klug, J.L., Richardson, D.C., Ewing, H.A., Hargreaves, B.R., Samal, N.R., Vachon, D., Pierson, D.C., Lindsey, A.M., O'Donnell, D.M., Effler, S.W., Weathers, K.C. 2012. Ecosystem effects of a tropical cyclone on a network of lakes in Northeastern North America. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 11693–11701.
- Kortelainen, P. 1993. Content of total organic carbon in Finnish Lakes and its relationship to catchment characteristics. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 50, 1477–1483.
- Kraemer, B.M., Mehner, T., Adrian, R. 2017. Reconciling the opposing effects of warming on phytoplankton biomass in 188 large lakes. Sci. Rep. 7, 10762.
- Krysel, C. Boyer, E.M., Parson, C., Welle, P. 2003. Lakeshore property values and water quality: Evidence from property sales in the Mississippi headwaters region. Submitted to the Legislative Commission on Minnesota Resources: St. Paul, MN, 59 pp.
- Kunkel, K.E. 2003. North American trends in precipitation. Nat. Hazards 29, 291–305.
- Kuusisto, E. 1987. An analysis of the longest ice observation series made on Finish lakes. Aqua Fenn. 17, 123–132.

- Larson, S., Andersen, T., Hessen, D. 2011. Climate change predicted to cause severe increase of organic carbon in lakes. Global Change Biol. 17, 1186–1192.
- Ledesma, J.L.J., Kohler, S.J., Futter, M.N. 2012. Long-term dynamics of dissolved organic carbon: Implications for drinking water supply. Sci. Total Environ. 432, 1–11.
- Lee, H., Swamikannu, X., Radulescu, D., Kim, S.J., Stenstrom, M.K. 2007. Design of stormwater monitoring programs. Water Res. 41, 4186–4196.
- Lepistö, A., Futter, M.N., Kortelained, P. 2014. Almost 50 years of monitoring show that climate, not forestry, controls long-term organic carbon fluxes in a large boreal watershed. Glob. Change Bio. 20, 1225–1237.
- Levine, M.A., Whalen, S.C. 2001. Nutrient limitation of phytoplankton production in Alaskan Arctic foothill lakes. Hydrobiologia 455, 189–201.
- Livingstone, D.M. 2000. Large-scale climatic forcing detected in historical observations of lake ice break-up. Verh. Int. Ver. Theor. Angew. Limnol. 27, 2775–2783.
- Livingstone, D.M. 2008. A change of climate provokes a change of paradigm: Taking leave of two tacit assumptions about physical lake forcing. Int. Rev. Hydrobiol. 93, 404–414.
- Madsen, T., Figdor, E. 2007. When it Rains, it Pours: Global Warming and the Rising Frequency of Extreme Precipitation in the United States. Environment America Research and Policy Center, 47pp.
- Madsen, T., Wilcox, N. 2012. When It Rains, It Pours: Global Warming and the increase in extreme precipitation from 1948 to 2011. Environment America Research and Policy Center, 43pp.
- Magnuson, J.J., Robertson, D.M., Benson, B.J., Wynne, R.H., Livingstone, D.M., Arai, T., Assel, R.A., Barry, R.G., Card, V., Kuusisto, E., Granin, N.G., Prowse, T.D., Stewart, K.M., Vuglinski, V.S. 2000. Historical trends in lake and river ice cover in the Northern Hemisphere. Science 289, 1743–1746.
- Malik, H.I, Saros, J.E. 2016. Effects of temperature, light and nutrients on five *Cyclotella sensu lato* taxa assessed with in situ experiments in Arctic lakes. J. Plankton Res. 38, 431–442.
- Matilainen, A., Vepsäläinen, M., Sillanpää, M. 2010. Natural organic matter removal by coagulation during drinking water treatment: A review. Adv. Colloid Interfac. 159, 189–197.
- McBean, G. 2005. Arctic Climate Impact Assessment—Scientific Report; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK.

- McCullough, I.M., Loftin, C.S., Sader, S.A. 2013. Landsat imagery reveals declining water transparency of Maine's lakes during 1995-2010. Freshwater Sci. 32, 741–752.
- McKnight, D.M., Hood, E., Klapper, L. 2003. Trace organic moieties of dissolved organic material in natural waters. Aquatic Ecosystems pp. 71–96. National Science Foundation, Boulder, CO.
- Meili, M. 1992. Sources, concentrations and characteristics of organic matter in softwater lakes and streams of the Swedish forest region. Hydrobiologia 229, 23–41.
- Meis, S., Thackeray, S.J., Jones, I.D. 2009. Effects of recent climate change on phytoplanton phenology in a temperate lake. Freshwater Biol. 54, 1888–1898.
- Melillo, J.M., Richmond, T.C., Yohe, G.W., Eds. 2014. *Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program. 841pp.
- Molot, L.A., Dillon, P.J. 1997. Photolytic regulation of dissolved organic carbon in northern lakes. Global Biogeochem. Cy. 11, 357–365.
- Monteith, D.T., Stoddard, J.L., Evans, C.D., de Wit, H.A., Forsius, M., Hogasen, T., Wilander, A., Skjelkvale, B.L., Jeffries, D.S., Vuorenmaa, J., Keller, B., Kopacek, J., Vesely, J. 2007. Dissolved organic carbon trends resulting from changes in atmospheric deposition chemistry. Nature 450, 537–540.
- Moore, T. 2003. Dissolved organic carbon in a northern boreal landscape. Global Biogeochem. Cy. 17(4), 1109–1117.
- Morabito, G., Rogora, M., Austoni, M., Ciampittiello, M. 2018. Could the extreme meteorological events in Lake Maggiore watershed determine a climate-driven eutrophication process? Hydrobiologia 824, 163–175.
- Morris, D.P., Zagarese, H., Williamson, C.E., Balseiro, E.G., Hargreaves, B.R., Modenutti, B., Moeller, R., Queimalinos, C. 1995. The attenuation of solar UV radiation in lakes and the role of dissolved organic carbon. Limnol. Oceanogr. 40, 1381–1391.
- Nguyen, H.V-M., Lee, M-H., Hur, J., Schlautman, M.A. 2013. Variations in spectroscopic characteristics and disinfection byproduct formation potentials of dissolved organic matter for two contrasting storm events. J. Hydrol. 481, 132–142.
- Nicholls, K.H. 1995. Chrysophyte blooms in the plankton and neuston of marine and freshwater systems. In: Sandgren, C.D., Smol, J.P., Kristiansen, J. (eds.): Chrysophyte Algae: Ecology, Phylogeny, and Development: 181-213. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

- Nicholls, K.H., Gerrath, J.F. 1985. The taxonomy of Synura (Chrysophyceae) in Ontario with special reference to taste and odor supplies. Can. J. Bot. 63, 1482–1493.
- Nielsen, A.B. 2010. Present Conditions in Greenland and the Kangerlussuaq Area, Working Report. Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland. Available online: http://www.posiva.fi/files/1244/WR_2010-07web.pdf (assessed on 30 October 2017).
- Oliver, B.G., Thurman, E.M., Malcolm, R.I. 1983. The contribution of humic substances to the acidity of colored natural waters. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta. 47, 203–2035.
- Osburn, C.L., O'Sullivan, D.W., Boyd, T.J. 2009. Increases in the longwave photobleaching of chromophoric dissolved organic carbon in coastal waters. Limnol. Oceangr. 54, 145–159.
- Pace, M.L., Cole, J.J. 2002. Synchronous variation of dissolved organic carbon and color in lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 47(2), 333–342.
- Padisák, J., -Tóth, L.G., Rajczy, M., 1988. The role of storms in the summer succession of the phytoplankton community in a shallow lake (Lake Balaton, Hungary). J. Plankton. Res. 10(2), 249–265.
- Pagano, T., Bida, M., Kenny, J.E., 2014. Trends in levels of allochthonous dissolved organic carbon in natural water: A review of potential mechanisms under a changing climate. Water 6, 2862–2897.
- Park, K.Y., Yu, Y.J., Yun, S.J., Kweon, J.H. 2019. Natural organic matter removal from algal-rich water and disinfection by-products formation potential reduction by powdered activated carbon adsorption. J. Environ. Manage. 235, 310–318.
- Parker, B.R., Vinebrooke, R.D., Schindler, D.W. 2008. Recent climate extremes alter alpine lake ecosystems. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 105, 12917–12931.
- Peeters, F., Livingstone, D.M., Goudsmit, G.H., Kipfer, R., Forster, R. 2002. Modeling 50 years of historical temperature profiles in a large central European lake. Limnol. Oceanogr. 47, 186–197
- Peeters, F., Straile, D., Lorke, A., Livingstone, D.M. 2007. Earlier onset of the spring phytoplankton bloom in lakes of the temperate zone in a warmer climate. Glob. Chang. Biol. 13, 1898–1909.
- Peltomaa, E., Ojala, A., Holopainen, A.L., Salonen, K. 2003. Changes in phytoplankton in a boreal lake during a 14-year period. Boreal Environ. Res. 18, 387–400.
- Perdue, E.M. 1998. Chemical composition, structure, and metal binding properties, in *Aquatic Humic Substances*, edited by D.O. Hessen and L.J. Tranvik. Pp. 41–61, Springer, New York.

- Persson, L. 1992. Trophic interactions in temperate lake ecosystems: A test of food chain theory. Am. Nat. 140, 59–84.
- Philips, E.J., Cichra, M., Aldrige, F.J., Jembeck, J., Hendrickson, J., Brody, R. 2000. Light availability and variations in phytoplankton standing crops in a nutrient-rich blackwater river. Limnol. Oceangr. 45, 916–929.
- Plewa, M.J., Wagner, E.D. 2009. Quantitative comparison mammalian cell cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of selected classes of drinking water disinfection by-products. Denver, USA: Water Research Foundation.
- Powers, S.M., Labou, S.G., Baulch, H.M., Hunt, R.J., Lottig, N.R., Hampton, S.E., Stanley, E.H. 2017. Ice duration drives winter nitrate accumulation in north temperate lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr. Lett. 2, 177–186.
- Prairie, Y.T. 2008. Carbocentric limnology: Looking back, looking forward. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 65(3), 543–548.
- Preston, D.L., Caine, N., McKnight, D.M., Williams, M.W., Hell, K., Miller, M.P.; Hart, S.J., Johnson, P.T.J. 2016. Climate regulates alpine lake ice cover phenology and aquatic ecosystem structure. Geophys. Res. Lett. 43, 5353–5360.
- Prowse, T.D., Wrona, F.J., Reist, J.D., Gibson, J.J., Hobbie, J.E., Levesque, L.M.J., Vincent, W.F. 2006. Climate change effects on hydroecology of Arctic freshwater ecosystems. Ambio 35, 347–358.
- Quintliliani, C., Di Cristo, C., Leopardi, A. 2018. Vulnerability assessment to trihalomethane exposure in water distribution systems. Water 10, 912.
- Rasmussen, J.B., Godbout, L., Schallenberg, M. 1989. The humic content of lake water and its relationship to watershed and lake morphometry. Limnol. Oceangr. 34(77), 1336–1343.
- Raymond, P.A., Saiers, J.E., Sobczak, W.V. 2016. Hydrological and biogeochemical controls on watershed dissolved orgnaic matter transport: pulse-shunt concept. Ecology 97(1), 5–16.
- Read. J.S., Hamilton, D.P., Jones, I.D., Muraoka, K., Winslow, L.A., Kroiss, R., Wu, C.H., Gaiser, E. 2011. Derivation of lake mixing and stratification indices from high-resolution lake buoy data. Environ. Model Softw. 25, 1325–1336.
- Reichwaldt, E.S., Ghadouani, A. 2012. Effects of rainfall patterns on toxic cyanobacterial blooms in a changing climate: Between simplistic scenarios and complex dynamics. Water Res. 46, 1372–1393.
- Reynolds, C.S., 1984. The ecology of freshwater phytoplankton. Cambridge University Press, New York, USA.

- Richardson, S.D., Plewa, M.J., Wagner, E.D., Schoeny, R., Demarini, D.M. 2007. Occurrence, genotoxicity, and carcinogenicity of regulated and emerging disinfection by-products in drinking water: a review and roadmap for research. Mutat. Res. 636, 178–242.
- Rip, W.J., Ouboter, M.R.L., Los, H.J. 2007. Impact of climatic fluctuations on Characeae biomass in a shallow, restored lake in the Netherlands. Hydrobiologia 584, 415– 424.
- Ritson, J.P., Graham, N.J.D., Templeton, M.R., Clark, J.M., Gough, R., Freeman, C. 2014. The impact of climate change on the treatability of dissolved organic matter (DOM) in upland water supplies: A UK perspective. Sci. Total. Environ. 473– 474, 714–730.
- Rochelle, B.P., Liff, C.I., Campbell, W.G., Cassel, D.L., Church, M.R., Nusz, R.A. 1989. Regional relationships between geomorphic/hydrologic parameters and surface water chemistry relative to acidic deposition. J. Hydrol. 122, 103–120.
- Roesler, C., Culbertson, C. 2016. Lake Transparency: A window into decadal variations in dissolved organic carbon concentrations in lakes of Acadia National Park, Maine. In: Gilbert, P., Kana, T. (eds.) Aquatic Microbial Ecology and Biogeochemistry: A Dual Perspective. Springer, Cham.
- Roig, B., Delpla, I., Baurès, E., Jung, a-V., Thomas, O. 2011. Analytical issues in monitoring drinking water contamination related to short-term, heavy rainfall events. TrAC Trends Anal. Chem. 30, 1243–1251.
- Rook, J.J. 1974. Formation of haloforms during chlorination in natural waters. Water Treat. Exam. 23, 234–243.
- Roulet, N., Moore, T.R. 2006. Environmental chemistry: browning the waters. Nature, 444, 283–284.
- Rühland, K, Smol, J.P. 2005. Diatom shifts as evidence for recent Subarctic warming in a remote tundra lake, NWT, Canada. Paleogeogr. Paleoclimatol. Paleoecol. 226, 1– 16.
- Rühland, K., Paterson, A.M., Smol, J.P. 2008. Hemispheric-scale patterns of climaterelated shifts in planktonic diatoms from North American and European lakes. Glob. Chang. Biol. 14, 2740–2754.
- Rühland, K., Paterson, A.M., Smol, J.P. 2015. Lake diatom response to warming: Reviewing the evidence. J. Paleolimnol. 54, 1–35.
- SanClements, M.D., Oelsner, G.P., McKnight, D.M., Stoddard, J.L., Nelson, S.J. 2012. New insights into the source of decadal increases of dissolved organic matter in

acid-sensitive lakes of the Northeastern United States. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 3212–3219.

- Saros, J.E., Stone, J.R., Pederson, G.T., Slemmons, K.E.H., Spanbauer, T., Schliep, A., Cahl, D., Williamson, C.E., Engstrom, D.R. 2012. Climate-induced changes in lake ecosystem structure inferred from coupled neo- and paleoecological approaches. Ecology 93, 2155–2164.
- Saros, J.E., Anderson, N.J. 2015. The ecology of the planktonic diatom *Cyclotella* and its implications for global environmental change studies. Biol. Rev. 90, 522–541.
- Saros, J.E., Northington, R.M., Anderson, D.S., Anderson, N.J. 2016. A whole-lake experiment confirms a small centric diatom species as an indicator of changing lake thermal structure. Limnol. Oceanogr. Lett. 1, 27–35.
- Saros, J.E., Northington, R.M., Osburn, C.L., Burpee, B.T., Anderson, N.J. 2016. Thermal stratification in small Arctic lakes of southwest Greenland affected by water transparency and epilimnetic temperatures. Limnol. Oceanogr. 61, 1530– 1542.
- Scheffer, M., Carpenter, S. Foley, J.A., Folk, C., Walker, B. 2001. Catastrophic shifts in ecosystms. Nature 413(6856), 591–596.
- Schindler, D.W. 1971. A hypothesis to explain differences and similarities among lakes in the Experimental Lakes Area, northwestern Ontario. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 28, 295–301.
- Schindler, D.W., Beaty, K.G., Fee, E.J., Cruikshank, D.R., DeBruyn, E.R., Findlay, D.L., Linsey, G.A., Shearer, J.A., Stainton, M.P., Turner, M.A. 1990. Effects of climatic warming on lakes of the central boreal forest. *Science* 250, 967–970.
- Screen, J.A., Simmonds, I. 2010. The central role of diminishing sea ice in recent Arctic temperature amplification. Nature 464, 1334–1337.
- Shang, P., Lu, Y., Du, Y., Jaffe, R., Findlay, R.H., Wynn, A. 2018. Climatic and watershed controls of dissolved organic matter variation in streams across a gradient of agricultural land use. Sci. Total Environ. 612, 1442–1453.
- Smejkalova, T., Edwards, M., Jadunandan, D. 2016. Arctic lakes show strong decadal trend in earlier spring ice-out. *Sci. Rep.* 6, 38449.
- Smol, J.P., Douglas, M.S. 2007. Crossing the final ecological threshold in high Arctic ponds. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104, 12395–12397.
- Snucins, E., Gunn, J. 2000. Interannual variation in the thermal structure of clear and colored lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 45, 1647–1654.

- Solomon, C.T., Stuart, S.E., Weidel, B.C., Buffam, I., Fork, M.L., Karlsson, J., Larsen, S., Lennon, J.T., Read, J.S., Sadro, S., Saros, J.E. 2015. Ecosystem consequences of changing inputs of terrestrial dissolved organic matter to lakes: Current knowledge and future challenges. Ecosystems 18, 376–389.
- Spierre, S.G., Wake, C., Guttekk, R., Hurtt, F., Kelly, T., Markham, A., Schaefer, D., VanDeveer, S. 2010. Trends in Extreme Precipitation Events for Northeastern United States 1948-2007. Carbon Solutions New England, University of New Hampshire, USA.
- Sporka, F., Livingstone, D.M., Stuchlik, E., Turek, J., Galas, J. 2006. Water temperatures and ice cover in lakes of the Tatra Mountains. *Biologia* 61, S77–S90.
- Strock, K.E., Saros, J.E., Nelson, S.J., Birkel, S.D., Kahl, J.S., McDowell, W.H. 2016. Extreme weather years drive episodic changes in lake chemistry: implications for recovery from sulfate deposition and long-term trends in dissolved organic carbon. Biogeochemistry 123(2-3), 353–365.
- Strock, K.E., Theodore, N., Gawley, W.G., Ellsworth, A.C., Saros, J.E. 2017. Increasing dissolved organic carbon concentrations in northern boreal lakes: Implications for lake water transparency and thermal structure. J. Geophys. Res.-Biogeosci. 122, 1022–1035.
- Swift, T.J, Perez-Losada, J., Schladow, S.G., Reuter, J.E., Jassby A.D., Goldman, C.R. Water clarity modeling in Lake Tahoe: Linking suspended matter characteristics to Secchi depth. Aquat. Sci. 68, 1–15.
- Tank, S.E., Frey, K.E., Striegl, R.G., Raymond, P.A., Holmes, R.M., McClelland, J.W., Peterson, B.J. 2012. Landscape-level controls on dissolved organic carbon flux from diverse catchments of the circumboreal. Glob. Biogeochem. Cycles 26, GB0E02.
- Temnerud, J., Hytteborn, J.K., Futter, M.N., Kohler, S.J., 2014. Evaluating common drivers for water color, iron, and organic carbon in Swedish watercourses. AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment 43, 30–44.
- Thomas, O., Burgess, C. 2007. Elsevier ed. UV-Visible spectrophotometry for water and wastewater.
- Tranvik, L.J. 1992. Allochthonous dissolved organic matter as an energy source for pelagic bacteria and the concept of the microbial loop. Hydrobiologia 229, 107–114.
- Tranvik, L.J. 1998. Availability of dissolved organic carbon for planktonic bacteria in oligotrophic lakes of differing humic content. Microb. Ecol. 16, 311–322.
- Tranvik, L.J., Downing, J.A., Cotner, J.B., Loiselle, S.A., Striegl, R.G., Ballatore, T.J., Dillon, P., Finaly, K., Fortino, K., Knoll, L.B., Kortelainen, P.L., Kutser, T.,

Larsen, S., Laurion, I., Leech, D.M., McCallister, S.L., McKnight, D.M., Melack, J.M., Overholt, E., Porter, J.A., et al. 2009. Lakes and reservoirs as regulators of carbon cycling and climate. Limnol. Oceangr. 64(6, part 2), 2298–2314.

- Urban, N.R., Bayley, S.E., Eisenreich, S.J. 1989. Export of dissolved organic carbon and acidity from peatlands. Water Resour. Res. 25, 1619–1628.
- Uyak, V., Toroz, I. 2007. Disinfection by-product precursors reduction by various coagulation techniques in Istanbul water supplies. J. Hazard Mater. 141, 320–328.
- Vachon, D., Lapierre, J.F., del Giorgio, P.A. 2016. Seasonality of photochemical dissolved organic carbon mineralization and its relative contribution to pelagic CO₂ production in northern lakes. J. Geophys. Res.-Biogeosci. 121, 864–878.
- van Leeuwen, J., Daly, R., Holmes, M. 2005. Modelling the treatment of drinking water to maximize dissolved organic matter removal and minimize disinfection byproduct formation. Desalination 176, 81–89.
- von Wachenfeldt, E., Sobek, S., Bastviken, D., Tranvik, L.J. 2008. Linking allochthonous dissolved organic matter and boreal lake sediment carbon sequestration: the role of light-mediated flocculation. Limnol. Oceanogr. 53(6), 2416.
- Walsh, J.J., Weisberg, R.H., Dieterle, D.A., He, R., Darrow, B.P., Jolliff, J.K., Lester, K.M., Vargo, G.A., Kirkpatrick, G.J., Fanning, K.A., Sutton, T.T., Jochens, A.E., Biggs, D.C., Nababan, B., Hu, C., Muller-Karger, F.E. 2003. Phytoplankton response to intrusions of slope water on the West Florida Shelf: Models and observations. J. Geophys. Res.-Oceans 108, 21–31.
- Warner, K.A., Saros, J.E. 2019. Variable responses of dissolved organic carbon to precipitation events in boreal drinking water lakes. Water Res. 156, 315–326.
- Watras, C.J., Morrison, K.A., Host, J.S. 1995. Concentration of mercury species in relationship to other site-specific factors in the surface waters of northern Wisconsin lakes. Limnol. Oceangr. 40(33), 556–565.
- Weishaar, J.L., Aiken, G.R., Bergamaschi, B.A., Fram, M.S., Fuhii, R., Mopper, K. 2003. Evaluation of specific ultraviolet absorbance as an indicator of the chemical composition and reactivity of dissolved organic carbon. Environ. Sci. Technol. 37(20), 4702–4708.
- Wetzel, R.G., Hatcher, P.G., Bianchi, T.S. 1995. Natural photolysis by ultraviolet irradiance of recalcitrant dissolved organic matter to simple substrates for rapid bacterial metabolism. Limnol. Oceanogr. 40, 1369–1380.
- Wetzel, R.G., Likens, G.E. 2000. Limnological Analyses. Springer, New York, NY, 429pp.

- Weyhenmeyer, G.A., Blenckner, T., Pettersson, K. 1999. Changes of the plankton spring outburt related to the North Atlantic Oscillation. Limnol. Oceanogr. 44, 1788–1792.
- Weyhenmeyer, G.A., Willén, E., Sonesten, L. 2004. Effects of an extreme precipitation event on water chemistry and phytoplankton in Swedish Lake Mälaren. Boreal Environ. Res. 9, 409–420.
- Weyhenmeyer, G.A., Meili, M., Livingstone, D.M. 2004. Nonlinear temperature response of lake ice breakup. Geophys. Res. Lett. 31, L07203.
- Weyhenmeyer, G.A., Meili, M., Livingstone, D.M. 2005. Systematic differences in the trend towards earlier ice-out on Swedish lakes along a latitudinal temperature gradient. Verh. Int. Ver. Theor. Angew. Limnol. 29, 257–260.
- Weyhenmeyer, G.A., Froberg, M., Karltun, E., Khalili, M., Kothawala, D., Temnerud, J., Tranvik, L.J. 2012. Selective decay of terrestrial organic carbon during transport from land to sea. Glob. Change Biol. 18, 349–355.
- Whitehead, P.G., Wilby, R.L., Battarbee, R.W., Kernan, M., Wade, A.J. 2009. A review of the potential impacts of climate change on surface water quality. Hydrol. Sci. J. 54, 101–123.
- Whittington, D., Lauria, D., Mu, X. 1991. A study of water vending and willingness to pay for water in Onitsha, Nigeria. World Dev. 19, 179–198.
- Wilhelm, S., Adrian, R. 2008. Impact of summer warming on the thermal characteristics of a polymictic lake and consequences for oxygen, nutrients and phytoplankton. Freshwater Biol. 53, 226–237.
- Williamson, C.E., Morris, D.P., Pace, M.L., Olson, O.G. 1999. Dissolved organic carbon and nutrients as regulators of lake ecosystems: Resurrection of a more integrated paradigm. Limnol. Oceanogr. 44, 795–803.
- Williamson, C.E., Brentrup, J.A., Zhang, J., Renwick, W.H., Hargreaves, B.R., Knoll, L.B., Overholt, E.P., Rose, K.C. 2014. Lakes as sensors in the landscape: Optical metrics as scalable sentinel responses to climate change. Limnol. Oceanogr. 59(3), 840–850.
- Williamson, C.E., Overholt, E.P., Brentrup, J.A., Pilla, R.M., Leach, T.H., Schladow, S.G., Warren, J.D., Urmy, S.S., Sadro, S., Chandra, S., Neale, P.J. 2016. Sentinal responses to droughts, wildfires, and floods: effects of UV radiation on lakes and their ecosystem services. Front. Ecol. Environ. 14(2), 102–109.
- Williamson, C.E., Madronich, S., Lal, A., Zepp, R.E., Lucas, R.M., Overholt, E.P., Rose, K.C., Schladow, G., Lee-Taylor, J. 2017. Climate change-induced increases in precipitation are reducing the potential for solar ultraviolet radiation to inactivate pathogens in surface waters. Sci. Rep. 7, 13033.

Willig, R.D. 1976. Consumer's surplus without apology. Am. Econ. Rev. 66, 589–597.

- Wiltse, B., Paterson, A.M., Findlay, D.L., Cumming, B.F. 2016. Seasonal and decadal patterns in discostella (Bacillariophyceae) species from bi-weekly records of two boreal lakes (Experimental Lakes Area, Ontario Canada). J. Phycol. 52, 817–826.
- Winn, N., Williamson, C.E., Abbitt, R., Rose, K., Renwick, W., Henry, M., Saros, J. 2009. Modeling dissolved organic carbon in subalpine and alpine lakes with GIS and remote sensing. Landscape Ecol. 24, 807–816.
- Wood, R., Handley, J. 1999. Urban waterfront regeneration in the Mersey Basin, North West England. J. Environ. Plan. Manage. 42, 565–580.
- Woodward, G., Bonada, N., Brown, L.E., Death, R.G., Durance, I., Gray, C., Hladyz, S., Ledger, M.E., Milner, A.M., Ormerod, S.J., Thompson, R.M., Pawar, S. 2016. The effects of climatic fluctuations and extreme events on running water ecosystems. Philos. T. R. Soc. B. 371.
- Xenopoulos, M.A., Lodge, D.M., Frentress, J., Kreps, T.A., Bridgham, S.D., Grossman, E., Jackson, C.J. 2003. Regional comparisons of watershed determinants of dissolved organic carbon in temperate lakes from the Upper Great Lakes region and selected regions globally. Limnol. Oceanogr. 48(6), 2321–2344.
- Xenopoulos, M.A. Leavitt, P.R., Schindler, D.W. 2009. Ecosystem-level regulation of boreal lake phytoplankton by ultraviolet radiation. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 66, 2002–2010.
- Yamashita, Y., Nosaka, Y., Suzuki, K., Ogawa, H., Takahashi, K., Saito, H. 2013. Photobleaching as a factor controlling spectral characteristics of chromophoric dissolved organic matter in open ocean. Biogeosciences 10, 7207–7217.
- Zhang, J., Hudson, J., Neal, R., Sereda, J., Clair, T., Turner, M., Jeffries, D., Dillon, P., Molot, L., Somers, K., Hesslein, R. 2010. Long-term patterns of dissolved organic carbon in lakes across eastern Canada: Evidence of a pronounced climate effect. Limnol. Oceanogr. 55, 30–42.

APPENDIX A: MAINE DRINKING WATER PRECIPITATION, NUTRIENT,

AND CHLOROPHYLL INFORMATION

Methods

Precipitation amounts before and during sampling periods

amounts for the 14 de	iys before the pre sa	mpling period, between	een P1 and P2, and	between P2 and]	P3 sampling periods
with maximum daily	precipitation amoun	its indicated in paren	theses. All precipita	tion amounts are	in mm.
	Young Lake	Floods Pond	Chases Pond	Jordan Pond	Sebago Lake
	(Northern Maine	Nokomis Pond	(Pease International	(ACAD-MH)	(Portland International
	Regional at Presque	(Bangor International	Tradeport Station)		Airport Station)
	Isle Station)	Airport Station)			
Storm 1 (9/30/15)	45.2	139.2	71.6	84.1	149.9
14 days prior – Pre	3.1(3.1)	0	0.3 (0.3)	0	0.3(0.3)
P1 - P2	0	0	0	0	0
P2 - P3	17.0(6.9)	23.4(11.9)	13.0(9.4)	27.4 (17.8)	17.5(10.9)
Storm 2 (10/28/15)	29.7	38.4	45.0	62.5	40.1
14 days prior – Pre	17.5 (4.3)	15.2 (5.8)	5.1 (2.5)	15.5 (5.8)	8.9(4.6)
P1 - P2	3.0(3.0)	1.5(1.5)	0.3(0.3)	1.3(1.3)	0.8(0.8)
P2 - P3	14.5(4.8)	8.6(6.6)	26.2 (23.4)	10.9(8.9)	7.9 (5.8)
Storm 3 (11/19/15)	25.4	23.1	27.2	23.1	37.3
14 days prior – Pre	11.4(4.8)	8.4~(6.6)	26.2 (23.4)	10.9(8.9)	7.9 (5.8)
P1 - P2	0	9.7 (9.7)	9.1 (7.9)	28.4(24.9)	8.6(5.3)
Storm 4 (6/5/16)	15.2	18.0	31.2	25.9	61.7
14 days prior – Pre	20.8(5.6)	5.1(3.3)	8.6(6.4)	2.3(1.0)	7.9 (2.8)
P1 - P2	7.1 (3.6)	23.4 (15.2)	0	7.4 (4.1)	5.1(4.6)
P2 - P3	76.5 (26.7)	54.6 (13.5)	29.2 (12.4)	46.0(12.4)	47.0 (23.1)
Storm 5 (19/21/16)	30.7	33.5	80.5	30.2	108.5
14 days prior – Pre	23.9 (13.7)	1.8(1.5)	32.8 (32.5)	44.2 (26.9)	21.6(20.6)
P1 - P2	2.3 (2.3)	0	0	0	0

Table A.1. Total storm precipitation amounts are indicated in bold for each of the six study lakes. Total precipitation an ∣≼ an

Analysis of nutrients and chlorophyll a

Water collected in the opaque 1-L acid washed bottle for each of the storm sample collections was analyzed for total phosphorus (TP), total nitrogen (TN), nitrate (NO₃⁻) and ammonium (NH₄⁺). Unfiltered TP and TN samples were analyzed using persulfate digestion followed by the ascorbic acid method (TP) on a Varian Cary UV-VIS spectrophotometer, and the cadmium reduction method (TN) on a Lachat QuickChem 8500 flow injection analyzer (APHA, 2000). TP samples had a limit of quantification of 1 μ g L⁻¹ and TN had a limit of quantification of 5 μ g L⁻¹. NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺ samples were filtered through 25 mm Whatman GF/F filters pre-rinsed with deionized water. Samples were quantified using the cadmium reduction method (NO₃⁻) and the phenate method (NH₄⁺) on a Lachat QuickChem 8500 flow-injection analyzer (APHA, 2000) with quantification limits of 2 μ g L⁻¹.

Algal biomass was measured as chlorophyll *a* for all pre and post samples. Samples were filtered through 25mm Whatman GF/F filters, wrapped in aluminum foil and frozen until analysis. All chlorophyll samples were filtered within 2 weeks of filtration and processed using standard methods (APHA, 2000). Filters were ground and chlorophyll was extracted in 90% acetone overnight. Samples were centrifuged and chlorophyll *a* concentrations were analyzed by spectrophotometry on a Varian Cary-50 Ultraviolet Visible spectrophotometer.

Changes in mean nutrient (TP, TN, NO₃⁻, NH₄⁺) and chlorophyll *a* concentrations across all five storms were assessed using ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc test. All Post samples were compared to Pre samples, P1 was compared to P2 and to P3, and P2 was compared to P3 for each of the 6 lakes separately to identify changes before and after the storm events.

181

Results

Comparison of lake surface water and intake samples

Chlorophyll *a* concentrations were similar, with the biggest differences in Jordan Pond and Nokomis Pond (Table S1). Nutrient concentrations varied the most between lake surface water and intake with NO₃⁻, NH₄⁺, and TN having the same or slightly higher concentrations in water collected from the intake in all but two samples (Floods Pond, NH₄⁺ and Nokomis Pond, TN; Table S1). TP was slightly higher in lake surface water in all lakes except Chases Pond (Table S1).

Table A.2. Comparison of samples taken from lake surface water and the intake on the same or similar days.

Lake	Date	Source	Chl. <i>a</i> (µg L ⁻¹)	NO3 ⁻ (μg L ⁻¹)	NH4 ⁺ (μg L ⁻¹)	TN (μg L ⁻¹)	ΤΡ (μg L ⁻¹)
Floods	8/11/15	lake	1.4	5	19	117	2
	8/11/15	intake	1.9	5	11	119	1
Jordan	10/7/15	lake	2.6	2	5	45	1
	10/6/15	intake	1.7	5	5	56	1
	10/22/15	lake	1.8	4	13	43	3
	10/20/15	intake	1.5	6	16	53	1
Chases	10/20/15	lake	2.3	5	4	85	1
	10/20/15	intake	2.1	5	8	94	2
Nokomis	11/3/15	lake	3.8	11	15	239	5
	11/3/15	intake	2.4	15	19	222	5

Response of nutrients and algal biomass

In general, nutrient concentrations varied across the 6 study lakes and there were no patterns similar to those that emerged from DOC concentration and quality metrics, with the exception of TN and TP in Young Lake. Within each lake, mean nutrient concentrations from the 5 storms were not significantly different between Pre, P1, P2,

and P3 sampling periods (p > 0.05; Figure S1). While not significant, TN and TP in Young Lake did spike from Pre to P1 and decrease thereafter (p > 0.05; Figure S1).



Figure A.1. Mean concentrations (± standard error) from the 5 storms for the 6 study lakes of A.) nitrate, B.) ammonium, C.) total nitrogen, and D.) total phosphorus.

Across all 6 study lakes, chlorophyll *a* concentrations ranged from 0.9 to 3.7 μ g L⁻¹. There were no significant relationships between the mean chlorophyll *a* concentrations and the sampling period. In general, chlorophyll *a* concentrations increased from the Pre to the P1 sampling and increased again to the P2 sampling, followed by a decline in the P3 sampling (Figure S2). The increase in percent change from Pre to P2 in all lakes, ranged from 20% in Sebago Lake to 60% in Young Lake and Nokomis Pond (Figure S2).



Figure A.2. Mean chlorophyll *a* concentrations (\pm standard error) from the 5 storms across the 6 study lakes.

APPENDIX B: ACADIA DOC PERCENT CHANGE DATA FROM AN EARLY

SUMMER AND AUTUMN STORM EVENT

7.1 9.7 0.022 0.027 -5.3 6.0 6.3 -2.3 18.5 -8.4 8.1 -2.6 7.1 9.6 0.022 0.026 7.1 9.6 0.022 0.026 7.1 9.6 0.022 0.026 15.4 -18.3 3.6 -9.1	7.1 9.7 0.022 0.027 -5.3 6.0 6.3 -2.3 18.5 -8.4 8.1 -2.6 7.1 9.6 0.022 0.026 7.1 9.6 0.022 0.026 4.9 -4.2 1.8 -5.7 15.4 -18.3 3.6 -9.1 7.8 11.3 0.024 0.028 7.8 11.3 0.024 0.028 -2.3 -0.7 5.8 -0.4	7.1 9.7 0.022 0.027 -5.3 6.0 6.3 -2.3 18.5 -8.4 8.1 -2.6 7.1 9.6 0.022 0.026 7.1 9.6 0.022 0.026 15.4 -18.3 3.6 -9.1 7.8 11.3 0.024 0.028 7.8 11.3 0.024 0.028 7.8 11.3 0.024 0.028 2.3 -0.7 5.8 -0.4 7.4 9.4 0.022 0.025 -9.9 -6.3 0.0 1.1 10.9 -6.3 0.0 1.1	7.1 9.7 0.022 0.027 -5.3 6.0 6.3 -2.3 -2.3 18.5 -8.4 8.1 -2.6 7.1 9.6 0.022 0.026 4.9 -4.2 1.8 -5.7 15.4 -18.3 3.6 -9.1 7.8 11.3 0.024 0.026 7.8 11.3 0.024 0.028 7.8 11.3 0.024 0.028 -2.3 -9.9 5.8 -0.4 7.4 9.4 0.022 0.025 -9.9 -6.3 0.022 0.025 -9.9 -6.3 0.022 0.025 -9.9 -6.3 0.022 0.025 -2.3 6.7 -3.6 -7.9 5.1 3.4 0.019 0.022 5.1 3.4 3.1 -0.5
0.27 7.1 9.7 5.8 -5.3 6.0 23.3 18.5 -8.4 0.23 7.1 9.6 16.4 4.9 -4.3 36.6 15.4 -18	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0.27 7.1 9.7 5.8 -5.3 6.0 5.8 -5.3 6.0 23.3 18.5 -8. 23.3 18.5 -8. 23.3 18.5 -8. 23.3 18.5 -8. 0.23 7.1 9.6 16.4 4.9 -4. 36.6 15.4 -18 0.18 7.8 11 62.8 -2.3 -9. 35.9 12.6 -9. 0.36 7.4 9.4 7.6 -9.9 -9. 7.6 -9.9 -9. 7.6 -9.9 -9. 7.6 -9.9 -9. 7.6 -9.9 -9. 7.6 -9.9 -34 7.6 -9.9 -34 7.6 -9.9 -34 7.6 -9.9 -34 7.6 -9.9 -34 7.8 -2.3 6.7 -3.8 -2.3 6.7 -0.6 5.1 3.4
5 0.2/ 1. 4 5.8 -5 9 23.3 18 9 23.3 7 9 0.23 7 16 16.4 4 1 36.6 11	5 0.2/ 1. .4 5.8 -5 .9 23.3 18 .9 23.3 18 .1 36.6 14 .1 36.6 14 .1 36.6 14 .1 36.6 14 .1 36.6 14 .2 0.18 7 .2 0.18 7 .2 0.18 7 .2 0.18 7	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
-33.9 23 -33.9 23 0.53 0.5 -16.2 16 -15.1 36	-33.9 23 -33.9 23 0.53 0.5 -16.2 16 -16.2 16 -16.2 35 0.42 0.5 -11.2 62 -11.2 62 -18.6 35	-33.9 23 -33.9 23 0.53 0.5 -16.2 16 -16.2 16 -16.2 16 -16.2 16 0.42 0.7 -11.2 62 -11.2 62 -11.2 62 -11.2 62 -11.5 75	-33.9 23 -33.9 23 -16.2 16 -16.2 16 -15.1 36 -15.1 36 -15.1 36 -11.2 62 -11.2 62 -11.2 62 -11.2 62 -11.5 75 -11.5 75 -7.0 0: -0.7 -3 -7.0 -0
0.75 0. 26.6 -1 32.0 -1	0.75 0. 26.6 -1 32.0 -1 32.0 -1 1.12.9 -1	0.75 0. 26.6 -1 32.0 -1 32.0 -1 1.09 0. 1.09 0. 1.09 0. 32.1 -1	0.75 0. 26.6 -1 32.0 -1 32.0 0.70 0. 5.9 -1 12.9 0. 12.9 0. 12.9 0. 1.3 2.1 -1 1.3 -0 3.2 -0
1.48 0.7 -7.3 26. -4.9 32.	1.48 0.7 -7.3 26. -4.9 32. -4.9 32. -7.4 1.13 -8.6 5.9 -7.4 12.	1.48 0.7 -7.3 26. -4.9 32. -4.9 32. -7.4 12. -7.4 12. -7.4 12. -7.4 12. -7.4 12. -7.4 12. -7.4 12. -7.4 12. -7.4 12. -7.4 12. -6.9 32.	1.48 0.7 -7.3 26. -4.9 32. -4.9 32. -8.6 5.9 -7.4 12. -7.4 12. -7.4 12. -7.4 12. -7.4 12. -7.4 12. -7.4 12. -7.4 12. -7.4 12. -6.9 32. -6.9 32. -6.9 32. -6.9 32. -6.1 1.5 0.1 1.5 0.1 1.3 0.1 3.2 -3.8 3.2
3.10 1. 12.7 -7 11.6 -4	3.10 1. 12.7 -7 12.7 -7 12.7 -7 11.6 -4 3.05 1 3.05 1 9.4 -7 9.4 -7	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
-7.0 12. -4.4 11.	-7.0 12. -4.4 11. -4.13 3.0 -10.3 7.0 -3.6 9.4	-7.0 12 -4.4 11 -4.13 3.0 -10.3 7.0 -3.6 9.4 -3.6 9.4 -3.6 0.0 -3.2 10	-7.0 12. -4.4 11. -4.13 3.0 -10.3 7.0 -3.6 9.4 -3.6 9.4 -3.6 9.4 -3.2 10. -4.6 0.0 -3.2 10. -3.2 10. -3.2 10. -3.2 10. -3.2 10. -2.4 3.5 -2.4 3.5
5.7 -4.	5.7 -4. 1.7 4.1 -3.4 -10 -5.7 -3.	5.7 -4.1 1.7 4.1 -3.4 -1(-5.7 -3. 2.3 5.4 -0.4 -4. -1.4 -3.	5.7 4.1 1.7 4.1 -3.4 -1(-5.7 -3. -5.7 -3. -0.4 -4. -1.4 -4. -1.4 -3. 2.6 6.5 -0.9 -1. -3.2 -2.
4.0	0.4	0.4 0 11.9 1 14.0 - -3.6 - 2.7 2 3.3 - -2.5 -	0.4 1.9 1.9 1.9 -3.6 -3.6 -3.6 -2.5 -2.5 -2.5 -2.5 -2.7
	Jagle nitial value 21 (% change) 22 (% change)	Eagle Initial value P1 (% change) P2 (% change) Echo Initial value P1 (% change) P2 (% change)	Eagle Initial value P1 (% change) P2 (% change) Echo Initial value P1 (% change) P2 (% change) P1 (% change) P1 (% change) P2 (% change)
EchoEcho 7.4 4.31 1.68 1.09 0.57 0.36 7.4 9.4 0.022 0.025 Initial value 2.7 2.3 -0.4 4.6 0.0 -1.8 8.8 7.6 9.9 6.3 0.0 1.1 $P2$ (% change) 2.5 -1.4 3.2 10.2 -1.8 8.8 7.6 9.9 6.3 0.0 1.1 $P2$ (% change) -2.5 -1.4 -3.2 10.2 6.9 5.1 4.6 7.9 $P1$ (% change) 0.7 -0.9 1.8 1.4 0.1 1.55 0.78 0.51 6.3 7.4 0.019 $P2$ (% change) 0.7 -0.9 1.8 1.4 0.1 1.3 -0.7 -3.8 -2.3 6.7 -3.6 $P2$ (% change) -2.7 -3.2 -2.4 3.5 -2.3 6.7 -3.6 -2.3 6.7 $P2$ (% change) -2.7 -3.8 -2.3 0.71 -3.8 -2.3 6.7 -3.6 -0.9 $P2$ (% change) -2.7 -3.8 -2.3 0.74 6.7 -3.6 -2.3 6.7 -3.6 $P2$ (% change) -2.7 -3.8 -2.3 0.74 6.7 -3.6 -0.9 $P2$ (% change) -4.8 -7.0 0.8 -1.6 -1.95 -1.6 -1.95 $P2$ (% change) -6.1 -5.6 -9.9 0.73 0.74 -1.95 -1.95 -1.95 <td>ong inial value$2.9$$2.6$$6.27$$5.14$$2.17$$1.55$$0.78$$0.51$$6.3$$7.4$$0.019$$0.022$$1 (\% change)$$0.7$$-0.9$$-1.8$$1.4$$0.1$$1.3$$-0.7$$-3.8$$-2.3$$6.7$$-3.6$$-0.9$$2 (\% change)$$-2.7$$-3.2$$-2.4$$3.5$$-3.8$$3.2$$-7.0$$0.6$$5.1$$3.4$$-0.9$$2 (\% change)$$-2.7$$-3.2$$-2.4$$3.5$$-2.4$$3.5$$-2.3$$6.7$$-3.6$$-0.9$$2 (\% change)$$-2.7$$-3.8$$3.2$$-7.0$$0.6$$5.1$$3.4$$-0.9$$2 (\% change)$$-4.8$$-7.0$$0.7$$-1.6$$5.1$$2.4$$-19.5$$1.6$$2 (\% change)$$-6.1$$-5.6$$0.8$$3.4$$-2.0$$2.4$$4.0$$6.0$$1.4$$-6.1$$2 (\% change)$$-6.1$$-5.6$$0.8$$3.4$$-2.0$$2.4$$4.0$$6.0$$1.4$$2.6$$1.3$</td> <td>Seal Cove Seal Cove Seal Cove 4.3 3.8 6.26 4.52 2.16 1.29 0.73 0.41 6.5 8.2 0.019 0.023 P1 (% change) -4.8 -7.0 0.7 10.8 -0.5 21.2 -1.6 53.1 2.4 -19.5 1.6 -6.1 P2 (% change) -6.1 -5.6 0.8 3.4 -2.0 2.4 -4.0 4.0 6.0 1.4 2.6 1.3</td> <td></td>	ong inial value 2.9 2.6 6.27 5.14 2.17 1.55 0.78 0.51 6.3 7.4 0.019 0.022 $1 (\% change)$ 0.7 -0.9 -1.8 1.4 0.1 1.3 -0.7 -3.8 -2.3 6.7 -3.6 -0.9 $2 (\% change)$ -2.7 -3.2 -2.4 3.5 -3.8 3.2 -7.0 0.6 5.1 3.4 -0.9 $2 (\% change)$ -2.7 -3.2 -2.4 3.5 -2.4 3.5 -2.3 6.7 -3.6 -0.9 $2 (\% change)$ -2.7 -3.8 3.2 -7.0 0.6 5.1 3.4 -0.9 $2 (\% change)$ -4.8 -7.0 0.7 -1.6 5.1 2.4 -19.5 1.6 $2 (\% change)$ -6.1 -5.6 0.8 3.4 -2.0 2.4 4.0 6.0 1.4 -6.1 $2 (\% change)$ -6.1 -5.6 0.8 3.4 -2.0 2.4 4.0 6.0 1.4 2.6 1.3	Seal Cove Seal Cove Seal Cove 4.3 3.8 6.26 4.52 2.16 1.29 0.73 0.41 6.5 8.2 0.019 0.023 P1 (% change) -4.8 -7.0 0.7 10.8 -0.5 21.2 -1.6 53.1 2.4 -19.5 1.6 -6.1 P2 (% change) -6.1 -5.6 0.8 3.4 -2.0 2.4 -4.0 4.0 6.0 1.4 2.6 1.3	

 $E_2:E_3$, and $S_{275-295}$, for each of the 6 study lakes and mean initial values and mean percent change (\pm standard error) of the 6 study lakes for P1 and P2 samplings for the same DOC metrics. White columns indicate the Early Summer storm and gray columns Table B.1. Initial pre-storm values and percent change for P1 and P2 samplings. Values are for [DOC], SUVA254, a*320, a*380,



Figure B.1. Percent change for each lake in response to the Early Summer storm (a-f) and to the Autumn storm (g-l). Responses are for [DOC] (a,g), SUVA₂₅₄ (b,h), a_{320}^{*} (c,i), a_{380}^{*} (d,j), $E_2:E_3$ (e,k), and $S_{275-295}$ (f,l) during P1 and P2 samplings indicated by black and gray respectively.

APPENDIX C: ICE OUT DATES FOR ARCTIC AND BOREAL LAKES

C.1. Ice-out dates from 2010 to 2016 for the Arctic lakes and the boreal lake. Ice-out is defined as the first date that the lake is completely ice-free.

Year	Arctic (Greenland)	Boreal (Jordan Pond)
2010	24 May	22 March
2011	14 June	16 April
2012	3 June	19 March
2013	9 June	4 April
2014	13 June	14 April
2015	17 June	29 April
2016	17 May	17 March

BIOGRAPHY OF THE AUTHOR

Kathryn Warner was born in Danvers, Massachusetts on March 29, 1984. She grew up in Hamilton, Massachusetts and later moved to Gloucester, Massachusetts. She graduated from Gould Academy in Bethel, Maine in 2002. She then attended Hobart and William Smith Colleges in Geneva, NY and graduated with a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Environmental Science in 2006. After graduation Kathryn worked as an Environmental Scientist at EBI Consulting in Massachusetts for the next two years. Kathryn then spent her winters in Colorado where she coached ski racing and worked with the local high school, and spent her summers as an educator at Maritime Gloucester teaching students in Kindergarten through 12th grade. She received her Master of Science Degree from the University of Maine in 2013, after which she decided to pursue a PhD. Kathryn is a candidate for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Ecology and Environmental Science from the University of Maine in May 2019.